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Haniel Key Figures

* Incl. net financial liabilities held for sale

SUMMARY OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EUR million 2014 2015 Change See page

Revenue and profits  

Revenue 3,944 3,808 -3% 42 

Operating profit 217 193 -11% 43 

Profit before taxes 31 174 >+100% 43 

Profit after taxes 686 120 -83% 43 

 

Cash flow

Haniel cash flow 175 329 +88% 47

Cash flow from operating activities -135 451 >+100% 47

Capital expenditure 770 1,058 +37% 47

Dividend of Franz Haniel & Cie. GmbH 30 40 +33% 48

Statement of financial position

Total assets 6,446 6,847 +6% 49

Equity 3,973 4,169 +5% 49

Equity ratio (in per cent) 62% 61%
 -1 percentage 

point 49

Net financial position* 774 445 -43% 46

Employees

Annual average number of employees (headcount) 11,544 12,930 +12% 51



Haniel successfully  
continues to develop  
its portfolio
New division Bekaert Textiles makes 
positive contribution to earnings

Interest in METRO GROUP reduced to  
25 percent and exchangeable bond linked 
to Metro shares placed 

TAKKT and CWS-boco increase  
operating profit

Group revenue and operating profit   
weighed down by cyclical ELG business

Metro investment result higher 

Profit before taxes increased significantly

More than EUR 1 billion available for  
business acquisitions



The Franz Haniel & Cie. Holding 
Company is a tradition-steeped 
German family-equity company.
It maintains a diversified portfolio 
and pursues a long-term investment 
strategy as a value developer. Its 
objective is to continually increase 
the value of the Company while 
also strengthening its social and 
environmental values. The Company 
has always been headquartered in 
Duisburg-Ruhrort, where it has been 
shaping the future since 1756. 
www.haniel.com

Franz Haniel & Cie. GmbH

Bekaert Textiles (since June 2015)

Bekaert Textiles is the world’s lead-
ing specialist for the development 
and manufacturing of woven and 
knitted mattress textiles.
www.bekaerttextiles.com

CWS-boco

CWS-boco ranks among the leading 
international full-service providers 
of washroom hygiene products, 
dust control mats, workwear and 
textile services.
www.cws-boco.com

EQUITY INTEREST 100%

EUR million 2015

Revenue 139

Operating profit 16

Annual average number of 
employees (headcount) 1,466

EQUITY INTEREST 100%

EUR million 2014 2015

Revenue 751 779

Operating profit 71 75

Annual average number of 
employees (headcount) 7,529 7,563



METRO GROUP

METRO GROUP is among the pre-
mier international merchandisers.
www.metrogroup.de

ELG

ELG is a global leader in the trading, 
processing and recycling of raw mate-
rials for the stainless steel industry 
as well as high performance materials 
such as superalloys, titanium and car-
bon fibres.
www.elg.de

EQUITY INTEREST 100%

EUR million 2014 2015

Revenue 2,213 1,827

Operating profit 59 -6

Annual average number of 
employees (headcount) 1,267 1,282

EQUITY INTEREST 50.25%

EUR million 2014 2015

Revenue 981 1,064

Operating profit 111 129

Annual average number of 
employees (headcount) 2,528 2,403

EQUITY INTEREST 25.00%

EUR million 2014 2015

Haniel investment result 14 57

TAKKT

TAKKT bundles a portfolio of B2B 
direct marketing specialists for 
business equipment in Europe and 
North America in a single company.
www.takkt.com
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Letter from the Chairman

Dear Sir or Madam,

In this past year, Haniel has demonstrated that we do 
not merely proclaim that we are “enkelfähig” – instead, 
we highlighted our commitment to sustainable entre-
preneurship by taking a series of steps to lead our Com-
pany into the future. We accomplished this in 2015 with 
the successful acquisition and integration of Bekaert 
Textiles. In addition, Haniel set the stage for the Group’s 
advancement in matters of digitalisation. 

Haniel launches digital initiative 
Focus on digital transformation around the world – this 
was done in response to two developments: firstly, the 
rising necessity of digitalising processes within existing 
business models. This is a crucial step for any company 
which hopes to still be successful in the market in five 
years’ time. We would have had to take on this chal-
lenge even without the second development: disruptive 

change. Triggered by radical innovations which create 
their own markets, typical examples include the taxi 
company Uber and the streaming on-demand service 
Netflix. 

While we are continuing to monitor these disruptive 
developments, we do not consider them to be significant 
to our business models – so far. At the moment, our 
value chains are focussing on digitalisation. In order to 
achieve results quickly in this area, we have embarked 
on a completely new path for Haniel: going forward, our 
digital projects will be realised by an independent oper-
ating unit. You can read more about that on page 15 of 
this annual report. To be clear: this is not about the dig-
ital revolution; this is about how we want to work with 
the divisions to develop specific ways in which digitalisa-
tion can be profitably implemented. 

Improved portfolio balance
We are continuing our efforts to provide new balance 
to our portfolio. The acquisition of Bekaert Textiles in 
June 2015 represented one milestone along this journey. 
The globally leading specialist for the development and 
manufacturing of woven and knitted mattress textiles 
benefits from global mega-trends such as population 
growth, a growing health consciousness and rising 
prosperity in emerging markets. This promising mar-
ket offers excellent growth opportunities – not least 
through acquisitions. This was evident in the acquisition 
of DesleeClama at the end of February 2016, which was 
carried out to provide additional support for Bekaert 
Textiles’ business. 

In keeping with this buy-and-build approach, we also 
completed two significant acquisitions in the TAKKT divi-
sion: in March 2015, we signed the purchase agreement 
for the US conglomerate, Post-Up Stand – a leading spe-
cialist for customised printed marketing material. And in 
July, TAKKT acquired the British online retailer BiGDUG.

In order to further improve the balance of our portfo-
lio, we successfully reduced our interest in our METRO 
GROUP investment to 25 per cent in May – still remain-
ing the company’s largest shareholder. At the same 
time, we successfully placed an exchangeable bond 
linked to Metro shares with a term until 2020. The 
proceeds generated from this will be used to acquire 
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further divisions. Haniel currently has more than EUR 1 
billion at its disposal to achieve this. 

We did not acquire any divisions last year other than 
Bekaert Textiles primarily because many companies did 
not meet our standards. This is aggravated by the fact 
that the market environment for mergers and acquisi-
tions is characterised by a large pool of prospective buy-
ers and high valuations. Nevertheless, we will intensify 
our disciplined search for new, attractive investments 
and will support our divisions in the search for comple-
mentary acquisition opportunities.

Implementation of strategic initiatives continues
The existing divisions continued to implement their stra-
tegic initiatives in the past year and their operating busi-
nesses performed well. Only ELG suffered due to weak 
commodity markets, thus reporting significantly lower 
profit than in the previous year. Notwithstanding this, 
the company continued to invest in the relatively young 
business areas of superalloys and carbon fibre.

Bekaert Textiles has been a part of Haniel since June 
2015. The integration was successful. Moreover, the 
company reported excellent economic development. 
CWS-boco made progress with its sales initiative, with 
the division making key investments for the future, such 
as in a new inventory management system and the fur-
ther optimisation of its laundry network. 

TAKKT remains on track towards aligning its business 
activities to a greater degree with multi-channel sales in 
order to enable it to continue growing in the future, par-
ticularly with respect to the digitalisation of trade. The 
METRO GROUP also continued with its strategic rea-
lignment and pushed forward with the expansion of its 
multi-channel business in 2015. In addition, Metro Cash 
& Carry in Vietnam and Galeria Kaufhof were also sold. 

New brand image underscores transformation
From important steps towards restructuring its portfolio 
to its digital initiative through to strategic initiatives 
within the divisions: Haniel is undergoing change. And 
so is our position on the market: As a family-equity 
company, Haniel combines the best of both worlds. We 
merge the traditions and long-term orientation of a fam-
ily-owned business with the professionalism of a private 
equity investor. We have refined our brand image as a 
reflection of the transformation we are undergoing. In 
this annual report, we present our revamped logo to the 
public for the first time: it stands for Haniel’s willingness 
to change and at the same time represents the protec-
tive roof under which our divisions can continue to grow. 

No matter how eager we are to evolve, one thing will 
never change: as a family-equity company, our actions 

will be responsible and deliberated. Before we strike out 
on a new path, we reflect on the consequences of our 
decisions and weigh the benefits of investing against the 
costs – including those for the common good. We place 
great value on finding a balance between social, ecolog-
ical and economic objectives in all of our entrepreneurial 
decisions. 

In the countries in which we operate, we follow the prin-
ciples of fair competition and respect the laws as well 
as the social values. In keeping with Haniel’s objective 
of being “enkelfähig”, the only investments for us are 
companies which already make a positive contribution to 
the environment and society through their sustainable 
actions, or which will be able to do so in the future. As 
a reflection of this aspiration, we joined the UN Global 
Compact in 2014. We support the principles of the UN 
Global Compact such as human rights, labour stand-
ards, environmental protection and the fight against 
corruption, and ensure that they are proclaimed loud 
and wide. 

Gratitude for outstanding work and support
Haniel’s successful transformation has been the result 
not only of business decisions. A major factor in this 
success has been our staff, who are prepared to ques-
tion the past and provide momentum for transformation 
within the Group. In that spirit, I would like to thank all 
of our employees – also in the name of my colleague Dr 
Funck – for their hard work and support in this past year. 
We would also like to thank the shareholder committees 
and the Supervisory Board for their constructive cooper-
ation. Together, we are poised to lead our Company into 
a successful future.

Duisburg, 4 March 2016

Stephan Gemkow
Chairman of the Management Board
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Haniel
In May, Haniel successfully implemented an accelerated 
bookbuilding process and reduced its investment in 
METRO AG by 16.25 million shares from 30.01 per cent to 
25.00 per cent. In addition, an exchangeable bond linked 
to Metro shares was placed. Haniel remains METRO AG’s 
largest shareholder. At the same time, the Company 
thus took an important step in improving the balance of 
its portfolio.

In June, Haniel acquired Bekaert Textiles from Gamma 
Holding. The multinational company has a production 
network in eight countries and is headquartered in 
Waregem, Belgium; it supplies fabrics for ten thousand 
mattresses every day – from New York to Sydney to Hel-
sinki to Cape Town. Bekaert Textiles is the global leader 
for mattress cover materials, and generated more than 
EUR 200 million in revenue in 2014 and plays a key role 
in the diversification of Haniel’s portfolio.

The Group Conference in September tackled the issue 
of “Digital Transformation”. For two days, Haniel execu-
tives discussed the opportunities and challenges arising 
from the new technologies and changing consumer be-
haviour. But they did not just stick to the theoretical: all 
divisions presented concrete approaches to digitalising 
their business models. 

In May, Bekaert Textiles presented “Imagine” at the In-
terzum: the international suppliers’ fair for the furniture 
sector in Cologne. This virtual design tool enables cus-
tomers to be creative themselves: at the flick of a wrist, 
they can design mattress textiles, tailor them to size and 
view them in 3D. “People dream and ‘Imagine’ makes 
those dreams a reality”, said Mark Sepanski, Head of 
Sales for Germany, Austria and Switzerland.

In December, Haniel was recognised as a particularly 
family-friendly company by the Duisburg Family Alliance 
(Duisburger Bündnis für Familie). Flexible working hours, 
voluntary social benefits, collaboration with Familien-
service, health benefits and family planning advice 
convinced the jury: “Haniel really offers everything which 
sets a modern employer apart.”

Bekaert Textiles
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In January, CWS-boco acquired the full-service clean-
room laundry provider Zahn HiTex. By expanding its 
portfolio, CWS-boco is adapting to the growing demand 
for cleanroom apparel in a variety of sectors. The fami-
ly-owned company, Zahn HiTex, is domiciled in Mühldorf 
in Bavaria, and enjoys an excellent reputation on the 
market.

In March, Dr Ulrich David assumed the role of Chief Fi-
nancial Officer at the CWS-boco Group. Previously, David 
had been the member of the management of CWS-
boco Germany responsible for Finance. He succeeded 
Philipp Neuhaus, who left the company to pursue a new 
endeavour. 

In the re-audit, CWS-boco Germany again satisfied the 
comprehensive evaluation criteria of EcoVadis – and was 
rewarded for doing so in November: earning 65 points 
with the Gold CSR rating, CWS-boco scored far above 
the average result for all companies evaluated by 
EcoVadis. Only 12 per cent of the suppliers evaluated by 
EcoVadis score 60 points or higher. The service provider 
even placed in the top 2 per cent of companies in the 
environmental category. EcoVadis reviews suppliers 
against a total of 21 criteria in the four categories 
Environment, Working Conditions, Business Practices 
and Supply Chain. In this way, companies can make their 
actions transparent to partners and customers. Thus 
CWS-boco also creates added value for its customers’ 
supply chain.

ELG

ELG had already revised its Code of Conduct in 2014 
to codify the core values underpinning the company’s 
corporate culture in the “6 Principles of ELG”. All ELG 
employees can review the significance of the company’s 
fundamental principles, illustrated in clear and powerful 
examples. In the “tattoo campaign” which followed in 
July, ELG set out the motifs of the “6 principles” so as to 
“get under the skin”, figuratively speaking. The “6 Princi-
ples of ELG” were distributed globally within the Group 
in brochures and posters.

In October, the superalloys business segment formed a 
new company in Singapore, thus following its customers 
in the aviation industry who are producing increasingly 
in Asia. So, the division is thus expanding its presence in 
Asia. Following the reorganisation of the superalloys ac-
tivities in England and the US, ELG changed the names 
of the companies which now trade under the name “ELG 
Utica Alloys”.
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TAKKT
In January, TAKKT sold the North American Plant Equip-
ment Group (PEG) to Global Industrial. The sale price 
was USD 25 million free of financial liabilities. The sale 
of PEG freed up resources which TAKKT intends to use 
to further develop itself as an integrated multi-channel 
company.

The acquisition of the American company Post-Up Stand 
in April represented a further important step in posi-
tioning itself as a multi-channel company. The specialist 
for customised printed marketing displays has a high 
degree of expertise in digital printing technology and 
is able to ship individualised displays to customers on 
the very day the order is received. Sales are primarily 
online-based. Post-Up Stand generated USD 16 mil-
lion in revenue in 2014. With this acquisition, TAKKT is 
strengthening the TAKKT AMERICA Specialties Group.

In July, TAKKT subsidiary KAISER+KRAFT EUROPA GmbH 
acquired BiGDUG Ltd. which is domiciled in Gloucester, 
England. BiGDUG is a leading specialist in the online 
sale of business equipment, with an emphasis on rack-
ing and shelving products and storage solutions with 
more than 250,000 customers in the United Kingdom. 
BiGDUG generated revenue of approximately GBP 19 
million in financial year 2014/2015.

In February, METRO GROUP began promoting innovative 
start-ups together with the US-based company Tech-
stars, one of the most internationally renowned start-up 
networks. The newly launched “Techstars METRO 
Accelerator” development programme is geared towards 
entrepreneurs with innovative digital applications for 
the restaurants, hotels and catering sector. Techstars 
METRO Accelerator is the first in the world to focus on 
technological applications for restaurants and hotels, a 
core group of Metro Cash & Carry.

In August, the METRO GROUP acquired the company 
Classic Fine Foods (CFF), a leading direct food service 
distributor (FSD) with customers in the hotels, restau-
rants and catering sector with foods. By acquiring CFF, 
Metro Cash & Carry gains access to the premium FSD 
market in fast-growing Asian megacities and in the 
Middle East.

In September, the METRO GROUP parted ways with 
the Galeria Kaufhof department store chain for EUR 
2.8 billion. The new owner is the Canadian Hudson’s Bay 
Company (HBC), one of North America’s leading retailers 
and oldest companies. The agreement between the 
METRO GROUP and HBC set out broad requirements 
with respect to saving jobs and keeping stores open. The 
sale of Galeria Kaufhof represents the successful con-
tinuation of efforts by the METRO GROUP to optimise its 
portfolio and carry out its strategic realignment. 

In December, the METRO GROUP completed the sale 
of its Cash & Carry wholesale business in Vietnam to 
Thailand-based TCC.

METRO GROUP
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Digital transformation 

Whether it be people, data, com-
puters, products or processes: 
everything is networked – giving rise 
to completely new challenges for 
companies. They have to be able to 
leverage the constant stream of new 
technologies for their business and 
keep pace with changing consumer 
behaviour. Above all, they must be 
flexible because the speed of change 
is increasing. At the same time, the 
implications for the different sectors 
are not immediately evident and 
cannot be planned for. For many 
companies, the digital transforma-
tion represents the prospect of new 
business successes. However, those 
who are unable to react flexibly to 
the new challenges will fail. 

Second phase
Beginning of 20th 
century

Third phase
Early 1970s

Introduction of mass 
production of specialised 
goods using electricity

1913
First permanent  
assembly line, by Ford

The four phases 
of the industrial 
revolution

Further automation of production 
using electronics and IT

1969
First programmable  
controller for machinery

Fourth phase
Today

Today
Networking and exchange of 
information between human 
and machine

First phase
End of 18th century
Introduction of mechanical production using 
hydro-electric and steam-powered equipment

1784
First mechanical  
loom



Digital Transformation

16

German companies are just 
getting started

How would you charac-
terise your company’s 
digital transformation 
strategy?

 3% Non-existent 

 43% In inception 

 12% Only on paper 

 42% Successfully established

What role do you see for 
your company in the digi-
tal transformation?

 19% Sceptic 

 42% Fellow traveller 

 39% Catalyst/driver

SMEs benefit from short  
decision paths

Benefits of digitalisation from the 
perspective of small and medium- 
sized industrial companies

83%
Streamlining of 
work processes

48%
Revenue  
growth

39%
Tapping into new 
markets

29%
New business 
models

24%
Digitalisation is  
not relevant

44%
Product and service 
innovation

Role played by SME characteristics in  
digitalisation

Pros

Cons

22% Quicker  
decision-making

7%Simpler change 
management

2%More 
flexible

32% More scarce 
resources

17%Less interest in 
digitalisation 5%Slower  

introduction

10%Less profitable  
to digitalise

Source: Crisp Research AG Source: Crisp Research AG

Source: Deloitte Source: PwC-Mittelstandspanel
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Digital transformation means oppor-
tunities and risks around the world 

US

United 
Kingdom

Germany

China

Belgium

France

India

Brazil

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80

Average digital density 
score

Digital density scores in leading economies

Digital density scores (0 – 100)

Netherlands

Companies must overcome barriers in implementing 
their digital transformation

Legacy data impacts The need for external 
support

58% 51%

Lack of consistent data 
across the business

Unexpected  
complexity

59%61%

Source: Accenture

Source: StiboSystem

 Making markets 

 Running enterprises 

 Sourcing inputs 

 Fostering enablers 
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New approaches sought after

The issue of digitalisation really began to gain trac-
tion at the 2015 Haniel management conference – as 
well as in the workshops leading up to the conference. 
These offered colleagues from different departments, 
hierarchy levels and divisions the opportunity to gather 
around the table and work together on digital issues 
and ideas. They relied on the method of design thinking, 
which places user needs and requirements ahead of 
technical feasibility. Within ten weeks, they were able to 
develop tangible and specific implementation options 
which were then presented at the management confer-
ence – giving rise to a true entrepreneurial atmosphere. 
After this, the answer as to how Haniel can tackle the 
challenges of digitalisation was obvious: “Just as with 
the workshops, we need a protective space away from 
the day-to-day business and organisational routines 
in which we can work on implementing specific ideas”, 
said Müller. And that with new methods and, where it 
makes sense, also at an interdisciplinary level – because 
collaboration between the different divisions proved to 
be extremely valuable. 

The raw ma-
terials for a 
digital future
Haniel and its divisions seek to system-
atically advance digital ideas and bring 
them to market with “Schacht One”. 

The digital transformation means that the global econ-
omy is currently undergoing a fourth industrial revolution. 
Companies which fail to adapt their products and ser-
vices – ultimately their entire business model – to meet 
the new challenges will not be viable in the long run. This 
is the general consensus. By contrast, it is much more 
difficult to answer this question: how can companies 
digitally transform their business – concretely and spe-
cifically? And in a manner which suits the company? For 
Haniel, the answer was not obvious. The divisions have 
already examined the issues surrounding digitalisation in 
great detail and scored initial successes – for instance, by 
changing their processes or leveraging new technologies 
in offering customer services. “However, on the whole, 
the impression was that we were following conventional 
approaches to tackle the issue of digitalisation. More-
over, the typical rapid testing and implementation phases 
for digitalisation are not yet anchored in our corporate 
DNA firmly enough”, said Dirk Müller, CIO at Haniel, and 
responsible for digitalisation. 

New perspectives 
At the 2015 Group Conference, Haniel executives 
discovered the opportunities arising in connection 
with the digital transformation.

Digital Transformation
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A starting point in the past

A home for this project was found quickly: the Zollv-
erein Coal Mine Industrial Complex. Only a few metres 
away from Schacht One, where 165 years ago Franz 
Haniel, the namesake of our Company and a pioneer 

of the Ruhr industrial area, first mined the coveted 
bituminous coal which fuelled the industrial revolution. 
In “Schacht One”, our new digital initiative, Haniel will 
work with the divisions Bekaert Textiles, CWS-boco, 
ELG and TAKKT to mine the raw material for the fourth 
industrial revolution: digital ideas. “We will begin by 
focusing on quantity, as we are interested in developing, 
evaluating, sorting – and of course also in failing”, said 
Müller. Ultimately, the Company hopes to succeed in 
rapidly developing and implementing solutions for mar-
ket-ready products, services and processes – particularly 
for specific businesses. “We see ourselves as a digital 
workbench. We are not trying to bring about a technical 
revolution; we aim to support the divisions with com-
petencies, methods and the leeway to further advance 
their business with digital solutions.” 

Flexible partnership 

A vital key to the success of Schacht One is our collab-
oration with a variety of partners. Primarily, it is Haniel 
and the divisions which will cooperate closely – inde-
pendent of hierarchies and other corporate structures. 
They will be aided by experts in the field of science and 
digital economy, who can be engaged on flexible terms. 
“Schacht One represents a completely new approach for 
Haniel; this is a test. However, we are confident that it 
will be a success in the long run”, said Müller. “Not least 
because courage is a defining feature at Haniel and has 
already been rewarded often in the past.”

CIO Dirk Müller
“We see ourselves as a digital workbench.”

Digital Transformation
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“We welcome Haniel’s commitment to offering a shared platform 
with Schacht One for the Group-wide collaboration in the area 
of digitalisation. As one of the market leaders in our industry, it 
is essential for us to advance digitalisation in order to optimise 
processes and offer our customers services which are viable for the 
future. One example of this is the CWS Washroom Information Ser-
vice (WIS) which connects all washroom dispensers within a building 
and makes it possible to communicate their current fill level to the 
maintenance personnel or building management. A formerly passive 
product such as the towel dispenser now actively collects data and 
supplies information which can be used for efficient building man-
agement. With our chips in boco workwear, moreover, we are able 
to monitor individual articles of clothing in our laundries and thus 
optimise our processes.”

“As a family-equity company, we consider it our duty to increase 
the value of the Company for the long term. In that spirit, we an-
alyse the central mega-trends and support our divisions in seizing 
opportunities which arise from our business model. With Schacht 
One as a digital workbench for new ideas, this will be exceptionally 
successful. This shows once again how the Haniel Holding Company 
contributes to the business success of its investments as a value 
developer.”

Stephan Gemkow 
CEO of Franz Haniel & Cie. GmbH

Maximilian Teichner 
CEO of CWS-boco 

“We at TAKKT see the trend towards digitalisation as a great oppor-
tunity for our business. We have already gained excellent experience 
around the world with initial digital projects. We now want to accel-
erate the digital transformation and are giving this process absolute 
priority in our current plans and decisions. The founding of Schacht 
One represents a key driver and collaboration will play a vital role 
in building up additional and professional digital competence for all 
Group companies.”

Dr Felix Zimmermann 
CEO of TAKKT AG

Digital Transformation
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“Digitalisation offers us great opportunities for raising our product 
offering up to a new level. Bekaert Imagine, a 3D visualising tool for 
mattress cover materials, enables us to de-materialise our initial 
product development and design phase: instead of manufacturing 
and transporting material samples and mattress prototypes, we now 
work with our customers to prepare compelling virtual products. Im-
agine is the perfect example of how the digital transformation can 
help to reduce costs and protect the environment in equal measure. 
Imagine has the potential to establish itself as a key component 
in the development process of our customers. Bekaert Textiles is 
pleased to be a part of Schacht One and to share its own expertise 
with others and to be able to learn from experts.”

“The digital transformation opens up the possibilities for changing 
business models at all levels. At ELG, we are still analysing the poten-
tial for digitalisation in the recycling of stainless steel. For example, 
in the area of superalloys there are opportunities for digitalising the 
supply chain: digital solutions can significantly raise the level of effi-
ciency and transparency in complex supply chains. In addition, there 
are possibilities for completely new business models. We will system-
atically analyse this potential and seize digitalisation opportunities 
early on: taken with the right approach, the digital transformation will 
make profitable growth possible for ELG. We expect our collaboration 
in Schacht One to result in access to digital know-how and enable us 
to implement our digital initiatives quickly and efficiently.” 

Together for the digital 
transformation

Dirk Vandeplancke 
CEO of Bekaert Textiles

Detlef Drafz 
CEO of ELG

Digital Transformation
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On the right 
path
In July 2015, Haniel’s Management Board and the CEOs of the divisions 
travelled to Silicon Valley. There, they got a taste of the pioneering digital 
spirit and had a look at which developments there could provide an 
impetus for their own business activities. The top executives shared their 
impressions at the Haniel management conference, which also addressed 
the issue of digitalisation. Teams from the divisions developed digital 
prototypes for the Haniel Group Conference within a mere ten weeks. For 
example, the team of CWS-boco which presented its smart clothing prod-
uct idea: clothing that uses radio waves to detect whether the employee 
is wearing the proper protective clothing for the assigned task. Or which 
provides information as to when the next cleaning or repair is necessary.

The workshops held in advance of the 2015 Haniel Group Conference tested 
for the first time the approach that will be applied for Schacht One. You can 
see the video of this accompanying the online annual report:  
haniel.corporate-reports.net

Smart fabrics 
CWS-boco presents intelligent workwear 
which communicates with its wearer.

Digital Transformation



23

The Management Board

The Management Board

Stephan Gemkow
Chairman
born 1960

Stephan Gemkow has been Chairman of the Haniel Man-
agement Board and Chief Human Resources Officer since 
1 August 2012. He is responsible not only for overall strat-
egy, but also for Corporate Development/M&A, Human 
Resources, Corporate Legal, Internal Audit, Shareholders 
+ Sustainability and Communications. After spending the 
first years of his career as a management consultant for 
BDO Deutsche Warentreuhand AG, the business graduate 
has held various management positions at the Lufthansa 
Group since 1990, most recently spending six years as a 
member of the Executive Board responsible for finances 
and, since 2009, for Aviation Services as well. Gemkow 
is Chairman of the Supervisory Board of TAKKT AG. He 
is also a member of the Supervisory Board of Evonik 
Industries AG as well as the Board of Directors of JetBlue 
Airways Corporation, New York. 

Dr Florian Funck
born 1971

Dr Florian Funck has been a member of the Haniel Man-
agement Board since 1 September 2011. He is responsible 
for Corporate General Services, Corporate Controlling, 
Strategic Planning & Accounting, Corporate Finance and 
Corporate Tax. As a doctor of business administration, he 
began his career at Haniel Holding in 1999. In June 2004, 
he was appointed to the TAKKT Management Board in 
Stuttgart, where he was responsible for Controlling and 
Finance. Funck is a member of the Supervisory Boards of 
METRO AG, TAKKT AG and Vonovia SE.

Haniel’s Management Board is composed of two members whose responsibilities are clearly 
defined. Nevertheless, they work closely together and manage the Company as a team.
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Report of the Supervisory Board

Dear Sir or Madam,

The family-equity company Haniel made important 
decisions about its portfolio this year. Above all, we note 
the acquisition of Bekaert Textiles – the globally lead-
ing specialist for the development and manufacturing 
of woven and knitted mattress textiles. In addition, we 
strengthened the market position of our TAKKT division 
in the course of the year by acquiring a US-based direct 
marketing specialist and a UK-based online retailer. The 
reduction of our interest in Metro investment to 25 per 
cent represented a further key step in improving the bal-
ance of Haniel’s portfolio. The Supervisory Board took 
these decisions at four regular and three extraordinary 
meetings. This laid the foundations for the continued 
success of the Company and its ability to pay a dividend. 

New Supervisory Board member
On 25 April 2015, Prof. Henning Kagermann left the 
Supervisory Board. As the first shareholder represent-
ative on the Supervisory Board from outside the family, 
his experience and expertise were invaluable to the work 
of the Supervisory Board. We would like to thank him for 
his faithful collaboration. On 25 April, Thomas Geitner 
was elected to succeed him on the Supervisory Board. 
Most recently, he had been a member of the Manage-
ment Board at Henkel, where he was responsible for the 
adhesives segment. 

Supervisory Board supports Haniel’s digital transfor-
mation 
As in years past, the cooperation between the Supervi-
sory Board and the Management Board was character-
ised by an atmosphere of great openness and mutual 
trust. The Management Board informed us regularly 
about the status of the Haniel Holding Company and the 
Group as a whole – also with regard to important indi-
vidual events. This was also true when it came to issues 
surrounding the Company’s digital transformation. The 
Management Board and Supervisory Board conferred 
on this matter and discussed the opportunities and 
challenges posed by the new digital technologies. The 
Supervisory Board granted its support to the plan to 
create an independent business unit in 2016 to devote 
itself to the digital transformation. 
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In accordance with my duty as Chairman of the Supervi-
sory Board of Franz Haniel & Cie. GmbH, beyond the nor-
mal meetings, I have also been in regular contact with the 
Chairman of the Management Board primarily, but also 
with the CFO. We discussed important business and stra-
tegic issues affecting the Group. The Supervisory Board 
continually and carefully monitored the group of com-
panies’ management and business development based 
on regular written and oral reports of the Management 
Board. We examined in depth all the decisions requiring 
our consent and passed the necessary resolutions.

The Audit Committee held four meetings in the 2015 
reporting period. It monitored the accounting process 
and the effectiveness of the internal control system, the 
risk management system, the Internal Auditing office, 
and the compliance management system. Moreover, the 
committee examined and confirmed the independence 
of the auditor of the financial statements, and resolved, 
in its meeting on 18 March 2015, to recommend to the 
Shareholders’ Meeting to re-appoint the previous auditor.

Annual separate and consolidated financial state-
ments approved
PricewaterhouseCoopers Aktiengesellschaft Wirtschafts-
prüfungsgesellschaft, Essen, audited the annual finan-
cial statements of Franz Haniel & Cie. GmbH and the 
report of the Management Board for the 2015 financial 
year. The auditors confirmed that the annual financial 
statements and report of the Management Board com-
ply with legal provisions and the Company’s articles of 
association. The auditors issued an unqualified auditors’ 
report on the annual financial statements and the report 
of the Management Board. The auditors also issued an 
unqualified auditors’ report on the consolidated finan-
cial statements and the Group report of the Manage-
ment Board. The auditors participated in the Supervisory 
Board’s meeting on the financial statements and in all 
meetings of the Audit Committee. Furthermore, the 
Supervisory Board again engaged the auditors to assess 
the Haniel Group’s early risk identification system. This 
voluntary examination was conducted in accordance 
with section 317 (4) of the German Commercial Code 
(Handelsgesetzbuch, “HGB”). The auditors verified the 
suitability of the system to detect early any risks endan-
gering the going concern assumption.

The Management Board submitted the consolidated 
financial statements, the Group report of the Manage-
ment Board and the Group auditors’ report for 2015 to 
the Supervisory Board for its examination. Following an 
in-depth examination, the Supervisory Board approved 
the consolidated financial statements and the Group 
report of the Management Board. The Supervisory Board 
also approved the annual financial statements of Franz 
Haniel & Cie. GmbH and the Management Board’s profit 
appropriation proposal. The annual financial statements 
are thereby adopted and the consolidated financial 
statements approved.

Gratitude for a job well done
We wish to thank the Management Board and employ-
ees for their commitment and hard work over this past 
year. The Supervisory Board looks forward to accompa-
nying them further along the strategic path towards the 
long-term success of the Company. We will continue to 
advise, monitor and support the Management Board in 
the year to come. 

Duisburg, 8 April 2016

Franz M. Haniel
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
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Our Supervisory Board is composed of six shareholder representatives and six employee 
representatives. The chairmanship has always been held by a family member.

Shareholder representatives 

Franz M. Haniel
Chairman
Graduate engineer

Dr Georg F. Baur
Deputy Chairman
Businessman

Thomas Geitner
(since 25 April 2015)
Graduate engineer

Prof. Dr Henning Kagermann
(until 25 April 2015)
Graduate physicist

Dr Paul-Bernhard Kallen
Graduate economist

Dr Michael Schädlich
Graduate physicist

Prof. Dr Kay Windthorst
University professor

Employee representatives

Gerd Herzberg
Deputy Chairman
Former trade union secretary (Ver.di)

Ralf Fritz
Maintenance man

Bernd Hergenröther
Electrician

Fadi Kamal
Design engineer

Irina Pankewitz
Textile cleaner

Hans Wettengl
Trade union secretary (IG Metall)
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Free from conflicts of interest
One characteristic sets Haniel apart from many other 
family-owned companies: Since the start of the 20th 
century, managers from outside the family have been 
responsible for the Corporate Governance. No family 
members work in the Haniel Group. Entrepreneurial 
decisions can be made free from familial obligations. 
The family attaches importance to sustainable growth 
and value enhancement. The steps to be taken along 
the way are at the discretion of the Management Board, 
which confers with the board of the Company. The 
basic structure of Corporate Governance at Haniel thus 
adheres to the standards set out in the German law 
governing stock corporations.

The roughly 680 shareholders are organised in the 
Shareholders’ Meeting. It meets once a year and elects 
from its midst six shareholder representatives to serve 
five years on the Supervisory Board. The shareholder 
representatives and six employee representatives on 
the Supervisory Board help to shape the fundamental 
business policies of the Company and influence the 
corporate strategy. The Supervisory Board has equal 
representation as a co-determined monitoring body; 
it is always chaired by a member of the family. Share-
holder and employee representatives jointly appoint and 
dismiss members of the Management Board, monitor 
their work and support them in an advisory capacity. 
Four members of the Supervisory Board form the Audit 
Committee, which also has equal representation. This 
committee monitors the accounting process and the 
effectiveness of the internal control system, the risk 
management system, the Internal Auditing office, and 

the compliance management system. Moreover, the 
committee examines and confirms the independence 
of the auditors of the financial statements. Details of 
the work of the Supervisory Board in the 2015 financial 
year are contained in the Report by the Chairman of the 
Supervisory Board starting on page 24. The Sharehold-
ers’ Meeting elects also from its midst 30 members for 
the Advisory Board, which facilitates communication 
between the executive bodies of the Company (Supervi-
sory Board and Management Board) and the members 
of the family.

Binding principles of conduct
The Haniel Holding Company itself, as well as through 
its divisions, is active in many different economic and 
social systems, and thus encounters differing cultural 
and national standards as well as legal regulations. It is 
precisely this that makes it essential that all employees 
at every level of the Company share the same values 
of openness and integrity. Essential components of the 
Haniel culture are the principles of legality, incorrupti-
bility and fair competition. Haniel expressly commits to 
the principle of fair competition in the Code of Conduct. 
In addition, it sets out the principles of conduct for 
employees of the Holding Company, so that they neither 
offer nor accept inappropriate favours, they reject all 
forms of discrimination, and they disclose any conflicts 
of interest between their business and private affairs. 
Such principles of conduct are in place Group-wide. In 
addition, all divisions have a compliance management 
system that assists in preventing, detecting and elimi-
nating abuses.

Easy access to information
For Haniel as a family-equity company, a solid equity 
base plays an important role. In addition, Haniel also 
uses borrowed capital in its financial strategy. To gain 
the trust of potential investors and to maintain the 
appreciation of its current investors, Haniel focuses on 
transparency and fairness in its financial communica-
tion: Every capital market participant, including banks, 
investors and analysts, are provided with the same infor-
mation needed to assess the Company’s performance. 
This applies in equal measure to the family shareholders 
as providers of equity. The corporate website repre-
sents a broad information platform where, among other 
things, the corporate group’s portfolio and strategy are 

Distinct responsibility structures and 
cooperation based on partnership: 
These are the principles that distinguish 
Corporate Governance at Haniel. One 
essential element is the strict separation 
of corporate management and control, 
in line with the requirements for ex-
change-listed companies. Both sides en-
gage in trusting dialogue, which is also 
how the Company communicates with 
its partners on the financial market.
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elucidated. Haniel also publishes its annual and half 
year financial reports there, as well as the latest press 
releases. In addition, presentations, information on 
the investment strategy and additional separate and 
consolidated subgroup financial statements can be 
accessed online under the “Creditor Relations” head-
ing. A financial calendar contains early announcements 
of important events for the Holding Company and the 
divisions. Moreover, Haniel publicly declares how the 
Holding Company is rated by the credit rating agencies 
Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s. In order to expand the 
variety of opinions offered by ratings, the rating by the 
European agency, Scope, was included for the first time 
in February 2016. Haniel submits itself to these external 
rating processes voluntarily in order to be able to use 
all the available financing options. For Haniel, trans-
parent and fair financial communication is inseparably 
connected with continuity. The Company informs its 
partners at regular intervals and in a consistent manner 
about current developments. Thus, financial reports are 
always published in the customary place and in the cus-
tomary form in order to make it easier for the reader to 
find and analyse the information. Haniel draws attention 
to any deviations from the preceding years.

Dialogue with investors
Haniel’s financial market partners can contact the 
staff of the Corporate Finance and Corporate Devel-
opment/M&A departments directly. After the Compa-
ny’s Annual Accounts Press Conference, Haniel issues 
invitations to an Investor or Analyst Call. The Manage-
ment Board is closely involved in the dialogue with the 
financial community. 
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Group organisation

about 680 family members

FAMILY

Shareholders’ Meeting
about 12,900 employees*

COMPANY

Employees

up to 30 members

FAMILY

Advisory 
Board

elects elects elect

appoints/dis misses/supervises/advises

4 family and 2 external members

FAMILY AND EXTERNAL MEMBERS

Shareholder 
representa-
tives

12 members

FAMILY AND EXTERNAL MEMBERS, COMPANY

Supervisory Board

2 members

COMPANY

Management Board of the  
Holding Company

COMPANY

Divisions

6 members

COMPANY

Employee  
representa-
tives

*  Annual average (headcount); see also explanations on page 51. The German employees elect the employee representatives  
to the Supervisory Board.
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Increasing value, living values – for 260 years, Haniel has 
combined entrepreneurial drive with a stable framework 
of values in line with this principle. Accordingly, Corpo-
rate Responsibility is firmly anchored in the Company’s 
DNA and is embodied in equal part by the owner family 
as well as by the management. The aim is to combine 
economic success with responsibility for employees, 
society and the environment, thereby creating value for 
generations. 

Haniel’s values form the bedrock for the entrepreneurial 
responsibility exemplified by the Company. What they 
stand for is what has made Haniel successful in the past 
and what guides its actions in the present – the ability 
to marry a community spirit with business sense. The 
Company is dedicated to Haniel’s values at every level: 
they serve as a compass to show the way for Haniel to 
develop further. That is why it is important for employ-
ees to have a common understanding of our values and 
to follow the same principles of conduct. These princi-
ples are laid out in Haniel’s Code of Conduct, which the 
Company revised and updated in 2014. The divisions also 
issue similar guidelines on the basis of the Code of Con-
duct. The Code of Conduct is based on the ten principles 
of the UN Global Compact, among other things. When 
it joined the United Nations initiative, Haniel committed 
itself to uphold and promote the principles relating to 
human rights, labour standards, environmental protec-
tion and the fight against corruption. The divisions have 
also joined the UN Global Compact or have subscribed 
to its guiding principles.

In order to ensure that a climate of responsible entre-
preneurship exists throughout the business and thus 
becomes a competitive advantage, Haniel creates the 
relevant structures in its function as a strategic Holding 
Company and lays down the fundamental guidelines for 
the divisions. In 2013, the Company engaged in a sys-
tematic dialogue with the relevant stakeholders and in-

terest groups to gauge their expectations. On the basis 
of the outcome of this dialogue, the Company developed 
a CR management approach and organisation aimed at 
successfully anchoring sustainability within the Com-
pany’s corporate structures – taking into account those 
peculiarities of a diversified group of companies with 
decentralised management which make Haniel unique. 
The Holding Company sets the focus with the three CR 
action areas Employees, Value Chain and Innovation. 
These were selected such that they apply to every com-
pany equally, regardless of their core business. Both the 
Holding Company and the divisions define and prioritise 
individual measures in these action areas and report on 
their progress.

Further information on the stakeholder dialogue, CR 
management approach and organisational structure can 
be found online in the CR Report. 

Increasing Value Sustainably

Anchoring CR along the Haniel value chain
As a value developer with a long-term investment strat-
egy, Haniel strives to implement a holistic CR approach 
along the entire value chain – from dialogue with pro-
viders of capital to the investment phase and portfolio 
management through to divestment. Haniel places its 
focus on where the Holding Company has leverage: in 
developing and managing the divisions.

Investing responsibly
CR aspects already play a vital role for Haniel when it 
expands its investment portfolio. Only those companies 
which fit with the Company and its values are consid-
ered. Thus all potential acquisition targets are reviewed 
to determine whether they fit with Haniel’s values and 
the criteria in its investment filter, which also take into 
account ecological and social aspects. CR forms an 
integral part of the integration plan after a company 

Corporate Responsibility

As a family-equity company, Haniel’s objective is to systematically anchor Corporate 
Responsibility (CR) within all phases of value creation – with a focus on the interac-
tion between the divisions. The CR programme was further expanded in 2015 through 
mutual dialogue.
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has been successfully acquired – as was the case with 
Bekaert Textiles in 2015. Depending on the existing CR 
activities, structures and processes are first created 
as a basis for successfully integrating CR into the core 
business. 

Haniel exercises great care not only when acquiring new 
divisions: the Company also takes CR into consideration 
when making financial investments. A multidisciplinary 
CR Committee was established to specify CR aspects 
derived from Haniel’s Code of Conduct, for instance in 
the form of a negative list for companies, and to further 
develop this for financial investments. In addition, CR 
aspects are systematically taken into account by the 
Holding Company in granting its approval to invest in 
or acquire divisions in accordance with its investment 
and enterprise valuation guidelines. These guidelines 
have stipulated that the specific positive and negative 
impacts on the objectives laid out in Haniel’s CR action 
areas be assessed in investment proposals.

CR: an integral component of management dialogue
The corporate bylaws generally define the collaboration 
between the Holding Company and the divisions. They 
stipulate on the basis of statutory provisions that the 
Holding Company must help the divisions to develop 
their CR strategies. By placing Corporate Responsibility 
on the agenda of the regular management dialogue 
meetings, the Holding Company provides the divisions a 
starting point for discussion. Each year, Haniel’s Man-
agement Board and the divisional management teams 
agree on individual targets with respect to Haniel’s ac-
tion areas and discuss their progress in achieving them. 
In this way, the Holding Company assumes the mantle 
of a CR sparring partner for the divisions. In addition 
to this CR dialogue at the management level, the CR 
Round Table is held three times a year to bring experts 
together: those responsible for CR within the Group 
meet to exchange information, share their experiences 
and discuss best practices. CR is also anchored in the 
Holding Company’s organisation analogously to the pro-
cess involving the management teams of the divisions. 
For instance, the directors of all departments join the 
Management Board each year at the CR Conference. 
There, they discuss the relevant issues faced by the 
Holding Company as they relate to Haniel’s three CR 
action areas, agree on specific targets and objectives 

and kick off new projects. This is how Haniel anchors CR 
within all of the Company’s core processes – both at the 
level of interactions with the divisions as well as within 
the Holding Company itself.

Good progress made in the CR programme in 2015
In addition to the new CR targets for 2016, the progress 
reports on already agreed-upon CR programmes were 
on the agenda of the management dialogue between 
the Holding Company and the divisions in September 
2015. All divisions have made good progress in reaching 
their objectives. For instance, in the Employees action 
area, in 2015 the ELG division established a global 
reporting system for work-related accidents in order to 
further improve the health and safety of its employees 
over the long term. 

In the Value Chain action area, the aim is to reduce 
social and ecological impacts of business activities – 
including beyond the limits of our own Company. TAKKT 
continues to push forward with its CR efforts as they 
relate to the supply chain. By the end of 2016, it aims to 
procure half of the goods and merchandise it sources 
from suppliers who have been evaluated as part of a 
supplier assessment programme. In 2015, they already 
made up 36 per cent of our total procurement volume. 

In the Innovation action area, CWS-boco has made good 
progress in optimising service routes: After eliminating 
more than 850,000 fleet kilometres in 2014 with the “Op-
timize my Day” dispatch planning tool, CWS-boco pushed 
on with the international roll-out of “Optimize my Day” in 
2015, equipping 80 per cent of drivers with the tool. 

In 2015, the Holding Company agreed on CR targets 
with the fully consolidated divisions CWS-boco, ELG and 
TAKKT. For 2016, it plans to integrate Bekaert Textiles 
into the CR regulatory process and to identify key as-
pects in Haniel’s CR action areas through joint dialogue. 
No CR targets were agreed with the financial investment 
METRO GROUP.

Divisions set individual focal points
Above and beyond the systematic implementation of CR 
targets in Haniel’s action areas, all divisions are continu-
ally pushing forward with their commitment to sustaina-
bility and transparent reporting.
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At Bekaert Textiles, Corporate Responsibility is an es-
sential part of the company’s basic values and is deeply 
rooted in the corporate culture. Assuming responsi-
bility means offering safe, high-quality products and 
ensuring that business activities are environmentally 
friendly and socially responsible. Under the leadership 
of the management, an interdisciplinary team priori-
tises and initiates CR projects along the entire value 
chain. Bekaert Textiles bases these activities on the 
seven key topics of the ISO 26000 guideline for socially 
responsible behaviour: human rights, labour practices, 
the environment, fair operating practices, consumer 
issues, community development and organizational 
governance. The company publishes further information 
on its commitment to sustainability on the website at 
www.bekaerttextiles.com. 

CWS-boco’s business model – that of an apparel rental 
service – is committed to environmental protection 
and the sparing use of resources. The Company is 
constantly advancing its commitment to sustainability 
under the motto “Serving you, serving nature”: In the 
course of refining its CR strategy, CWS-boco imple-
mented a systematic stakeholder survey in early 2015 
and carried out a comprehensive analysis of existing CR 
action areas. The findings culminated in the CR Report 
“Handle with Care” which was prepared in accordance 
with version “G4” of the international standard of the 
Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) and published in the 
summer of 2015. Further information can be found at 
www.cws-boco.com/en-US/sustainability-0.

Given its activities in recycling and global trading of 
raw materials – particularly in the stainless steel and 
superalloys market segments – sustainability is an 
integral part of ELG’s business model. Above and beyond 
the sparing use of resources, and in accordance with 
ELG’s corporate philosophy, the focus of its business 
activities is placed squarely on employee responsibility, 
ethical conduct and strong partnerships with suppliers, 
customers and other stakeholders. Together with the 
various stakeholder groups, the company has devel-
oped four core topics for its CR strategy: in the action 
areas Employee Focus, Operational Focus, Commercial 
Focus and Compliance Focus relevant CR issues are 
set out and progress is reported in CR reports. More at 
www.elg.de.

At TAKKT, too, sustainability is an integral part of the 
corporate strategy and a shared day-to-day responsibility 
at all levels of the Group. TAKKT bundles a portfolio of 
B2B direct marketing specialists for business equipment 
in Europe and North America in a single company and has 
set the objective of becoming the shining example of sus-
tainability in its industry by the end of 2016. In dialogue 
with stakeholders, TAKKT has identified six action areas: 
Procurement, Marketing, Logistics, Resources & Climate, 
Employees and Company. For each action area, targets 
and specific measures have been formulated, the content 
and structure of which the company has anchored into 
the organisation with the SCORE (Sustainable Corporate 
Responsibility) programme. TAKKT reports regularly on 
its progress in sustainability reports, which can also be 
accessed online at www.takkt.de/en/sustainability.

The METRO GROUP brings its economic objectives into 
alignment not only with statutory requirements but also 
social standards and the needs of its customers, em-
ployees, investors and partners. In doing so, it ensures 
that it respects the limits imposed by the environment. 
In keeping with its vision for sustainability, “We offer 
quality of life”, the METRO GROUP and its sales divisions 
are continually pushing forward with their strategic and 
operational efforts to anchor sustainability within the 
group. The increasingly successful integration of CR 
into the core business is also apparent in ratings of the 
group by third parties – among other things, the retailer 
is listed on the Dow Jones Sustainability World Index as 
an Industry Group Leader in the Food & Staples Retail-
ing category. The METRO GROUP describes its broad 
CR commitment in the action areas along the value 
chain in the Sustainability Report and on its website, 
www.metrogroup.de/verantwortung.

Further information on the progress made by the 
divisions in the Haniel action areas and the 2016 CR 
programme can be found in the CR Report online under 
“Increasing value”. 

Living Values

Assuming responsibility for employees, environment 
and society at the Holding Company’s location
In order to establish sustainability at the Company over 
the long term, we need employees whose philosophy 
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and actions are characterised by foresight and respon-
sibility. Haniel is laying the foundation for a shared 
understanding of CR and raising employee awareness 
of the need to conduct themselves responsibly in their 
day-to-day professional lives. By continually improving 
their work processes, they help to spare resources and 
reduce environmental impact. In addition to informa-
tional events, the Holding Company has developed an 
internal training format for CR: participants of the “CR 
Smartie” receive an overview of the global challenges 
such as climate change and resource scarcity and are 
encouraged to integrate sustainable conduct into their 
day-to-day lives at the Company. Moreover, the Hold-
ing Company implemented various measures in 2015 
to reduce the ecological and social impacts of its own 
business activities. For instance, heating and cooling 
equipment was installed with the aim of reducing en-
ergy consumption in 2016 by approximately 15 per cent 
as compared to 2014.

Responsible employer
Well-trained employees are a key factor in the Com-
pany’s long-term success. Thus Haniel promotes the 
professionalisation, development and networking of 
specialised workers and management personnel within 
the Group. The Haniel Academy plays a central role in 
this regard – for instance through the tailored devel-
opment programmes of the “Haniel Leadership Cur-
riculum”. There, up-and-coming talented individuals, 
management personnel and top executives develop 
their leadership potential – from personal through 
to strategic leadership skills. In September 2015, the 
Haniel Academy launched the Haniel Management 
School: a new international programme which teaches 
experienced management personnel the latest man-
agement methods and concepts, in particular against 
the backdrop of rapid market changes and the need for 
organisational agility. The Group-wide academy pro-
gramme addresses current challenges and issues: in 
2016, classes were offered for the first time to prepare 
specialists and management personnel for the needs of 
the digital transformation, both from an individual and 
an organisational perspective. 

For Haniel, “strengthening employees” also means 
maintaining an open, faithful dialogue. In order to 
receive feedback on the commitment and satisfaction of 

all employees, the Holding Company carries our regular 
employee surveys – most recently in 2014. With an 87 per 
cent participation rate, many employees took advantage 
of this opportunity to provide feedback. In addition to 
communicating the overall results to all employees, the 
departments also discussed the outcomes with man-
agement staff and developed measures where needed. 
The next employee survey is slated for 2016. 

In order to increase employee satisfaction, Haniel offers 
them not only attractive compensation but also a variety 
of social benefits – including subsidies for child care 
and a Company pension scheme. In 2015, the existing 
model was made viable for the future by switching to a 
defined-contribution plan. In addition, Haniel introduced 
an online pensions portal to create greater transpar-
ency for employees as to the current status of their 
pension plans.

To find a better balance between private life, family 
and work, Haniel makes it possible for its employees to 
flexibly structure their working hours. Depending on the 
activity and personal situation of the employee, there is 
the option to work flex-time, part time or alternatingly 
from their home office. Employees of the Holding Com-
pany can take advantage of a family service to receive 
advice in order to better cope with their day-to-day lives, 
even in the face of particularly stressful changes in their 
private or professional lives. Employees of the Haniel 
Group who through no fault of their own have come into 
hard times can apply for financial aid from an employee 
benefit fund. The Duisburg Family Alliance (“Duisburger 
Bündnis für Familie”) recognised Haniel as a particu-
larly family-friendly company in December 2015 for its 
wide-ranging commitment.

In order to help its employees maintain their good 
health in the long term, the Haniel Holding Company 
offers a host of medical check-ups and sport offerings 
such as fitness classes, yoga and back and spine exer-
cise courses – some of which are even free of charge. 
In addition, the Haniel Academy supports employees 
by offering health and stress management training 
sessions. In order to raise employee awareness for better 
health, the Holding Company carried out a Health Day 
in 2015 – which included lectures on healthy eating and 
stress prevention. 



Corporate Responsibility

34

Hand in hand for Duisburg
In keeping with Haniel’s values, the Holding Company’s 
dedication to the community goes above and beyond 
its core business. As a corporate citizen, it provides 
financial, tangible and intangible support to initiatives 
and projects in Duisburg with the objective of increasing 
the liveability of the city and creating a long-lasting 
benefit for the region. In order to join forces to achieve 
more and to bundle competencies, Haniel works to-
gether with strong partners. Together with the not-for-
profit Social Impact gGmbH, the Prof. Otto Beisheim 
Foundation and the KfW Foundation, in 2015 Haniel 
established a start-up lab for social entrepreneurs in 
Duisburg. Start-up entrepreneurs seeking to use their 
business ideas to resolve societal challenges receive an 
eight-month stipend and professional advice, coaching, 
workshops and the necessary working infrastructure. 

Haniel is a co-founder of the initiative “We together 
– The integration initiative of the German economy” 
(“Wir zusammen – Integrationsinitiativen der deutschen 
Wirtschaft”), which was officially unveiled in the 
beginning of 2016. Participating companies pledge to 
make a tangible, lasting contribution to the integration 
of refugees in Germany. Haniel coordinates directly 
with the City of Duisburg to provide assistance when 
there are acute shortages in support for refugees and 
will promote cultural, technical and language training 
measures as well as child care and youth services. The 
Haniel Group is also making plans to assist with the 
professional integration of refugees granted rights of 
residence. 

In the area of educational advancement, the Company 
and the Haniel Foundation in Duisburg go hand in hand: 
in order to improve the prospects of socially disad-
vantaged children and young people, the “Bildung als 
Chance” (“Opportunity through education”) project was 
founded in 2010 together with Ashoka Deutschland and 
the three social entrepreneurs apeiros e.V., Chancen-
werk e.V. and Teach First Deutschland gGmbH. Although 
all three educational initiatives share the same target 
group, they each pursue a different approach: While 
Teach First Deutschland sends outstanding university 
graduates to schools for two years as educational sup-
port staff, Chancenwerk offers pupils from less-well-off 
families access to qualified tutoring. The objective of 

apeiros is to encourage drop-outs to return to school. By 
dovetailing these approaches in Duisburg, we can join 
forces to achieve more in breaking down barriers to edu-
cation and showing pupils the way towards a successful 
professional future.

Haniel’s Responsibility website provides detailed infor-
mation on the Company’s social commitment. 

The Online CR Report, published on 
Haniel’s website, provides further in-
formation on our CR strategy and the 
progress made in our CR programme. 
The report is ‘In Accordance’ with the 
GRI G4 Guidelines – Core option.

www.haniel.com/cr2015



Our sustained value-enhancing 
corporate management ensures 
our economic success – which both 
obliges and enables us to create 
social value.

We consider it our duty to bring 
economic, environmental and 
social objectives into harmony.

Corporate Responsibility
Haniel Values

Our history as a family enterprise 
that has been successful for centu-
ries shapes our long-term thoughts 
and actions.

Thinking in generations

We stand out at all corporate lev-
els by acting in a forward-looking 
manner with a pronounced desire 
to create.

Acting in an entre-
preneurial manner

We see change as an opportunity 
for sustained growth – but instead 
of allowing ourselves to be led by 
events, we actively shape markets.

To enable our staff to contribute 
their creativity and skills to cor-
porate success in the best possible 
manner, we both challenge and 
encourage them by means of trust-
ing dialogue.

Shaping change Supporting our staff

Creating value Assuming responsibility
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Revenue by region
EUR billion

Revenue by division
EUR billion

3.8 3.8

 25% Germany
 40% Other Europe
 31% Americas
 3% Asia
 1% Other countries

 48% ELG
 28% TAKKT
 20% CWS-boco
 4% Bekaert Textiles

Group report of the 
Manage ment Board
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Group structure and  
business models

Following the acquisition of Bekaert Textiles, the Haniel Group combines four divisions 
in addition to the financial investment in the METRO GROUP. Franz Haniel & Cie. GmbH 
functions as a strategic management Holding Company and is responsible for portfolio 
management. The operating business is in the hands of the divisions which act inde-
pendently of one another and which each occupy a leading market position.

Holding Company designs the portfolio
Franz Haniel & Cie. GmbH is a tradition-steeped German 
family-equity company whose objective is to sustainably 
increase the value of its investment portfolio over the 
long term. Since the family shareholders have provided 
equity for an unlimited term, Haniel can pursue a long-
term investment strategy. This strategy is aimed towards 
generating returns which permanently exceed the cost 
of capital. Haniel strives to achieve this economic goal in 
harmony with ecological and social goals. The Company 
is pursuing this goal by following the guiding principle 
of the “honourable businessman”. In addition, capital 
and management are separated as a matter of principle 
at Haniel: Although the Company is 100 per cent family 
owned, no member of the Haniel family works at the 
Company.

When structuring the portfolio, Haniel concentrates on 
business models that are supported by global mega-
trends and therefore have a high potential for increases 
in value over the long term. Promising markets and 
business models are analysed continually in order to 
detect growth opportunities. For example, Haniel iden-
tified Bekaert Textiles as a very promising, very suitable 
fit to Haniel and acquired the company in 2015. Haniel 
also successfully reduced its interest in METRO AG to 
25.00 per cent to improve the balance of its portfolio, 
but it remains the largest shareholder. At the same time, 
Haniel successfully placed an exchangeable bond linked 
to Metro shares with a term until 2020. The proceeds 
generated from this will be used to further expand 
Haniel’s portfolio.

Haniel as strategic catalyst
In addition to portfolio management, the Holding Com-
pany is also responsible for setting strategic guidelines 
for the operating divisions – in this respect the Hold-
ing Company considers itself as a strategic catalyst. 

Strategic initiatives are agreed on in discussion with the 
divisions, and then implemented by the divisions under 
their own responsibility. The divisional management 
teams report regularly to Haniel’s Management Board on 
their progress. The Haniel Holding Company is also re-
sponsible for selecting and developing top executives for 
the divisions and offering the divisions tools and selected 
services. Due to its high relevance, Haniel is currently 
reviewing digitalisation options in all divisions and has 
provided a team of experts to support the implementa-
tion of appropriate projects. These activities are bundled 
in Schacht One GmbH which, with its headquarters in the 
Zollverein Coal Mine Industrial Complex with a rich tra-
dition in Essen, builds on the earlier dynamic for change 
and innovative spirit in Haniel’s history. This ensures that 
all divisions will continue to use their respective business 
models to contribute to the value enhancement of the 
investment portfolio in the best manner possible.

Diversified business models
Haniel’s divisions – the 100 per cent holdings Bekaert 
Textiles, CWS-boco and ELG and the majority sharehold-
ing TAKKT (50.25 per cent) as well as the METRO GROUP 
financial investment (25.00 per cent) act independently 
of one another in their respective markets. With the 
exception of Bekaert Textiles, all divisions are headquar-
tered in Germany. The business models differ from one 
another with respect to their sector, business drivers, 
customer structure and strategy, which results in the 
diversification of the Haniel portfolio: 

Bekaert Textiles is the world’s leading specialist for the 
development and manufacturing of woven and knitted 
mattress textiles. Following its acquisition by Haniel, 
it has been operated as an independent division since 
June 2015. The company, headquartered in Belgium, has 
a global network of nine production facilities in eight 
countries. Its product range primarily consists of woven 
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and knitted mattress textiles that are sold to mattress 
manufacturers in the Americas, Europe and the Asia-Pa-
cific region. Bekaert Textiles profits from the continuous 
growth of the market for mattresses which is driven 
by sustainable global mega-trends such as population 
growth, a growing awareness of the positive impact of 
good sleep on human health and growth in emerging 
markets.

Bekaert Textiles works together with its customers to 
develop and produce mattress textiles to the customers’ 
standard of quality in terms of both design and product 
features. The centralised development team is con-
stantly working to further refine products in order to en-
able the company to offer its customer base a broad and 
innovative product portfolio. Thanks to Bekaert Textiles’ 
global production network, customers also benefit from 
extremely short lead times.

The Bekaert Textiles division will continue its growth 
path as part of the Haniel Group. The company aims to 
expand its market position in the Americas, in Europe 
and the Asia-Pacific region. Bekaert Textiles is focussed 
on continuously improving its product quality, designs 
and delivery times. Innovations are regularly brought to 
the market so that mattress manufacturers, the com-
pany’s customers, can offer attractive products to the 
mattress retailers. In addition to organic growth in ex-
isting markets, Bekaert Textiles is constantly searching 
for opportunities to tap into new markets and reviewing 
potential acquisition targets to accelerate its growth.

Improving operational excellence and optimising pro-
curement are additional focal points. Both initiatives 
are vital to ensuring that the company will be able to 
expand its market position in the long term by offering 
competitive prices while at the same time realising 
attractive margins. Bekaert Textiles applies lean manu-
facturing principles to optimise its regional production 
facilities, which allows the company to act as a “virtual 
plant” to produce in accordance with uniform standards 
worldwide. Above all, the procurement initiative will 
standardise the quality of the yarns to be purchased 
and centralise their procurement in order to generate 
economies of scale.

CWS-boco offers end-to-end solutions in the fields of 
washroom hygiene, dust control mats, workwear and 
textile solutions. The division is one of the international 
leaders in this field with activities in 19 countries. 

CWS-boco focuses on the rental business. The offerings 
range primarily from collections of employee cloth-
ing to protective and safety clothing, modern hygiene 
products such as towel, soap and fragrance dispensers, 
as well as dust control mats. The textiles are properly 
prepared in the division’s own laundries and the dis-
pensers are regularly serviced, both under long-term 
service contracts. The rental business is supplemented 
by the sale of consumables such as soap, disinfectants 
and paper as well as washroom hygiene products and 
workwear. In recent years, CWS-boco has also expanded 
its offering in the cleanroom business. In this field, the 

Haniel portfolio

Financial investment 

Equity interest  
100%

Equity interest  
100%

Equity interest  
100%

Equity interest  
50.25%

Equity interest  
25.00%

Bekaert Textiles is the 
world’s leading specialist for 
the development and man-
ufacturing of woven and 
knitted mattress textiles.

CWS-boco ranks among 
the leading international 
full-service providers 
of washroom hygiene 
products, dust control 
mats, workwear and textile 
services.

ELG is a global leader in the 
trading, processing and re-
cycling of raw materials for 
the stainless steel industry 
as well as high perfor-
mance materials such as 
superalloys, titanium and 
carbon fibres.

TAKKT bundles a portfolio 
of B2B direct marketing 
specialists for business 
equipment in Europe and 
North America in a single 
company.

METRO GROUP is among 
the premier international 
merchandisers.

Bekaert Textiles CWS-boco ELG TAKKT METRO GROUP

Divisions



company offers customers professional preparation of 
cleanroom apparel, while satisfying the highest certifi-
cation standards, particularly with respect to sterility 
and the absence of particulates. CWS-boco’s customers, 
companies of various sizes and industries, benefit from 
a comprehensive service network as well as sustainable 
products and processes.

CWS-boco is systematically pursuing the sales initi-
ative launched in 2014. In the course, the number of 
sales employees will be further increased. In addition, 
new employees will be prepared for their sales work in 
theoretical and practical training units participating the 
Sales Excellence programme. The division expects the 
significant growth momentum from these measures to 
continue in the future. Beyond that, CWS-boco achieves 
additional growth potential by taking over regional com-
panies that supplement the existing service network. 
The integration of these companies will achieve higher, 
and above all uniform quality and service standards for 
the benefit of customers. The specialist for washroom 
hygiene products and textile solutions is also working on 
the introduction of a new IT system during the course of 
a multi-year project. In addition, sustainability is a cor-
nerstone of CWS-boco’s business. CWS-boco Germany’s 
gold rating, the highest award from the international 
scoring platform EcoVadis, is a testament to the compa-
ny’s focus on ecological and social responsibility. 

The ELG division is a global leader in the trading, pro-
cessing and recycling of commodities for the stainless 
steel industry as well as high performance materials 
such as superalloys, titanium and carbon fibres. With 
42 locations in North America, Europe, Asia, Australia 
and South Africa, the division has one of the industry’s 
largest global networks. The product line primar-
ily comprises stainless steel scrap and superalloys. 
Superalloys are high-alloy, nickel-containing scrap and 
titanium scrap. The superalloys business trades under 
the name ELG Utica Alloys. ELG’s customers, primarily 
global stainless steel producers and companies from 
the aviation industry, receive the material in exactly the 
composition that they need for further processing – just 
in time and pursuant to the highest quality standards. 
Scrap recycling companies in the superalloys business 
are certified by their customers in order to ensure high 
product quality. In addition to the classic trade busi-

ness, the purchase and sale of recycled scrap, ELG’s toll 
processing business also offers recycling of production 
waste containing scrap tailored to the customer’s needs, 
returning this material to the customer within a closed-
loop cycle. 

In order to be able to meet customer requirements in 
the future as well, the company is continually increas-
ing its international presence. For example, additional 
procurement sources for stainless steel scrap and 
superalloys are developed, and new customers are 
gained in growth markets. In recent years, ELG has used 
acquisitions and increases in capacity to further expand 
the superalloys business first and foremost, thus laying 
the foundation for further growth. 

In addition to the trading in and recycling of stainless 
steel scrap and superalloys, ELG is active in the still 
nascent and attractive Carbon Fibre business segment, 
the recycling of carbon fibres. This business unit will be 
systematically further expanded. 

The TAKKT division bundles a portfolio of B2B direct 
marketing specialists for business equipment in Europe 
and North America in a single company. Each company 
follows an essentially comparable business model, but 
with a different focus with respect to customer groups, 
product lines, regions or distribution channels. The 
direct marketing specialists concentrate mainly on the 
sale of durable, stable-priced equipment to corporate 
customers. The product range comprises operating and 
warehouse equipment, office furniture, transport pack-
aging, display products as well as equipment for the 
retail sales and the restaurant and hotel markets. 

In its sales approach, TAKKT follows a multi-brand 
strategy that comprises multi-channel and web-focused 
brands. Multi-channel brands are aimed more at medi-
um-sized and larger companies. They combine the clas-
sic customer approach using a catalogue with an online 
offering, active telephone sales and field representatives 
in an integrated approach. TAKKT’s web-focused brands, 
whose sales activities focus on digital channels, are 
aimed at customers that cannot be reached efficiently 
using the multi-channel approach. When a customer 
has ordered the desired product via one of the channels, 
TAKKT offers fast delivery and complementary services. 
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TAKKT intends to increase its profitability using several 
paths: it is concentrating on extending e-commerce 
activities as well as even better dovetailing the various 
channels in integrated multi-channel sales. In doing 
so, the current focus is on expanding direct sales using 
telephone sales and field representatives. Additional 
growth initiatives include the continual expansion of 
the product range and increased use of private labels. 
TAKKT will also push forward with digitalisation in 
the company along the entire value chain. In addition, 
the division is fostering the international expansion 
of existing successful business models and acquiring 
promising companies to supplement existing business 
activities.

Haniel holds a financial investment in the METRO GROUP, 
which is among the most important international retail 
groups. The METRO GROUP includes the three auto-
nomous sales lines: METRO Cash & Carry, Media-Saturn 
and Real. METRO Cash & Carry is in the self-service 
wholesale business and focuses on commercial cus-
tomers, in particular hotels, restaurants and catering 
companies. The electronics retailer Media-Saturn sells 
innovative technology products embedded in a com-
prehensive service offering under the Media-Markt, 
Saturn and Redcoon brands. Real offers an extensive 
and wide-ranging product line in the self-service hy-
permarkets business. The METRO GROUP’s sales lines 
distribute their products and services in sales outlets 
and online to customers in 29 countries across Europe 
and Asia.

The METRO GROUP’s strategy is aimed at sustainable 
growth. In order to achieve this objective, it consist-
ently focuses on adding value for its customers and 
promoting innovation. The company strives for profita-
ble like-for-like growth in all sales lines, while carefully 
and selectively expanding in selected countries through 
new openings. To take into account changing buying 
habits among its customers, METRO Cash & Carry’s 
delivery service and multi-channel sales function are 
being further expanded. As part of their multi-channel 
activities, the sales lines are increasingly dovetailing 
their retail business with online sales. At Media-Saturn, 
customers cannot only have the merchandise they or-
der online shipped to them, but they can also pick it up 
at the nearest store location or use services on-site. 

Value-oriented management system
Sustainably increasing shareholder value is at the core 
of the activities of the divisions and the Haniel Hold-
ing Company. In order to ensure that the conduct of 
all participants is oriented on this goal, financial and 
non-financial indicators are utilised within the divi-
sions and the Haniel Holding Company. At Group level, 
the Management Board uses, in addition to revenue, 
operating profit to assess the development of the 
divisions. Additionally, the profit before taxes is used as 
an indicator, which includes the investment result and 
the result from financing activities in addition to the 
operating profit. 

A benchmark for value contribution in the Haniel Group 
is the Haniel value added (HVA). This indicator illus-
trates whether the Haniel Group or its divisions are gen-
erating results that at least cover the cost of capital. 
The cost of capital comprises the yield required by 
debt and equity providers and reflects the risk attrib-
utable to the Company’s business activities. The return 
on capital employed (ROCE) is also used as a yield 
indicator in addition to Haniel value added. Recognised 
investments in non-current assets as well as the Haniel 
cash flow, in the sense of a cash-earnings indicator, are 
used to manage liquidity.

The indicators used for Group management are also 
used in the Haniel Group’s compensation systems.
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Heterogeneous market environment for Haniel
According to the International Monetary Fund (IMF), at a 
3.1 per cent increase in 2015, the global economy posted 
lower growth than the 3.4 per cent in the previous year. 
The economy in the US and Europe benefited from 
a moderate, but continuous recovery. In this regard, 
economic growth and the resultant positive stimuli for 
business development were stronger in the US than in 
Europe. While the IMF reported 2.5 per cent economic 
growth in 2015 in the US, growth in the euro zone was 
only 1.5 per cent. Within Europe, Haniel benefited pri-
marily from steady growth in Germany of 1.5 per cent 
as well. By contrast, restrained buying in Switzerland 
following the appreciation of the Swiss franc resulted 
in lower growth with noticeable effects on business 
activities there.

Global economic growth in 2015 was also characterised 
by reduced momentum in the emerging markets and 
developing countries. Those regions achieved growth of 
just 4.0 per cent after 4.6 per cent in the previous year. 
Among others, this decrease was driven by the Chinese 
economy.

In addition to the macroeconomic environment, the 
conditions in the stainless steel market segment are of 
great significance to the Haniel Group. These conditions 
were substantially worse in 2015 than in the previous 

year. A major cause of this was the economic cooling 
in China. Dampened economic expectations and the 
worldwide oversupply of primary nickel resulted in a 
price decline for nickel, the most significant price driver 
in stainless steel. 

Revenue decline at ELG due to business development
The Haniel Group posted an overall decline in revenue 
of 3 per cent to EUR 3,808 million in 2015. Business 
development at ELG caused this decline – by contrast, 
acquisitions had an overall positive effect on revenue. 
In addition to Haniel’s acquisition of Bekaert Textiles 
as a new division, business acquisitions at the existing 
divisions also delivered positive contributions to revenue 
development: in 2015, TAKKT expanded its portfolio with 
Post-Up Stand and BiGDUG, while CWS-boco acquired 
several smaller companies. Currency translation effects, 
in particular due to the stronger US dollar, also had pos-
itive impacts. By contrast, the sale of the Plant Equip-
ment Group in the 2015 financial year, and the closure of 
the Topdeq business at TAKKT in the previous year had a 
negative effect. 

Adjusted for these business acquisitions and disposals 
as well as currency translation effects, revenue was 
down year on year by 12 per cent. This is attributable 
solely to the historically low price of nickel and the lower 
output tonnage as a result of the difficult market situ-
ation facing the ELG division. The revenue of all other 

2014

REVENUE
EUR million

3,944 3,808

2015

-3% -11%

2014

OPERATING PROFIT
EUR million

217 193

2015
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Haniel Group
Revenue and earnings performance

The stable economic growth in the mar-
kets relevant for Haniel was overlaid by 
declining development in the interna-
tional commodity markets. This led to 
declining revenue and earnings at the 
ELG division. Despite excellent business 
development, in particular at TAKKT, 
and the positive contributions of the 
Bekaert Textiles division included since 
June, the Haniel Group therefore posted a 
decrease in revenue and operating profit. 
The development of profit before taxes 
was encouraging, which increased signif-
icantly due to the easing of the debt bur-
den attained in previous years.



divisions developed positively compared to the previous 
year. Of particular mention here is TAKKT’s strong reve-
nue growth in the US, where the division benefited from 
a positive business climate and business models with 
strong growth. 

Operating profit declined
The Haniel Group’s operating profit is characterised 
by the poor business development of ELG caused by 
market conditions. The lower output tonnage com-
pared to the previous year and the considerably lower 
margin in the stainless steel scrap business resulted in 
a sharply lower operating profit at ELG, which was neg-
ative in financial year 2015. TAKKT, however, increased 
its earnings in particular due to the positive business 
development in the US; CWS-boco also generated a 
higher operating profit. Additionally, Bekaert Textiles 
made a positive contribution to consolidated income. 
In the aggregate, however, ELG’s deficit could not be 
entirely offset so that the 2015 operating profit was EUR 
193 million and hence below the previous year’s level of 
EUR 217 million. 

Profit before taxes significantly higher through easing 
of the debt burden
Profit before taxes increased from EUR 31 million to 
EUR 174 million. This is attributable to both a higher 
investment result and an improved result from financing 
activities.

The investment result, which encompasses solely the 
result from the Metro investment, increased from EUR 
14 million in the previous year to EUR 57 million in the 
2015 financial year. As a result of the sale of METRO 
Cash & Carry Vietnam, the METRO GROUP posted 
fewer one-offs in total, despite the impairment loss on 
goodwill at Real Germany. Thanks to that, but also due 
to the positive growth at METRO Cash & Carry and at 
Media-Saturn, the METRO GROUP generated a slightly 
higher operating profit than in the previous year. In 
addition, an improved net financial income, lower tax 
expense and the net disposal gain from the sale of 
Galeria Kaufhof contributed to the increase in the net 
investment result at Haniel. Haniel’s May 2015 decrease 
in the Metro investment from 30.01 per cent to 25.00 per 
cent reduced earnings. 

The result from financing activities, which is composed 
of finance costs and other net financial income, totalled 
EUR -76 million in the reporting period. In the previous 
year, it was EUR -200 million due to the early redemp-
tion of bonds of the Haniel Holding Company and the 
concomitant extraordinary charge. In addition, finance 
costs were significantly smaller due to the lower level 
of indebtedness in the 2015 financial year than in the 
previous year. Haniel thus benefited from the systematic 
debt reduction of previous years.

Higher profit after taxes from continuing operations
At a higher profit before taxes, the profit after taxes 
from continuing operations was also markedly above the 
previous year’s level. Profit after taxes was increased – 
also supported by a slightly lower tax expense – from 
EUR -28 million to EUR 120 million in the 2015 financial 
year. The profit after taxes including discontinued oper-
ations also amounted to EUR 120 million in 2015. In the 
previous year, this was EUR 686 million and included a 
profit from discontinued operations of EUR 714 million 
resulting from the sale of the Celesio division. 

Haniel value added and ROCE under year-earlier level
In addition to the revenue and earnings figures, the 
Haniel Group also uses the Haniel value added (HVA) 
and the return on capital employed (ROCE) as val-
ue-oriented performance indicators.** HVA expresses 
the value contribution generated within a single year. 
Positive value is added if earnings after taxes and be-
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>+100%

2014

PROFIT BEFORE TAXES 
EUR million

31 174

2015

>+100%

2014

PROFIT AFTER TAXES*  
EUR million

-28 120

2015

* From continuing operations
** For a detailed calculation of the HVA and ROCE indicators, see the explanation in the notes to the consolidated financial statements on page 114.
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fore finance costs, i.e., the return, exceeds the cost of 
capital. The cost of capital is calculated by multiplying 
the weighted average cost of capital with the average 
capital employed. The weighted average cost of capi-
tal reflects the return expectations of equity and debt 
holders, factoring in the risks associated with providing 
capital. The costs of equity and debt are determined 
each year, as is their weighting. A weighted average cost 
of capital of 8.1 per cent was used to calculate HVA in 
2014 and 2015.

HVA was EUR -283 million in 2015, significantly below 
the previous year’s level of EUR 273 million. The primary 
cause for the decrease was the sale of the Celesio divi-
sion in the previous year: the 2014 return included a pos-
itive contribution from the sale of Celesio. The reduced 
capital costs in the 2015 financial year had a counter 
effect because the average capital employed declined 
substantially as a result of the sale of Celesio. 

The performance indicator ROCE reflects the return 
realised on the average capital employed. The Haniel 
Group’s ROCE fell from 11.6 per cent in the previous year 
to 3.4 per cent in 2015. Hence, the return on average 
capital employed during the 2015 financial year was be-
low the weighted average cost of capital of 8.1 per cent; 
it had been above that figure in the previous year.

Revenue and operating profit below expectations 
For 2015, Haniel had forecast that both a rising stain-
less steel production in the US and a higher nickel price 
would have a positive impact on the Haniel Group’s 
business development. Since the nickel price as well as 
demand in the stainless steel market segment declined 
contrary to the forecast, ELG did not generate the ex-
pected growth in revenue and operating profit. However, 
TAKKT and CWS-boco were able to realise slight or 
moderate increases in revenue and operating profit as 

forecast. At the Group level, the expected increases in 
revenue and operating profit were not attained due to 
ELG’s business development.

As expected, adjusted for currency translation effects, 
the METRO GROUP posted a slight increase in both 
revenue adjusted for acquisitions as well as operating 
profit before one-offs. Contrary to the forecast, Haniel’s 
investment result significantly exceeded the previous 
year’s level. The causes for this were primarily the 
net disposal gain from the sale of the Galeria Kaufhof 
sales line and of the METRO Cash & Carry activities in 
Vietnam.

The Haniel Group’s profit before taxes in 2015 – as ex-
pected – was markedly above the previous year’s level. 
In addition to the forecasted substantially improved 
net financial income as compared to the previous year, 
the higher investment result also contributed to this 
increase. 

The 2015 profit after taxes declined as expected due to 
the net disposal gain earned on the sale of Celesio in 
the previous year. This also applies to the value-oriented 
performance indicators HVA and ROCE. 

EUR million 2014 2015

Return 907 209

- Cost of capital 634 492

Haniel value added (HVA) 273 -283

 

Return 907 209

/ Average capital employed 7,832 6,080

Return on capital employed (ROCE) 11.6% 3.4%
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Financial governance between the Holding Company 
and the divisions
The ultimate objective of financial management is to 
cover the financing and liquidity needs at all times 
while maintaining entrepreneurial independence and 
limiting financial risks. The Holding Company prescribes 
principles to the divisions in order to establish minimum 
organisational requirements and to govern the structure 
of key financial management processes, including finan-
cial risk management. These directives are documented 
in guidelines for the treasury departments of the Hold-
ing Company and the divisions. The Holding Company 
and the divisions use this basis to identify, analyse and 
evaluate the financial risks that each operating business 
is responsible for – in particular liquidity, credit, interest 
rate and currency risks – and take measures to avoid or 
limit these risks. In addition, the Holding Company sets 
the financing and financial risk management strategy 
and approves the financial counterparties and financial 
instruments used, as well as limits and reports.

While staying within these guidelines, the divisions man-
age their own financing based on their own financial and 
liquidity planning. Cash management is also the respon-
sibility of the divisions. In order to leverage economies of 
scale, the Holding Company and its finance companies 
support the divisions and, together with partner banks, 
offer cash pools in various countries. Combining central 
directives with the autonomy of the divisions in terms 
of their financing takes into account both the different 
levels of investment by the Holding Company in the 
divisions as well as the divisions’ individual requirements 
for financial management. 

Trusting cooperation with financing partners
As a family business with stable but limited equity 

financing, access to sources of debt capital are of high 
importance to Haniel. Accordingly, a good reputation 
with financial partners is essential. A significant aspect 
of this is providing rating agencies and business part-
ners with timely and transparent information and the 
equal treatment of banks and investors with respect to 
material contractual components. Only if this is ensured 
can a company earn a high degree of trust from banks 
and investors as a long-standing and reliable business 
partner, such as Haniel has enjoyed for many years.

Investment grade rating from Scope rating agency
A stable good rating is evidence of the correspond-
ing creditworthiness and creates transparency that 
is necessary for a trusting relationship with financing 
partners. For that reason, the Haniel Holding Company 
voluntarily submits to external ratings. Material factors 
influencing the rating include the market value gearing 
and the cash cover. Market value gearing is the ratio of 
net financial debt to the value of Haniel’s investment 
portfolio. Cash cover indicators give the ratio of cash in-
flows to cash outflows at the level of the Haniel Holding 
Company. For example, total cash cover is calculated as 
the ratio between cash inflows from dividends and profit 
transfers and the outflows for ongoing Holding Com-
pany costs, interest and dividends to the Haniel family. 
In addition, the number and weight of the individual 
equity investments in the Haniel investment portfolio 
influence the rating.

Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s had already raised their 
ratings to BB+ and Ba1, respectively, in 2013. In 2014, 
Standard & Poor’s added a positive outlook to its opinion 
and confirmed it in the first half of 2015. The European 
rating agency Scope evaluated Haniel for the first time 
in February 2016, classifying it as investment grade at 
BBB-. This vindicates the Haniel Holding Company’s goal 
of a stable investment grade rating.

Broad-based financing
Diversification of financing is a significant core element 
of financial management in the Haniel Group. The use 
of various financing instruments with a broad range of 
business partners not only ensures access to liquidity at 
all times, it also reduces the dependency on individual 
financial instruments and business partners. In addition, 
the Group can respond flexibly to developments on the 

Haniel Group
Financial position

Haniel took advantage of the attractive 
capital market environment to issue 
an exchangeable bond linked to Metro 
shares. In addition, the Metro invest-
ment was reduced further. Haniel ac-
quired the new Bekaert Textiles division 
with the proceeds and also expanded its 
financial leeway for future transactions.
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capital markets and in the banking sector. Binding com-
mitments for credit facilities which are, however, utilised 
to only a limited extent, are an expression of the effort 
to obtain secure and independent financing. The Haniel 
Group has used and unused credit facilities on the scale 
of EUR 2.0 billion. 

In addition to bank loans, the Haniel Group also obtains 
financing regularly on the capital market using bonds, 
commercial paper and promissory loan notes. To that 
end, the Haniel Holding Company updates its com-
mercial paper programme at longer intervals and its 
debt issuance programme (still in the amount of EUR 
2.0 billion) annually. Based on information contained 
therein, bonds can be placed very flexibly in terms of 
the timing and amount and adjusted to the respective 
market conditions. 

A balanced maturity structure with appropriate long-term 
financing ensures additional financing security. The finan-
cial liabilities reported in the Haniel Group’s Statement of 
financial position were EUR 1,680 million as at 31 Decem-
ber 2015. Of that amount, EUR 643 million is due in less 
than one year, EUR 914 million is due in one to five years, 
and EUR 123 million is due in more than five years. The 
majority of liabilities are denominated in euros. Liabilities 
in foreign currencies are primarily in US dollars.

Attractive financing terms secured
Haniel used two measures in the financial year just 
ended to further expand its financial leeway: First, the 
Holding Company further reduced the weighting of the 
Metro investment in Haniel’s portfolio and released fi-
nancial resources through the disposal of Metro shares. 
Second, the highly favourable capital market environ-
ment was leveraged to issue an exchangeable bond 
linked to Metro shares. The non-interest bearing bond 
will secure attractive financing conditions for Haniel over 
the next five years. The reduction of the shares in the 
METRO GROUP financial investment and the place-
ment of the exchangeable bond linked to Metro shares 
brought in EUR 1.0 billion for Haniel in 2015. Haniel used 
a portion of the proceeds from these transactions to 
acquire the Bekaert Textiles division.

The issue of the exchangeable bond increased the 
carrying amount of the outstanding bonds in the Haniel 

Group from EUR 0.5 billion at the end of 2014 to EUR 
0.9 billion as at 31 December 2015. In addition, the divi-
sions have increasingly financed themselves on the mar-
ket for promissory loan notes in recent years and thus 
broadened their financing base. At the end of 2015, the 
value of promissory loan notes, commercial paper and 
other securitised liabilities in the Haniel Group remained 
unchanged from the previous year’s value of EUR 0.2 bil-
lion. Additionally, the Bekaert Textiles, CWS-boco and 
ELG divisions maintain programmes for the continual 
sale of trade receivables to third parties.

Net financial position of the Group reduced
The net financial liabilities of the Haniel Group, i.e., 
financial liabilities less cash and cash equivalents, 
remained almost constant at EUR 1,338 million as at 
31 December 2015 compared to EUR 1,358 million at 
the end of 2014. The increased debt from the issue of 
the exchangeable bond linked to Metro shares as at 31 
December 2015 is offset by higher cash and cash equiv-
alents from short-term, temporary investment despite 
the acquisition of the Bekaert Textiles division. These 
financial resources were proceeds from the bond issue 
and the sale of Metro shares. In addition, the decline 
in inventories and trade receivables in the ELG division 
resulted in a lower financing requirement and hence to 
lower financial liabilities. 

The net financial position in the Haniel Group equals 
the net financial liabilities less the investment position 
of the Haniel Holding Company – excluding current and 
non-current receivables from affiliated companies. The 
net financial position declined from EUR 774 million 
to EUR 445 million due primarily to the Haniel Holding 
Company’s larger investment position as a result of the 
temporary investment of cash, in particular from the 
sale of the Metro shares, as well as from the issue of the 
exchangeable bond linked to Metro shares. 

At the level of the Haniel Holding Company, net financial 
liabilities increased from EUR 647 million to EUR 849 
million. This is offset by a portfolio of financial assets 
that will be used in the coming years to acquire addi-
tional divisions as well as to redeem outstanding bonds. 
Including current and non-current receivables from 
affiliated companies, the Haniel Holding Company had 
financial assets valued at EUR 1,158 million as at 31 De-
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cember 2015. The Haniel Holding Company thus remains 
de facto debt-free and has a solid financial buffer. 

Operating cash flow increased significantly
Haniel uses the performance indicator Haniel cash flow 
to assess the strength of its liquidity position in its 
current business activities. This indicator reveals the 
extent to which the Haniel Group generates sufficient 
financial resources through its current business activ-
ities to enable it to secure funding both for its current 
net assets* as well as its investing activities. Haniel cash 
flow increased from EUR 175 million in the previous year 
to EUR 329 million in 2015. One cause for the increase 
was that, in contrast to the previous year, the METRO 
GROUP paid out a dividend in 2015. Another contributor 
to the improvement in cash flow was the substantially 
lower finance costs as a result of the easing of the debt 
burden. In addition, the new Bekaert Textiles division is 
included for the first time and made a significant posi-
tive contribution to Haniel cash flow.

Cash flow from operating activities, which supplements 
Haniel cash flow in depicting the change in current net 
assets, amounted to EUR 451 million in 2015, and was 
thus higher than Haniel cash flow. This is attributable 
to the fact that the reduction of current net assets 
resulted in financial funds being freed up. A lower nickel 
price and a lower output tonnage in the ELG division in 
particular resulted in declining trade receivables and 

lower inventories. In the previous year, cash flow from 
operating activities amounted to EUR -135 million, less 
than the Haniel cash flow. This was due to the 2014 in-
crease in inventories, in terms of value and volume, and 
trade receivables at ELG in particular.

Higher investments through acquisition of Bekaert 
Textiles
Cash flow from investing activities in the 2015 finan-
cial year amounted to EUR -293 million because the 
outflows for investing activities significantly exceeded 
the proceeds from divestment activities. Payments for 
investments in property, plant and equipment, intangi-
ble and other assets, as well as for business acquisitions 
amounted to EUR 1,058 million. In addition to the invest-
ments by the divisions in property, plant and equipment 
and intangible assets, that figure primarily includes the 
acquisition of the new Bekaert Textiles division as well 
as the acquisition of companies by TAKKT and CWS-
boco. In addition, the payments for financial assets by 
the Haniel Holding Company increased investments. 
The payments compare to proceeds from divestment 
activities amounting to EUR 765 million. These primarily 
consisted of the proceeds from the sale of Metro shares 
and financial assets of the Haniel Holding Company.

Divestments in the prior-year period substantially ex-
ceeded investments so that the cash flow from invest-
ing activities amounted to EUR 779 million. That figure 
included payments of EUR 770 million – primarily for fi-
nancial assets through the Haniel Holding Company and 
for investments by the divisions in property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets. The proceeds from 
divestment activities of EUR 1,549 million in the previous 
year were extremely high due primarily to the sale of the 
Celesio division.

Cash flow from financing activities amounted to EUR 
72 million in the year under review. That figure includes 
proceeds from the issue of the exchangeable bond 
linked to Metro shares. That was offset by outflows from 

*  Net current assets consist essentially of trade receivables and inventories less trade payables.

EUR million 2014 2015

Haniel cash flow 175 329

Cash flow from operating activities -135 451

Cash flow from investing activities 779 -293

Cash flow from financing activities -1,093 72

+88%

2014

175 329

2015

+37%

2014

770 1,058

2015

HANIEL CASH FLOW
EUR million

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
EUR million
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the repayment of current financial liabilities, in particu-
lar against the backdrop of ELG division’s lower financing 
requirement. The cash flow from financing activities also 
includes the payment of dividends to the shareholders 
of Franz Haniel & Cie. GmbH amounting to EUR 40 mil-
lion – following EUR 30 million in the previous year. The 
cash flow from financing activities in the previous year 
of EUR -1,093 million contained the scheduled repay-
ment and redemption of bonds with a total principal 
amount of EUR 849 million.
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Haniel Group 
Assets and liabilities

2014

6,446

14%

62%

24%

6,847

2015

16% Current liabilities

23% Non-current liabilities

61% Equity

EQUITY AND LIABILITY STRUCTURE
EUR million

2014

6,446

26%

74%

6,847

2015

24% Current assets

76% Non-current assets

Consolidated statement of financial position

ASSET STRUCTURE
EUR million

Higher total assets
The Haniel Group’s total assets increased from EUR 
6,446 million as at 31 December 2014 to EUR 6,847 mil-
lion as at 31 December 2015. This increase resulted from 
non-current assets, which increased from EUR 4,784 
million to EUR 5,237 million. In particular, the acquisition 
of the new division Bekaert Textiles led to an increase in 
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. In 
addition, the reduction of the Metro investment resulted 
in a lower carrying amount of investments. This aspect 
was more than compensated for in non-current assets. 
This is because Haniel invested a portion of the financial 
assets received from the reduction in the shareholding 
and the issue of the exchangeable bond linked to Metro 
shares in non-current financial assets.

The acquisition of the Bekaert Textiles 
division in 2015 led to significantly 
higher recognised investments of the 
Haniel Group. In addition, financial as-
sets and cash increased through the re-
duction of the Metro investment and the 
issue of the exchangeable bond linked to 
Metro shares. The equity ratio continues 
to remain high, underscoring Haniel’s 
investment potential.

By contrast, the Group’s current assets declined 
slightly from EUR 1,662 million to EUR 1,610 million as at 
31 December 2015. The primary cause was the decline in 
the ELG division’s inventories and trade receivables as a 
result of lower raw materials prices and a lower output 
tonnage. The first-time inclusion of the Bekaert Textiles 
division and an increase in cash and cash equivalents 
as a result of the reduction of the Metro investment 
and the issue of the exchangeable bond linked to Metro 
shares had a counter effect. 

Equity ratio remains high
The equity of the Haniel Group increased from EUR 
3,973 million as at 31 December 2014 to EUR 4,169 mil-
lion as at 31 December 2015. This was in particular due 
to the profit after taxes as well as positive measurement 
effects from pensions and foreign currency translation. 
The equity ratio declined slightly from 62 per cent to 
61 per cent because not only did equity increase, but 
so, too, did total assets. The continuing high level of 
the equity ratio underscores the investment potential 
of the Haniel Group. Non-current liabilities remained 
virtually constant at EUR 1,573 million. By contrast, 
current liabilities increased from EUR 899 million to EUR 
1,105 million as at 31 December 2015. This was due to 
the increased financial liabilities: at the ELG division, the 
decline in inventories and trade receivables resulted in 
a lower financing requirement and hence a reduction in 
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current financial liabilities. However, this reduction was 
countered by the issue of the exchangeable bond linked 
to Metro shares. This exchangeable bond is presented 
under current financial liabilities because it is converti-
ble at any time by the bondholders.

Increase in recognised investments
The Haniel Group’s recognised investments increased 
from EUR 357 million in the previous year to EUR 1,104 mil-
lion during the 2015 financial year. This is attributable 
first and foremost to the acquisition of the new Bekaert 
Textiles division as well as to higher investments of the 
Haniel Holding Company in non-current financial assets. 
The acquisition of Post-Up Stand and BiGDUG by the 
TAKKT division also contributed to the increase. The pre-
vious year’s figure for recognised investments included 
acquisitions to only a minor extent.



+12%

2014

EMPLOYEES
Annual average (headcount)

11,544 12,930

2015

Increasing headcount through acquisitions
The number of employees in the Haniel Group increased 
by 12 per cent from 11,544 to 12,930, primarily as a result 
of business acquisitions. The key acquisition in the 2015 
financial year was the acquisition of Bekaert Textiles by 
the Haniel Holding Company, which increased the head-
count of the Haniel Group by 1,466 employees. 

In financial year 2015, the number of employees at 
CWS-boco remained stable overall at 7,563 versus 7,529 
in the previous year. The expansion of sales operations, 
the new laundry in Croatia and increases in capacity at 
the central warehouse and service location in Poland 
added to the headcount. By contrast, the number of 
employees in Italy fell as a consequence of the closure 
of laundries. 

Despite the difficult financial year for ELG, the head-
count in this division also remained stable at 1,282 

compared to 1,267 in the previous year. Positive devel-
opments of the Carbon Fibre business segment led to 
an incremental hiring of employees. At ELG Utica Alloys, 
the superalloys business, recycling capacities were also 
expanded and new sites launched operations. By con-
trast, headcount in the stainless steel scrap segment 
was reduced slightly.

The average number of employees at TAKKT declined 
from 2,528 to 2,403. This was caused by the disposal of 
the Plant Equipment Group. The decline in the head-
count resulting from the sale could not be offset by the 
increases resulting from the acquisitions of the compa-
nies Post-Up Stand and BiGDUG.

Fostering a better combination of careers and family life
The Haniel Management Board acknowledges that diver-
sity is a strategic success factor for the future viability 
of Haniel. Shaping general conditions in particular, also 
in the light of the German Act to Promote Equal Partici-
pation of Women and Men in Management Positions, 
represents a focus of activity here. Depending on the 
location, there are various offerings in the companies of 
the Haniel Group that open opportunities for improving 
a better combination of careers and family life. Accord-
ingly, for the 2016 financial year, the Management Board 
of Franz Haniel & Cie. GmbH has resolved not to go 
below the percentage of women already reached for the 
Haniel Holding Company of 10.00 per cent for the first 
management level and of 6.25 per cent for the second 
management level. Likewise, the company will, at a min-
imum, maintain the current percentage of women on the 
Management Board and the Supervisory Board of Franz 
Haniel & Cie. GmbH in the 2016 financial year.

Haniel Group 
Employees
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The acquisition of the new division 
Bekaert Textiles increased the head-
count of the Haniel Group significantly 
in the 2015 financial year. While the 
average number of employees was 11,544 
in the previous year, the number of em-
ployees in 2015 averaged 12,930.
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Holding Company Franz Haniel & Cie.

Portfolio restructuring successfully continued
The Haniel Holding Company acquired Bekaert Textiles 
in the 2015 financial year. The company operates as an 
independent division within Haniel’s portfolio. In addition 
to this expansion of the portfolio, the reduction of the 
Metro investment from 30.01 per cent to 25.00 per cent 
took an additional important step towards balancing the 
investment portfolio. At the same time, Haniel placed an 
exchangeable bond linked to Metro shares with a term 
until 2020 so that an additional reduction of the propor-
tional interest held is possible.

Following the portfolio measures in 2015, Haniel intends 
to invest more than EUR 1 billion in the acquisition 
of additional new divisions in the coming years. As a 
family-equity company, Haniel pursues a long-term 
investment approach. The focus is on well-positioned 
companies in attractive niche sectors that, together with 
Haniel, can expand their leading market position and 
make a contribution to the diversification of the overall 
portfolio. In addition, Haniel gives preference to the 
acquisition of controlling interests in non-listed compa-
nies. In line with Haniel’s objective of being “enkelfähig”, 
the only candidates for acquisition are companies which 
already make a positive contribution to the environment 
and society through their sustainable actions, or which 
will be able to do so in the future. 

Financial assets higher than net financial liabilities
The reduction of the shares in the METRO GROUP finan-
cial investment and the placement of the exchangeable 
bond linked to Metro shares brought in EUR 1.0 billion for 
Haniel in 2015. The exchangeable bond secures for the 

As a family-equity company, the Haniel 
Holding Company* pursues the goal 
of developing a diversified portfolio of 
well-positioned companies, each with 
leading market positions. Haniel came a 
step closer to this goal with the acquisi-
tion of the new Bekaert Textiles division 
in 2015. At almost the same time, the 
portfolio weighting of the Metro invest-
ment was further lessened by a reduc-
tion of the interest.

Company the outstanding financing terms in the capital 
market environment at the issue date for the next five 
years. The Holding Company used EUR 266 million of 
the proceeds generated to acquire the shares in Bekaert 
Textiles. Haniel invested the remaining cash in a financial 
asset portfolio that was established with the sale of the 
Celesio investment in 2014. The financial assets held in 
this portfolio will be utilised in coming years to acquire 
additional divisions as well as to redeem outstanding 
bonds. As at 31 December 2015, taking into account 
current and non-current receivables from affiliated com-
panies, there were financial assets valued at EUR 1,158 
million versus net financial liabilities amounting to EUR 
849 million. The Haniel Holding Company thus remains 
de facto debt-free and has a solid financial buffer.

Over the mid- to long-term, after acquiring new divi-
sions, Haniel is expecting net financial liabilities to be 
about EUR 1 billion. In addition to financing through the 
capital markets, these liabilities will be covered by exist-
ing, currently unused credit facilities at banks. However, 
the major part of financing is and remains the equity 
made permanently available by the family shareholders.

Market value of the portfolio increased 
The value of the Haniel investment portfolio – including 
financial assets and minus the remaining net financial 
liabilities at the Holding Company level – amounted to 
EUR 4,887 million at the end of financial year just ended. 
It was therefore higher than the EUR 4,428 million re-
ported at the end of 2014 due in particular to the share 
prices of the listed portfolio companies being higher. 
The value of the investment portfolio is calculated as 
the sum of the valuations of the divisions, the METRO 
GROUP financial investment, financial assets and other 
assets, less net financial liabilities. Listed divisions 
and the financial investment are valued on the basis of 
three-month average share prices, while the remainder 
of the divisions are valued on the basis of market mul-
tipliers, and for the financial assets, on the basis of fair 
values as at the reporting date. 

Rating opinions expanded
Haniel submits itself to external rating assessments vol-
untarily, thus ensuring broad access to capital markets. 
Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s had already raised their 
ratings to BB+ and Ba1, respectively, in 2013. In 2014, 

*  Incl. the Holding Company’s financing and service companies. You can find the financial statements of the Franz Haniel & Cie. subgroup  
under “Creditor Relations” at www.haniel.de.



Standard & Poor’s added a positive outlook to its opinion 
and confirmed it in the first half of 2015. In order to offer 
its investors an additional external rating opinion, Haniel 
obtained a rating by the European rating agency, Scope. 
The BBB- rating was published in February 2016 and 
hence given an investment grade rating. This estimate 
is based on the consistent portfolio restructuring, the 
search for suitable divisions based on clear criteria as 
well as Haniel’s conservative financial policy. These 
important qualitative rating drivers are supplemented 
by the solid development of the material quantitative 
factors influencing the Holding Company’s ratings, 
market value gearing and cash cover, which are gener-
ally in the range required for an investment grade rating. 
Market value gearing is the ratio of net financial debt to 
the value of Haniel’s investment portfolio. Cash cover 
indicators give the ratio of cash inflows to cash outflows 
at the level of the Haniel Holding Company. For example, 
the total cash cover is calculated as the ratio between 
cash inflows from dividends and profit transfers and the 
outflows for ongoing Holding Company costs, interest 
and dividends to the Haniel family. 

Earnings contribution of the Holding Company slightly 
better
The Haniel Holding Company’s contribution to operating 
profit improved in 2015 due to income from the reversal 
of provisions no longer needed.
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Bekaert Textiles

REVENUE*
EUR million

REVENUE*
by region

139

2015 2015

 54% Americas

 31% Europe

 15% Asia/Pacific

* The figures refer to the period from June 2015 through December 2015.

Market position further expanded
Bekaert Textiles is a growth-oriented company that 
seeks the long-term expansion of its global market 
position through both organic growth and acquisitions. 
This growth will be achieved in existing regional markets 
on the one hand, but also by entering new, as yet not-
tapped markets. In addition to the search for attractive 
acquisition targets, the division’s emphasis in its first 
months as a member of the Haniel Group was on organi-
cally strengthening its market position.

Supported by a growing mattress market, in 2015 
Bekaert Textiles succeeded in further expanding its 
position in the market segment for mattress textiles. 
The decidedly positive business development in the 
US, Argentina and Asia contributed in particular to that 
achievement. This success was due to the company’s 

consistent focus on quality, service, and innovation. This 
understanding of the business is also followed in a tar-
geted sales approach: As part of a 360-degree approach 
centred on the customers’ needs, Bekaert Textiles has 
in-depth discussions with customers on all decisive 
corporate levels in order to use specific solutions to 
increase added value for the customers. Among the key 
departments included in the customer dialog are Sales 
& Marketing, Design, Development, Finance, but also 
Production, Logistics and Procurement. Beyond this, the 
company further improved its go-to market strategy and 
invested in its sales force, mainly in emerging markets in 
order to expand the geographical reach.

The market for mattress textiles is characterised by a 
long-term trend towards higher-value materials, which 
is attributable in particular to the increasing prosperity 
and the concomitant readiness to purchase upmarket 
mattresses. The upmarket materials include primarily 
knitted mattress textiles because – in addition to special 
product characteristics such as promoting health – 
these textiles enable the use of sophisticated, three- 
dimensional designs. Due to its many years’ experience 
with knitted textiles, Bekaert Textiles can benefit from 
this trend and hence from high growth rates and higher 
margins in this product area.

Cost initiatives successfully continued
In addition to focusing on sales, the company continued 
two initiatives in 2015 to reduce costs by leveraging the 
international setup of the company. Lean manufacturing 
has been rolled out to all production facilities and has 
increasingly delivered savings. In addition, the cen-
tralisation and standardisation of yarn purchases was 
an important part of the procurement initiative. With 
the growing share of centrally sourced yarns, Bekaert 
Textiles managed to increase its buying power and 
further reduce yarn prices. Low oil prices and favourable 
capacities with its suppliers also had a positive effect on 
the company’s costs.

Encouraging revenue and operating profit
In a positive market environment and supported by the 
strategic initiatives, Bekaert Textiles generated revenue 
of EUR 139 million from June to December 2015. The 
revenue trend was encouraging, driven by the compa-
ny’s solid business growth, first and foremost in the US, 

Bekaert Textiles, the world’s leading 
specialist for the development and 
manufacturing of woven and knitted 
mattress textiles, was added to the 
Haniel Group’s portfolio in June 2015. 
The company has continued its previous 
growth path since that time, with both 
revenue and operating profit coming in 
significantly positive.
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OPERATING PROFIT*
EUR million

EMPLOYEES*
Annual average (headcount)

16

2015

1,466

2015

Argentina and Asia. The growing demand for knitted 
mattress textiles also contributed to that achievement. 
Its share of total revenue amounted to almost 50 per 
cent in 2015. The remaining revenue shares were attrib-
utable primarily to woven mattress textiles, but also to 
a small extent to other products such as ready-made 
mattress covers.

Development of operating profit at Bekaert Textiles 
was encouraging amounting to EUR 16 million in the 
period from June to December 2015. In addition to the 
increased share of upmarket and thus higher-margin 
mattress textiles, the procurement initiative introduced 
and the lean manufacturing initiative made a positive 
contribution to this result. Operating profit was weighed 
down by the scheduled amortization arising from the 
purchase price allocation amounting to EUR 5 million. 
Adjusted for the scheduled amortization arising from 
the purchase price allocation, the operating profit was 
EUR 21 million. Overall, the performance of Bekaert Tex-
tiles exceeded expectations and was downright positive 
in 2015.
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CWS-boco

+4%

2014

REVENUE
EUR million

REVENUE
by division

751 779

2015 2015

 51% Washroom hygiene/mats

 49% Textile services

CWS-boco further intensified its sales 
initiatives in the 2015 financial year and 
was thus able to increase revenue year 
on year. The higher costs related to the 
sales initiative were more than compen-
sated for by increases in efficiency in 
the laundries and the supply chain. At 
EUR 75 million, CWS-boco’s operating 
profit once again surpassed the previ-
ous year’s level. 

Sales and cleanroom business strengthened
CWS-boco further strengthened its sales function in the 
2015 financial year and again increased the number of 
sales employees. In addition, the division also enhanced 
the Sales Excellence programme: sales employees go 
through a variety of training units over a twelve-month 
period and are supported by an experienced mentor 
during the programme. After the first participants suc-
cessfully completed the programme in Germany in 2014, 
in 2015 it was adapted for the individual service lines of 
CWS-boco and rolled out in additional countries. 

CWS-boco also further expanded its competitive posi-
tion in the growth market of the cleanroom business in 
Germany. The acquisition of Zahn HiTex near Munich ini-
tiated in the previous year was successfully completed 

in 2015. The division’s cleanroom laundries service the 
growing demand for cleanroom apparel primarily in the 
microelectronics and pharmaceuticals industries.

Launch of operating own paid washrooms
The 2015 financial year also saw CWS-boco succeed 
in new business activities: an important new business 
comprises various service offers around high-quality 
public washrooms that are available to users for a fee. 
CWS-boco participated successfully in tender invita-
tions for the operation of public washrooms in several 
countries. For example, in the Netherlands, CWS-boco 
together with its joint venture partner, Sanifair, won the 
bid for the operation of high-quality washrooms at major 
rail stations.

CWS-boco invests in laundries and IT landscape 
CWS-boco continued modernising its European-wide 
laundry network in 2015 and closed laundry locations 
in Italy. By contrast, new laundries were opened in 
Germany, Croatia and Poland. These are based on a 
highly flexible laundry concept which not only improves 
the quality of services but also significantly reduces the 
use of resources. In addition, the focus was on further 
optimising both existing and new locations.

In addition, the division kicked off the implementation of 
a multi-year project to renew its IT systems. The objec-
tive of this project is to realise high, uniform standards 
of customer service and processes within the company 
with the help of a software application that is used 
throughout Europe. In addition, this software application 
is designed to support the cross-border integration of 
warehouse and service processes.

Positive revenue development
Revenue of CWS-boco in 2015 was EUR 779 million, 
4 per cent over the previous year’s value. In addition to 
currency effects, smaller acquisitions, such as the one 
of Zahn HiTex, had a positive impact. Adjusted for these 
effects, revenue increased by 2 per cent compared to 
the previous year. 

Revenue in CWS-boco’s core service business – the 
rental service for workwear, washroom hygiene products 
and dust control mats – increased by 2 per cent adjusted 
for acquisitions and currency translation effects. The 
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expansion of the sales function has shown a positive 
impact in terms of new business. In addition, CWS-
boco further improved customer loyalty and once again 
reduced cancellation rates for all product segments 
compared to the previous year. This was due to the 
improvement in the quality of services, intensified cus-
tomer support as well as an improvement in complaint 
and cancellation management. 

CWS-boco supplements its service business by selling 
consumables, such as soap, disinfectant and paper, as 
well as dispensers and workwear. Adjusted for currency 
translation effects and acquisitions, revenue in this 
trade business in 2015 was 2 per cent below the previous 
year’s level.

Increased operating profit
Operating profit at CWS-boco in 2015 was EUR 75 mil-
lion, EUR 4 million over the previous year’s value. The 
higher costs related to the sales initiative were more 
than compensated for by increased efficiency in operat-
ing processes. The ongoing modernisation of the laundry 
network and supply chain were of particular importance 
for this.



Group report of the Management Board / Report on business situation / Wholly-owned investment ELG

58

ELG

-17%

2014

REVENUE
EUR million

REVENUE
by sales region

2,213 1,827

2015 2015

 50% Europe

 30% Americas

 20% Asia

ELG held its ground comparatively well 
in a very difficult market environment. 
Nevertheless, revenue and operating 
profit dropped sharply compared to the 
previous year. This is attributable first 
and foremost to historically low com-
modity prices as well as a lower output 
tonnage for stainless steel scrap. The 
superalloys business performance was 
heterogeneous: while the toll processing 
business had a stabilising effect, the 
trade business came under pressure.

Difficult market environment for stainless steel
Global stainless steel production in the 2015 financial 
year ranged below the previous year’s level for the first 
time since 2009. A substantial cause for the declining 
quantity was the weaker overall economic demand 
in China. Quantities also declined in ELG’s two most 
important sales markets – Europe and the US. In addition 
to the weaker domestic demand for stainless steel 
products, production in the US suffered from increased 
imports from China where half of the world’s stainless 
steel is produced. In Europe, stainless steel mills saw 
weaker demand from their customers. Additionally, there 
was a massive decline in the price of nickel, the most 
valuable element in stainless steel, due to the world-

wide oversupply of primary nickel as well as diminished 
economic expectations.

Global trading in stainless steel scrap was also impacted 
by the continually declining price of nickel. On the one 
hand, this led to a noticeably lower availability of scrap 
on the procurement market than in the previous year 
because many suppliers held back scrap in view of the low 
price level and in expectation of increasing prices. Further-
more, the competitiveness of primary nickel compared to 
stainless steel scrap grew due to prices. Overall, this situ-
ation had a negative impact on ELG’s stainless steel scrap 
output tonnage, which fell by 12 per cent year on year. 

Historically low commodity prices
The price of nickel declined continually since the begin-
ning of the year and closed the financial year at USD 8,700 
per tonne – the lowest level since 2003. It averaged USD 
11,800 per tonne, 30 per cent below the previous year’s 
price level. In addition, the prices of iron and chrome 
ranged significantly below the previous year’s level in 
2015. The price of iron dropped by 40 per cent during the 
course of the financial year, the price of chrome by 15 per 
cent. In addition to the decline in quantity, the stainless 
steel scrap business therefore also had to cope with a 
substantial deterioration of commodity prices of the most 
important stainless steel components.

Toll processing stabilises superalloys business
In financial year 2015, the superalloys tonnage in the 
ELG Utica Alloys business segment increased by 6 per 
cent year on year. In this regard, ELG Utica Alloys bene-
fited from business development in the toll processing 
business, first and foremost by entering into new con-
tracts with the aviation industry. By contrast, the trade 
business was well below the previous year’s level due 
to the declining demand in the energy generation and 
petrochemicals industries. 

The shifting of volume to the toll processing business had 
a stabilising effect on the business because ELG Utica 
Alloys generates these revenues largely independently 
of commodity prices. By contrast, development of prices 
of commodities significant to the trade business varied: 
while the nickel price and other raw material prices de-
clined, the relevant titanium price increased significantly 
compared to the previous year.
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Sharp drop in output tonnage, revenue and 
operating profit
ELG’s overall output tonnage dropped sharply compared 
to the previous year. In conjunction with the considera-
bly lower price of nickel and other relevant commodities, 
this led to a 17 per cent decline in revenue to EUR 1,827 
million. ELG’s operating profit also dropped and fell into 
the negative to EUR -6 million in the 2015 financial year, 
which in the previous year amounted to EUR 59 million. 
Lower revenue and the lower margin in the stainless 
steel scrap business negatively impacted the operating 
profit. The decline in margins is attributable to the fierce 
competition on the sales side, the high level of purchase 
prices on the procurement side, and the losses in value 
of inventories through continually declining commodity 
prices. The losses in value of iron, chrome and molybde-
num were especially grave because no hedging trans-
actions can be concluded for these alloy components. 
Additionally, the operating profit was reduced by a 
provision recognised for an earlier business acquisition, 
which was increased due to stricter environmental reg-
ulations. ELG held its ground comparatively well despite 
the extremely difficult market environment.

Strict cost management and capacity adjustments
In the stainless steel scrap market segment, ELG coun-
tered the difficult environment with strict cost man-
agement. As a result of the closure of German stainless 
steel plants as well as the commissioning of a stainless 

steel plant in the US, ELG has also adjusted its location 
network to the changed materials flows.

The increased demand for superalloy scrap resulted in a 
high capacity utilisation in ELG Utica Alloys’ superalloys 
business. The segment therefore expanded its recycling 
capacities and launched new operating locations. 

Further expansion of Carbon Fibre business segment
The Carbon Fibre business segment acquired in 2011 
developed positively year on year. Its activities focused 
on the expansion of the product development and sales 
functions. 
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The TAKKT division benefited in 2015 
from continuing good business in the US 
and the strong US dollar. Both revenue and 
operating profit increased significantly. 
In the 2015 financial year, TAKKT drove 
forward its further development into an 
integrated multi-channel company, took 
up further digitalisation along the entire 
value chain as a key strategic topic, and 
expanded its portfolio with the acquisition 
of two strong growth companies.

TAKKT continues expansion course 
In 2015, TAKKT strengthened its portfolio with the 
acquisition of Post-Up Stand in the US and BiGDUG in 
the UK. Post-Up Stand is a leading specialist for custom-
ised printed marketing material and is therefore a good 
addition to the successful display business within the 
Specialties Group in North America. The acquisition of 
BiGDUG, the leading online retailer of business equip-
ment in the UK, strengthened the Business Equipment 
Group’s business. In addition to this expansion of the 
portfolio, TAKKT successfully completed the sale of the 
low-profit Plant Equipment Group in North America.

TAKKT’s revenue increased by 8 per cent in 2015 to EUR 
1,064 million, thus exceeding the EUR 1 billion mark 

for the first time. The acquisitions of Post-Up Stand 
and BiGDUG contributed to this growth, as did positive 
currency translation effects, in particular due to the 
stronger US dollar. By contrast, the closure of Topdeq, 
which was completed in the previous year, and the sale 
of the Plant Equipment Group had a negative impact. 
Adjusted for these effects, revenue grew by 5 per cent.

Adjusted for acquisitions, currency effects, and the 
closure of Topdeq, revenue at TAKKT EUROPE was 
1 per cent over the previous year’s level. The Packaging 
Solutions Group recorded slight revenue growth. The 
Business Equipment Group also posted slightly positive 
development. However, the worse business climate in 
Switzerland as a result of the strong Swiss franc had a 
particularly negative impact as reflected in restrained 
capital spending by TAKKT customers.

Adjusted for acquisitions and currency translation 
effects, TAKKT AMERICA increased revenue by 10 per 
cent in a continuing positive business climate in the US. 
Both the Specialties Group and the Office Equipment 
Group posted encouraging development. The Specialties 
Group’s business benefited from high growth at Central, 
the direct marketing specialist in restaurant equipment. 
At the Office Equipment Group, the high demand from 
private companies as well as US state government insti-
tutions had a positive effect.

Operating profit improved 
TAKKT increased its operating profit from EUR 111 million 
in the previous year to EUR 129 million. This resulted pri-
marily from the positive business development of TAKKT 
AMERICA as well as a positive earnings contribution 
from the sale of the Plant Equipment Group. In addition, 
TAKKT benefited from the strong US dollar. Earnings 
at TAKKT EUROPE were below the previous year’s level 
due to a lower gross margin – in particular in Switzer-
land, where business was burdened by the discounted 
currency.

Focused on multi-channel sales function and 
digitalisation 
TAKKT is integrating various sales channels in order to 
address customers as needed: through the catalogue, 
online, by telephone and via employees in the external 
sales force. To that end, TAKKT launched the DYNAMIC 
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initiative in 2012 with the goal of focussing business 
activities even more strongly on the multi-channel sales 
approach. DYNAMIC originally comprised approximately 
50 projects, which are individually tailored to the subsid-
iaries in question, and of which some have already been 
successfully concluded. Additional overall progress was 
made in the transformation in 2015 as well. For example, 
the e-commerce business was further expanded: its 
share of total revenue increased from 30 per cent in the 
previous year to 36 per cent in 2015. 

Beyond its successes in e-commerce, digitalisation is 
a key strategic topic for TAKKT – thereby issues along 
the entire value chain are examined. The objective is to 
specify the opportunities of digitalisation such that they 
deliver direct benefits for customers, business partners 
and the company itself. As part of the DYNAMIC initia-
tive, TAKKT has tackled the initial digital topics such as 
greater digital integration of suppliers. Aside from this, 
more is being invested in IT systems, thus ensuring that 
the company also has high-performance technical plat-
forms going forward. Additional options for digitalisation 
will be aggregated in a digital agenda in 2016 which 
TAKKT will implement in the coming years. 
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In 2015, the METRO GROUP financial in-
vestment made great strides in focusing 
its portfolio with the sale of the Galeria 
Kaufhof sales line and the METRO Cash 
& Carry activities in Vietnam. Revenue, 
adjusted for business acquisitions and 
disposals as well as currency transla-
tion effects, was increased. Currency 
translation effects negatively impacted 
this positive business development, 
reducing revenue and operating profit 
before one-offs. Haniel’s investment 
result from the METRO GROUP bene-
fited from disposal gains from the sales 
of Galeria Kaufhof and METRO Cash & 
Carry Vietnam, and was significantly 
above the previous year.

Galeria Kaufhof and METRO Cash & Carry Vietnam sold
The METRO GROUP focused its portfolio in 2015, selling 
the Galeria Kaufhof sales line to the Canadian Hudson’s 
Bay Company and the METRO Cash & Carry activities 
in Vietnam to TCC in Thailand. The proceeds from both 
disposals reduced the METRO GROUP’s debt markedly 
and enable greater investments in the remaining sales 
lines in order to ensure future profitable growth. 

The METRO GROUP also made significant progress with 
respect to its strategic initiatives in 2015. For example, 
delivery revenue at METRO Cash & Carry as well as reve-
nue generated online at Media-Saturn increased by sub-
stantially more than 10 per cent each. In addition, the 
METRO GROUP expanded its involvement in the start-up 
segment and fostered potentially trailblazing digital 
and technological innovations for gastronomy with the 
“Techstars METRO Accelerator”. Additionally, Media-Sat-
urn’s “Spacelab” supports young innovative companies 
with respect to Media-Saturn’s entire value chain – from 
the logistics application to innovative accessories. 

Revenue increased organically
The METRO GROUP’s revenue amounted to EUR 58,991 
million in 2015 – excluding the Galeria Kaufhof sales line, 
which is presented as a discontinued operation and is 
therefore not included in either revenue or operating 
profit. Revenue was hence 1 per cent below the previous 
year’s level due to negative currency translation effects 
and disposals of companies. Organic revenue growth – 
like-for-like; adjusted for business acquisitions and 
disposals and currency translation effects – amounted 
to 1 per cent.

Revenue at Metro Cash & Carry fell by 2 per cent. This 
was primarily due to negative currency translation 
effects – in particular as a result of the exchange rate 
trend of the Russian rouble. In addition, the lack of 
revenue contributions due to the sale of the activities 
in Vietnam and Greece as well as the discontinuance of 
locations in Denmark added to this decline. In contrast, 
a positive impact was driven by new store openings, 
in particular in Russia and India, as well as by a slight 
organic revenue growth. Positive developments in 
several southern European countries as well as the 
strong holiday shopping season in Germany contributed 
to this growth. A sharper focus on the needs of pro-
fessional customers enabled, among other things, the 
further successful expansion of the delivery business. 
An important milestone was the takeover of Classic Fine 
Foods, a leading provider in the growing grocery delivery 
business, in particular in Asia.

Media-Saturn increased revenue by 2 per cent – despite 
negative currency translation effects – in particular as 
a result of a weaker Russian rouble. Decisive here was 
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the opening of new sites, primarily in eastern Europe, 
and significant organic revenue growth. In Germany and 
western Europe, Media-Saturn benefited from success-
ful marketing efforts and was able to add market shares 
during the holiday shopping season in particular. The 
multi-channel offering was also further expanded. In 
addition to pure online sales, it also comprises pick-up 
in stores. This is gaining increasing acceptance by 
customers and has now established itself as an integral 
component of Media-Saturn’s business.

The Real sales line is now active solely in Germany fol-
lowing the sale of the eastern European business which 
was completed in the previous year. Real modernised 
additional locations in 2015 and intensified marketing 
efforts in order to improve the customer’s perception 
of Real and its competitiveness. Nevertheless, revenue 
fell by 5 per cent due to the loss of revenue contribu-
tions from sold eastern European business. In addition, 
growth declined in Germany due to location closures as 
well as a weak business in non-food items. 

Operating profit after one-offs improved
The positive organic revenue development at METRO 
Cash & Carry and Media-Saturn led to an earnings 
contribution from the METRO GROUP that exceeded 
the prior-year contribution. However, negative currency 
translation effects caused the operating profit before 
one-offs to amount to EUR 1,448 million, below the pre-
vious year’s level of EUR 1,508 million.

Higher one-off expenses were incurred in 2015 as com-
pared to the previous year due to the impairment loss 
on goodwill at Real Germany. These were offset by the 
net disposal gain from the sale of METRO Cash & Carry 
activities in Vietnam. On an aggregate level, one-offs 
came in significantly lower. After one-offs, the operating 
profit therefore improved from EUR 1,017 million to EUR 
1,076 million.

Higher earnings contribution for Haniel 
The higher operating profit had a proportionately pos-
itive impact on the investment result the Haniel Group 
derives from the METRO GROUP. The net disposal gain 
from the sale of Galeria Kaufhof also resulted in an in-
crease in the result. By contrast, the May 2015 reduction 
of Haniel’s interest in METRO AG to 25.00 per cent re-

duced the investment result. Overall, the Haniel Group’s 
investment result from the METRO GROUP increased 
significantly from EUR 14 million in the previous year to 
EUR 57 million in 2015.



Group report of the Management Board / Supplementary report

64

Supplementary report

With effect from 29 February 2016, the Bekaert Textiles 
division acquired all shares in the DesleeClama Group, 
which is domiciled in Belgium. DesleeClama is also a 
leading and established company for the development 
and manufacturing of mattress textiles. The purchase 
price amounted to EUR 92 million. In financial year 2015, 
DesleeClama generated more than EUR 100 million in 
revenue.

No further reportable events took place after the report-
ing date.
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Report on opportunities and risks

Being a successful entrepreneur means exploiting opportunities that present them-
selves and dealing with risk appropriately. The objective is to identify both opportuni-
ties and risks for the Haniel Group’s business development early on, to analyse them 
in detail and take measures accordingly. 

Exploiting opportunities to increase 
value

In the Haniel Group, opportunities are viewed as entrepre-
neurial courses of action that must be leveraged in order 
to attain additional profitable growth. Opportunities are 
identified primarily by continually observing markets. To 
that end, both the Holding Company and the operating 
divisions collect and analyse market, trend and com-
petitor information. As a result, Haniel is in a position to 
identify trends and requirements on often fragmented 
markets early on and to advance innovations.

Opportunity management is closely integrated into the 
process of strategy development. As part of strategic 
planning, entrepreneurial options are systematically eval-
uated and initiatives are developed in order to use these 
options to increase value. In the next step, strategic initi-
atives are specified in detail in operational planning and 
actions are derived.

The strategy and its implementation are discussed in 
depth by the members of the Haniel Management Board 
with the management of the divisions in regularly sched-
uled discussions. Over and above that, the Holding Com-
pany’s strategy is continuously reassessed. On that basis 
the Holding Company realigns its business portfolio by 
making acquisitions and disposals if necessary. To that 
end, the Management Board engages in regular dialogue 
with the Supervisory Board.

Options for sustainable and profitable 
growth

The Haniel Group enjoys a large number of options for 
entrepreneurial action. The Holding Company and divi-
sions continually search for possibilities that secure sus-
tainable and profitable growth. The opportunities identi-
fied in the Haniel Group are listed below:

Optimising the business portfolio: Haniel continually 
reviews the strategic alignment of its portfolio. New 
divisions should be able to make a long-term value con-
tribution to the economic success of the Group and be 
in accordance with its ecological and social values. The 
Holding Company follows two parallel approaches in 
this regard. On the one hand, it analyses the potential of 
various sectors and markets on the basis of global mega-
trends with the objective of identifying and contacting 
attractive companies. On the other hand, the Holding 
Company continually reviews current takeover offers. 
Based on this, the Haniel investment portfolio will be 
developed further by business acquisitions and disposals 
in order to enhance value creation while always maintain-
ing a solid financing structure.

International expansion: All Haniel divisions are widely 
represented in Europe, and Bekaert Textiles, ELG and 
TAKKT in North America as well, and enjoy a strong posi-
tion there with their various business models. Haniel sees 
opportunities for further growth by strengthening its 
presence in these markets and in the fast-growing econo-
mies throughout the world. These markets include those 
in eastern Europe, Latin America and Asia. Opportunities 
for expansion can be leveraged by founding new compa-
nies or acquiring existing ones.

Sustainability as a competitive factor: Corporate 
Responsibility has a long tradition in the Haniel Group. It 
is expressed in its striving to increase economic value in 
accordance with ecological and social contributions. In 
order to live up to this vision, Haniel has identified three 
action areas in the field of sustainability: employees, 
value chain and innovation. Each of the divisions and the 
Holding Company are responsible for improving on these 
areas of emphasis, regardless of their respective business 
model and taking into account their unique features, with 
the overarching objective of developing the potential 
for additional profitable growth. You can find detailed 
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information on the subject of sustainability in the Haniel 
Group in the “Corporate Responsibility” section starting 
on page 30. 

Digitalisation: Digitalisation is profoundly changing the 
behaviour of private consumers and business custom-
ers. It is creating new ways to use existing technologies 
while providing room for the completely new. 3D printing, 
Industry 4.0, cloud computing, big data and mobile stand 
for the digital transformation. For the Haniel Group, 
digitalisation offers great opportunities along the value 
chain, at the customer interface and for developing new 
business models. For instance, powerful product config-
urators and flexible manufacturing methods such as 3D 
printing make it possible to offer individualised products 
to the “masses”. In addition, the availability of large 
volumes of data opens up possibilities for transforming 
value chains and improving the customer offering. Each 
of Haniel’s divisions is working on its digital agenda, 
which will enable them to better leverage the opportu-
nities that digitalisation offers. Haniel has established 
Schacht One, a separate company that will function as a 
platform for implementing digital projects.

Multi-channel activities: Continuing digitalisation 
gives rise to growth opportunities through the consist-
ent expansion of METRO GROUP’s retail and wholesale 
activities and of TAKKT’s mail-order business into a mul-
ti-channel business. These growth opportunities at the 
METRO GROUP reside in the dovetailing of the stationary 
business with the e-commerce activities. The METRO 
GROUP can create real added value for the customer on 
this basis. TAKKT, the specialist mail-order company, is 
strengthening its existing distribution channels, includ-
ing catalogue, telemarketing, field service and e-com-
merce, and improving the links between them. TAKKT is 
thus developing into a multi-channel company, whose 
offerings are present wherever customers inform them-
selves about products and make purchasing decisions. 
This is opening up opportunities for additional growth.

Increasing demand for raw materials: ELG’s core 
business is the trading and recycling of raw materials, 
particularly for the stainless steel market segment. 
Growth opportunities for ELG result from increasing 
global demand for stainless steel products that is antic-
ipated over the medium and long term. It must also be 

assumed that ELG Utica Alloys, the superalloys business, 
will continue to gain significance. In this sector, ELG 
recycles very high-grade materials. These include in par-
ticular titanium scrap and high-alloy, nickel-containing 
scrap which are used in, e.g., the aviation and aerospace 
industry as well as in the energy generation industry. 
ELG has strengthened this area of operations by making 
acquisitions in recent years, thus significantly expanding 
its foundation for future growth. In addition to trading in 
stainless steel scrap and superalloys, ELG is active in the 
nascent business of recycling carbon fibres. ELG is plan-
ning to expand this innovative business model further.

Rising standard of living: Demand for high-quality 
mattresses which foster the health and wellbeing of the 
person sleeping on them can be expected to increase 
in markets with a high level of prosperity. The mattress 
textiles developed and produced by Bekaert Textiles play 
a key role in satisfying the rising quality demands with 
respect to design and product features of mattresses. 
Additionally, in the developing markets, particularly 
in Asia, rising prosperity offers medium and long-term 
growth opportunities stemming from the increase in 
demand for mattresses. Thanks to its local presence 
there and its broad product range, Bekaert Textiles can 
participate in this development.

From an overall perspective, there remain a number 
of opportunities open to the Haniel Group for sustain-
able and profitable growth in the future. In particular, 
the Haniel Holding Company has sufficient financial 
resources available to acquire new, attractive divisions – 
offering many new opportunities.

Systematic risk management

The objective of the risk management system at the 
Haniel Group is a forward-looking evaluation of risks with 
respect to the overriding corporate objectives of value 
creation, growth and liquidity. The purpose is to identify 
those risks at an early stage that negatively impact stra-
tegic and operating initiatives and hence the realisation 
of value and growth potential or that endanger having 
adequate liquidity available at all times. This does not 
mean avoiding all potential risks. Rather, risks should be 
identified early so that rapid and effective countermeas-
ures can be taken or conscious decisions can be made to 
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take on manageable ones – thereby also to exploit entre-
preneurial opportunities.

Haniel’s risk management system is based on an inte-
gration concept and accordingly comprises multiple 
components. The Holding Company stipulates the scope 
of activities for the key components and sets minimum 
central requirements which must be implemented at the 
discretion of each of the divisions, as suiting the individ-
ual business models.

The organisational structure for risk management is 
defined throughout the Group and includes all divisions. 
At the level of the divisions, the controlling or Internal 
Auditing departments coordinate risk identification and 
are responsible for risk assessment as part of corporate 
planning. Identified risks are discussed by the Risk Man-
agement Board with the participation of the Manage-
ment Board, and any need for additional action to man-
age risks is examined. Furthermore, there is also a Risk 
Management Committee at the Holding Company level 
in which the Management Board and the heads of all cor-
porate and staff departments are represented. This body 
serves above all to foster a cross-disciplinary exchange of 
information on the risks faced by the Holding Company. 
The Risk Management Officer at the Holding Company 
level coordinates the risk identification process across 
all divisions and is responsible for further developing the 
early risk identification system.

In connection with the strategic and operational plan-
ning process, material risks and measures for their miti-
gation are identified. A risk is defined as the danger of a 
negative deviation from the planned or expected devel-
opment. The identified risks are systematically assessed 
with regard to their probability of occurrence and amount 
of damage, with measures for avoiding or mitigating the 
risks and provisions already recognised incorporated as 
part of the assessment. The identified risks are discussed 
in the planning meetings by the Management Board of 
the Holding Company and the management of the divi-
sions. The risks are subsequently discussed in greater 
detail in the Risk Management Board. In addition to this 
risk analysis, a risk inventory is conducted at the Holding 
Company level. The results are discussed by the Risk 
Management Committee. The Haniel Group risk report 
is prepared based on the divisions’ risk reports and the 

Holding Company’s risk inventory. The members of the 
Management Board discuss the findings and inform the 
Audit Committee about the Group’s overall risk situation 
and about significant individual risks.

As part of their reporting of revenue and results during 
the period, the divisions submit not only key financial fig-
ures but also company-specific non-financial figures and 
issues to the Holding Company so that undesirable devel-
opments can be detected in good time. This reporting is 
supplemented by risks that exceed defined thresholds.

An additional element of risk management is the ongo-
ing collection and analysis of information on markets, 
trends and competitors.

Investment controlling comprises annual budgeting as 
well as the regular review of the capital spent. Capital 
spending projects are assessed using uniform discounted 
cash flow (DCF) calculations. Minimum risk-adequate 
rates of return are specified for each division and each 
strategic business unit.

Financial risk reporting and management include 
liquidity risks, default risks, risks resulting from changes 
in interest and exchange rates, and price fluctuations 
in the commodity markets. The objective is to avoid or 
limit financial risks. To that end, the Holding Company 
has laid out general principles for financial risk manage-
ment. These principles are prescribed in guidelines for 
the treasury departments of the Holding Company and 
the divisions. In addition, the Holding Company has spe-
cial guidelines for the investment of financial resources. 
The management of financial risks is explained in detail 
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements 
starting on page 127.

The internal control system is designed to ensure that 
existing regulations for risk reduction are adhered to at 
all levels within the Group. This is intended to ensure the 
functionality and cost-effectiveness of business processes 
and to counteract impairments of assets. The internal 
control system is implemented in the Holding Company 
and divisions according to their specific business models, 
and incorporates both process-integrated and process-in-
dependent control measures. It covers all significant busi-
ness processes including the accounting process.
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The compliance management system comprises pre-
ventative measures designed to ensure compliance with 
statutory and internal corporate rules and regulations. 
To that end, Haniel has prescribed uniform minimum 
standards throughout the Group. Compliance risks in 
the Group are systematically captured and evaluated as 
part of the compliance management system, and dis-
cussed between the management of the divisions and 
Management Board of the Holding Company. A hotline 
for reporting possible compliance violations is also a 
component of the compliance management system. 
In addition, training sessions with examinations are 
held on compliance issues. Furthermore, the divisions 
and Holding Company each have compliance officers 
who serve as employee liaisons to help clarify poten-
tial issues.

The Internal Auditing departments in the divisions and 
the Holding Company are integrated into the risk man-
agement system. They monitor the processes within the 
companies of the Haniel Group, in particular from the 
perspectives of operating performance, cost-effective-
ness and adherence to statutory regulations and inter-
nal guidelines. These efforts also include monitoring the 
implementation and effectiveness of the risk manage-
ment system, including the internal control system and 
the compliance management system. In its risk-orien-
tated audit plan, Internal Auditing also takes account 
of the information from the risk inventory and examines 
significant risk issues where necessary.

Corporate bylaws and regulations derived from them 
ensure that the elements of the risk management sys-
tem are adhered to and applied in the intended manner 
in the Haniel Group in accordance with statutory provi-
sions. Codes of conduct for the Holding Company and 
the divisions supplement these regulations. They set 
forth the fundamental principles of conduct for employ-
ees, based on practised value concepts.

The effectiveness of the risk management system is 
monitored regularly and improvements are introduced 
where necessary.

In 2015, the auditors were again commissioned by the 
Supervisory Board to subject the Group’s early risk identi-
fication system to a voluntary audit analogously to § 317 

(4) of the German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch, 
“HGB”). The auditor verified the suitability of this system.

Clearly defined risk fields

A prerequisite of systematic risk management is that risks 
are identified in a timely fashion. The central, currently 
identified risks to which the Haniel Group is anticipated to 
be exposed to over the short- and medium-term are listed 
below. The identified risks are assigned to ranges in terms 
of their probability of occurrence and amount of dam-
age, with the amount of damage presented as a possible 
impact on profit per year. Risk mitigation countermeas-
ures are incorporated before assigning risks to the ranges. 
By combining the two criteria – probability of occurrence 
and amount of damage – the individual risks are allocated 
to the following categories in the Haniel risk matrix: “sig-
nificant risks”, “material risks” and “other risks”. The cen-
tral, identified risks are presented below broken down by 
these categories, commencing with “significant”:

Equity interests: Haniel holds a substantial equity inter-
est in the METRO GROUP in particular. Factors that exert 
an unfavourable influence on the consolidated profit of 
METRO AG also have a negative effect on Haniel Group’s 
net investment income or could have a negative effect 
on the carrying amount of the investment. This risk in the 
Haniel Group must be classified as significant due to the 

Potential  
amount  
of damage
EUR million

HANIEL RISK MATRIX

 Significant risks  Material risks  Other risks

Highly 
unlikely

Unlikely 50-50 Likely Probability  
of occurrence

> 50

20 – 50

10 – 20

5– 10
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size of the interest in the METRO GROUP. Risks to which 
the METRO GROUP is exposed arise in particular from 
changes in consumption patterns and customer expec-
tations of retailers, as well as increasing competitive 
pressure from e-commerce. If the METRO GROUP fails to 
react appropriately to these challenges and fails to suc-
cessfully implement the transformation projects it has 
launched, this may have a detrimental impact on its busi-
ness development. In addition, a deterioration of the mac-
roeconomic environment and an erroneous assessment 
of markets for international expansion could also have a 
negative effect on METRO GROUP’s business. The task of 
managing these risks primarily falls to the management 
of the METRO GROUP. As the largest shareholder, Haniel 
supports management in managing these risks through 
representation on the Supervisory Board and by exercis-
ing ownership rights in the Annual General Meeting.

Corporate strategy: Corporate strategy risks can arise 
above all from the erroneous assessment of future devel-
opments in the market and competitive environment. 
Erroneous assessments can also relate to the attractive-
ness of new regional markets or to the future feasibility 
of business models overall. The Haniel Group counters 
this risk by conducting in-depth analyses of the markets 
and competitors and by holding regular strategy discus-
sions between the Management Board of the Holding 
Company and the management teams of the divisions. In 
addition, the diversified portfolio of business fields helps 
to mitigate the effects of adverse developments in indi-
vidual sectors. However, the high relevance of strategic 
decisions to success means that the related risks in the 
Haniel Group count among the material risks.

Business acquisitions and disposals: In order to effec-
tively counter risks associated with corporate transac-
tions, investments and divestitures are carefully exam-
ined before their conclusion – including the assistance 
of qualified external consultants – and are evaluated 
using uniform DCF rate of return calculation methods. 
An acquired company is subsequently integrated into 
the Haniel Group on the basis of detailed timetables and 
action plans as well as clearly defined responsibilities. 
Additionally, the success of previously executed business 
acquisitions is reviewed on a regular basis. If, despite all 
diligence, the objectives envisaged with an acquisition 
are not or only partially attained, impairment losses on 

goodwill and other assets may be necessary. In the case 
of business disposals, the resulting commitments remain-
ing in the Group are regularly monitored and assessed. 
In connection with the disposal of the previous Xella divi-
sion, this also includes claims asserted in litigation arising 
from allegedly defective sand-lime bricks from previous 
Haniel building materials plants. The risks resulting from 
business acquisitions and disposals are material risks due 
to the high significance of portfolio management in the 
Haniel Group and the inherently related imponderables. 

Overall economic development: The demand for the 
divisions’ services and products is also influenced by 
overall economic developments. However, the extent and 
timing of this dependency varies in the divisions: While a 
weakening economy directly impairs business develop-
ment at Bekaert Textiles, ELG and TAKKT, at CWS-boco it 
is felt to a comparatively lesser extent and after a delay. 
This is due to the long-term nature of the contracts with 
customers in CWS-boco’s core rental business. Overall 
economic development represents a material risk even 
though the diversification of the Haniel business portfolio 
and its presence in various regions mitigates the effects 
of economic fluctuations. The strong market position of 
the individual divisions, comprehensive product and ser-
vice offerings, a heterogeneous customer base and flexi-
ble capacities and cost structures also mitigate risks.

Human Resources: The corporate success of the Haniel 
Group is dependent largely on the expertise and commit-
ment of its employees. Executives must exhibit the nec-
essary competence, experience and personality in order 
to make and implement correct decisions in the sense 
of a value-driven and long-term development of their 
departments. Accordingly, the selection of executives 
who do not meet these requirements and who make poor 
decisions can noticeably impair the Company’s success-
ful development. That is why the Haniel Group strives to 
recruit qualified staff, to provide them with continuing 
education and to foster their long-term loyalty to the 
Company. To that end the Haniel Group offers attractive 
compensation models and conducts regular succession 
planning aimed at filling jobs which become available 
with qualified internal candidates. But above all, the 
Haniel Group invests in the continuing education of its 
employees: The internal Haniel Academy offers specialists 
and managers from the Group seminars and modular pro-
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grammes for interdisciplinary continuing education and 
to strengthen their leadership skills. The programmes in 
the Haniel Leadership Curriculum prepare emerging man-
agement talent, experienced executives and top man-
agers for future challenges and management tasks. You 
can find detailed information on training and continuing 
education in the Haniel Group in the “Corporate Respon-
sibility” section starting on page 30. Overall, risks from 
Human Resources are deemed to be material.

Information technology: Well-functioning IT systems 
tailored to strategy represent a necessary precondition 
for Haniel Group’s operating activities and administrative 
departments. Insufficient customisability of IT systems 
may entail significant competitive disadvantages when 
strategic requirements change. Haniel Holding and the 
divisions therefore review their IT strategy regularly and 
modernise or replace systems if required. In order to 
counter risks that are inextricably linked with such proj-
ects, systematic and substantiated selection processes 
and modern project management methods are applied 
when introducing new IT systems. Furthermore, the 
ongoing use of IT systems entails the risk of an outage 
and the risk of unauthorised data access or manipu-
lation. In addition to heightened security awareness 
of employees, professionally organised IT operations 
prevent such risks from materialising. There are uniform 
minimum standards throughout the Group for IT opera-
tions. In compliance with these standards, Haniel Hold-
ing and the divisions have additional emergency systems 
available, perform regular backups of relevant data and 
ensure that unauthorised persons cannot access IT sys-
tems. Overall, the risks resulting from information tech-
nology in the Haniel Group are considered material.

Commodity prices: The ELG division’s performance is 
considerably influenced by the price trend for commod-
ities – particularly for nickel, which is in turn affected by 
economic developments in the industry. Price hedges 
using derivative financial instruments stabilise business 
development at ELG, as does the broad geographic distri-
bution of commodity flows in both procurement and dis-
tribution. Nevertheless, fluctuations in commodity prices 
remain a material risk due to the business model.

Receivables: Given the nature of the sector in which 
it operates, ELG in particular delivers its products to a 

small number of very large customers. In some instances 
this can lead to extensive receivables per customer. In 
order to limit the risks resulting from non-payment, ELG 
has a comprehensive receivables management system, 
systematically obtains default insurance to cover this 
risk where possible and sells accounts receivables within 
the context of forfaiting programmes. Even after factor-
ing in these countermeasures, the default on receivables 
represents a material risk.

Exchange rates: Because the Haniel Group has business 
activities of a considerable scope in countries that do not 
use the euro as the local currency, its operating business 
and financing transactions are subject to exchange rate 
fluctuations, which could have a negative impact on the 
Haniel Group’s profit. On the one hand, this concerns trans-
action risks that arise primarily from earning revenue and 
incurring the accompanying costs in different currencies. 
On the other hand, there are translation risks that stem 
from translating income and expenses in other currencies 
into euros. While translation risks are generally not hedged 
against exchange rate fluctuations, the Group uses a vari-
ety of hedging instruments to limit transaction risks. These 
are explained in detail in the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements starting on page 130. In the Haniel 
Group, exchange rate risks are among the material risks, in 
particular with regard to the unhedged translation risks.

Interest rates and financing: Changes in interest rates 
can result in higher financing costs and thus have an 
adverse effect on profits. In this regard, changes in the 
market interest rate must be differentiated from the 
change in the margin that must be paid in addition to the 
market rate. The Group uses a variety of hedging instru-
ments to limit the risks from fluctuations in market inter-
est rates. These are explained in detail in the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements starting on page 129. 
Long-term credit agreements, promissory loan notes and 
bonds are appropriate forms of financing for limiting the 
volatility of interest margins. In the case of such financing, 
the interest margin also depends on the Holding Com-
pany’s rating. This is based on the market value gearing, 
that is, the ratio between net financial liabilities and the 
market value of the investment portfolio as well as the 
cash flow at the Holding Company level. In addition, the 
number and weight of the individual equity investments in 
the Haniel investment portfolio influence the rating.
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Financing requirements for the operating business are 
secured in the Haniel Group through equity and debt 
capital. When outside financing is used, the Company 
seeks to diversify its financing instruments and its circle 
of investors in order to be able to respond flexibly to 
developments on the capital markets and in the banking 
sector. In addition to committed bilateral lines of credit, 
which are drawn upon only to a limited extent, capital 
market programmes at the Holding Company, such as 
the Debt Issuance Programme, are updated regularly. 
When financing with borrowed capital, it is of benefit 
that the Holding Company and its divisions, both as 
established and reliable partners, enjoy a high degree of 
trust from banks and other investors. The Haniel Group 
is thus able to ensure the continuation of the operating 
business, even if for example economic conditions cause 
declines in incoming payments from business activities.

Regarding the temporary investment of financial 
resources following the disposal of the Celesio division in 
2014, there is, in principle, a risk that a counterparty will 
become insolvent and hence a risk of a loss of receiva-
bles. To counter that risk, Haniel divides the investments 
among a large number of contracting parties and sets 
limits corresponding to their creditworthiness. This is 
documented in the guidelines for the investment of finan-
cial resources and is regularly monitored. 

In the Haniel Group, risks from interest rates and financ-
ing are currently of comparatively minor significance and 
thus counted among the other risks.

Compliance: The Haniel Group’s business activities are 
subject to statutory and internal corporate rules and 
regulations. A failure to comply with these rules and 
regulations may damage the Company’s reputation and 
may jeopardise its economic success. In order to pre-
vent compliance risks effectively, the Haniel Group has 
established a comprehensive compliance management 
system. For this reason compliance risks are classified 
as other risks.

Litigation: Neither Franz Haniel & Cie. GmbH nor any 
of its current subsidiaries are involved in ongoing or 
currently foreseeable litigation that could have a signif-
icant impact on the Group’s assets or financial position 
or results.

No risks jeopardising the going concern 
assumption

The Haniel Group’s risk situation has changed since the 
previous year, primarily as a result of the acquisition of 
Bekaert Textiles. However, risks accompanying the new 
division only change the Group’s overall risk situation to a 
small degree: No risks have been added specifically from 
the Bekaert Textiles business model which could be cate-
gorised as significant, material or other risks.

Considered separately, the risks presented could have 
adverse effects on the Haniel Group. With regard to 
the overall risk situation, however, the diversification of 
business models and regions has a positive effect: Many 
risks are restricted to individual divisions or regions and 
are therefore of comparatively minor significance in 
relation to the Group as a whole. Where risks inherently 
affect all divisions and the Holding Company, it can be 
assumed that they do not impact all business units in 
the same manner and at the same time. This diversifi-
cation therefore results in the Haniel Group being well 
prepared with respect to identifiable risks.

There are no recognisable individual or aggregate risks 
which jeopardise the Group as a going concern, nor are 
there any noteworthy future risks beyond the normal 
entrepreneurial risk. For Haniel, the risks presented are 
also accompanied by numerous opportunities for sus-
tainable, profitable growth.

Controlled accounting processes

The Haniel Group applies an internal control and risk 
management system to its accounting processes. 
The purpose is to ensure that its financial reporting 
is reliable and that the risk of misstatements in the 
external and internal Group Reports is minimised. Mis-
statements are most likely to originate from complex 
transactions or consolidation procedures, mass trans-
actions, the materiality of individual items of the finan-
cial statements, the use of discretion and estimates, 
unauthorised access to IT systems, and inadequately 
trained employees. Checks are performed regularly 
to determine the extent to which these factors can 
jeopardise the integrity of the consolidated financial 
statements.



Group report of the Management Board / Report on opportunities and risks

72

In order to counter potential risks, the Haniel Group 
installed an internal control system that seeks to ensure 
the reliability and propriety of the financial reporting pro-
cesses, compliance with the relevant statutory and inter-
nal regulations, and the efficiency and effectiveness of 
procedures. However, even an appropriate and functional 
internal control system cannot guarantee that all risks 
will be identified and avoided. The Haniel Group’s internal 
control system is based on the COSO publication “Internal 
Control-Integrated Framework”. COSO is the Committee 
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

The existing risk and control structure is systematically 
recorded and documented. For this purpose, the most 
important risk fields are regularly updated and checked 
on the basis of clearly defined qualitative and quantita-
tive materiality criteria. In the event of changed or newly 
emerged accounting-related risks or identified control 
weaknesses, it is the divisions’ responsibility, in coordina-
tion with Corporate Accounting, to implement appropriate 
control measures at the earliest possible opportunity. The 
effectiveness of the defined controls is checked and doc-
umented at regular intervals by means of self-assessment 
on the part of the controlling officers or their supervisors. 
The results of these self-assessments are subject to 
regular validation by independent third parties. Responsi-
bility for establishing and supervising the internal control 
system lies with the Management Board. In addition, the 
Audit Committee monitors the system’s effectiveness.

The Haniel Group is distinguished by its clear and decen-
tralised management and corporate structure. The local 
accounting processes are managed by the divisions, 
each of which prepares its own subgroup financial state-
ments. The management of the entities included in the 
subgroups controls and monitors the risks concerning 
the operational accounting processes. The Group com-
panies are responsible for compliance with the guide-
lines and procedures that apply throughout the Group. 
They are also answerable for the proper and timely flow 
of their accounting processes. They are supported in that 
respect by Corporate Accounting.

Corporate Accounting prepares the consolidated financial 
statements and the Group report of the Management 
Board. The relevance of ongoing developments of the IFRS 
standards and other applicable statutory provisions and 

their impact on the consolidated financial statements and/
or the Group report of the Management Board is continu-
ously assessed. The Management Board and Group com-
panies are informed, as necessary, of any consequences on 
consolidated reporting. Financial reporting is governed by 
accounting guidelines applicable throughout the Group, 
a uniform Group chart of accounts, and a financial state-
ments calendar applicable throughout the Group. The 
accounting guidelines are updated annually, considering 
relevant changes in the law. There are binding provisions 
and uniform instruments for complex issues, such as good-
will impairment testing and the measurement of deferred 
taxes. Outside experts are brought in if required, for exam-
ple, to measure pension obligations or to prepare expert 
opinions on the purchase price allocation for acquisitions.

The Haniel Group’s formal analysis and reporting process 
seeks to ensure that the information contained in the 
published annual report is reliable and complete. Corpo-
rate Accounting performs analytical checks in order to 
identify potential errors in consolidated reporting. The 
checks are documented and reviewed according to the 
principle of dual control. A detailed timetable and fixed 
responsibilities apply for the preparation of accounts.

Standardised and centrally managed IT systems are used 
to prepare the consolidated financial statements. This 
applies to consolidation at all stages of the Haniel Group 
and to the process of preparing the notes to the financial 
statements. The closing process is supported by numer-
ous validations. The IT systems used in the accounting 
department are protected against unauthorised access. 
Separations of functions and change management sys-
tems are installed.

As an important element of internal process monitoring 
that is independent of the relevant processes, the Inter-
nal Auditing departments are responsible for systemat-
ically auditing and independently assessing the internal 
control systems.

As part of the audit of the consolidated annual financial 
statements, external auditors report on their material 
audit findings and any weaknesses in the internal control 
system relating to the entities included in the financial 
statements.
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Report on expected developments

The Haniel Group expects to be able to significantly increase its operating profit in 
financial year 2016 while revenue – adjusted for acquisitions and currency translation 
effects – remains at the same level as in the previous year. Its profit before taxes and 
profit after taxes will thus also be appreciably higher.

Macroeconomic environment uncertain and situation 
in stainless steel market segment remains difficult
The International Monetary Fund (IMF) expects gross 
domestic product to grow globally by 3.4 per cent in 
2016, which would thus be just above the 2015 level of 
3.1 per cent. Economic development in the key markets 
of Haniel’s divisions is expected to remain stable: For 
instance, growth in the US is expected to remain sta-
ble at 2.6 per cent in 2016 (previous year: 2.5 per cent) 
and the US is expected to remain a key driver of global 
growth. In addition, following euro zone growth of 1.5 
per cent in 2015, the IMF is forecasting growth of 1.7 
per cent for 2016. Germany in particular will contribute 
to this trend, with 1.7 per cent growth. With respect to 
developing and emerging economies, the IMF is fore-
casting 6.3 per cent growth in China in 2016 (previous 
year: 6.9 per cent). As a result, not only will additional 
positive momentum for the global economy be lost, but 
also this slowdown in China and other developing and 
emerging economies will increasingly erode expecta-
tions of market participants: For instance, the Organ-
isation for Economic Cooperation and Development 
(OECD) has already revised its forecast downwards 
and expects certain industrialised countries – particu-
larly the US – to experience slightly lower growth rates 
instead of a stable trend.

Aside from the general economic situation, the devel-
opment of the stainless steel market segment is of 
crucial significance to ELG. Global stainless steel pro-
duction is particularly dependent on the general eco-
nomic trend and on Chinese demand for stainless steel 
products – both remain uncertain. It is assumed that 
global stainless steel production will trend sideways. In 
Europe, stainless steel production is even expected to 
decrease slightly. The price of nickel, the key raw mate-
rial in the stainless steel business, fell dramatically in 
2015. Prices are currently not expected to recover any 
time soon. 

In an economic environment which is forecasted to 
remain stable overall yet uncertain, Haniel’s Manage-
ment Board believes that there are imponderabilities for 
2016 arising not only from the difficult market environ-
ment for stainless steel: In addition, several political and 
economic developments have the potential to contribute 
to a significant worsening of the economic trend around 
the world. These include above all conflicts in the Arabic 
and African regions, the stability of the European Union, 
the development of the financial markets and commod-
ity prices – particularly the price of oil – and a sharper 
economic decline in China.

Since the various divisions are active internationally, the 
results of the Haniel Group also depend on the devel-
opment of various exchange rates, particularly the US 
dollar, the British pound and the Swiss franc. In addition, 
the investment result from Metro is impacted signifi-
cantly by the development of the Russian rouble.

Deviations from the assumed economic development 
and the future exchange rates compared to the planning 
assumptions may significantly change the forecasts for 
revenue and profit.

Higher operating profit in all divisions
In addition to the economic environment, continuing 
efforts to implement strategic initiatives by the divisions 
are expected to have a positive effect on the Haniel 
Group’s business development in 2016.

For the Bekaert Textiles division it is projected that it 
will generate revenue of around EUR 250 million for the 
2016 financial year – adjusted for business combinations 
and disposals as well as currency translation effects. 
This significant increase is attributable on the one hand 
to the first-time inclusion of the division in the Haniel 
Group over an entire year. On the other hand, the contin-
ued increase in market share on the company’s primary 
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markets and the successful expansion of business with 
mattress covers in North America and higher sales of 
knitted fabrics are expected to affect revenue positively. 
The operating profit is expected to track the revenue 
trend and amount to approximately EUR 30 million. It 
should be taken into account that this operating profit 
is weighed down by the scheduled amortisation arising 
from the purchase price allocation amounting to EUR 
9 million in financial year 2016.

At CWS-boco, revenue growth adjusted for acquisitions 
and currency translation effects is expected to grow by 
a low single-digit percentage in 2016. This increase is 
attributable mainly to the expansion of the sales force. 
The higher costs for investments in the future, such 
as the expansion of the sales force, new services and 
innovations which are expected to have a positive effect 
on revenue in the future, will still weigh down profits in 
2016 and only in subsequent years will this result in a 
positive contribution to earnings. It can nevertheless be 
assumed that in financial year 2016 CWS-boco’s oper-
ating profit will improve slightly year on year. Additional 
measures to modernise the international laundry net-
work and the systematic optimization of the operations 
will contribute to that increase.

The ELG division expects the market environment to 
remain difficult in 2016 in terms of the relevant com-
modity prices and demand. Based on the assumption of 
global stainless steel production at the same level as in 
the previous year, ELG expects its own output tonnage 
to increase in the single-digit percentage range. ELG ex-
pects its superalloys trade business to stabilise in 2016 
and demand for superalloys toll processing to remain 
high. Thus, an increase in output tonnage for superalloys 
is expected in the low double-digit percentage range. 
ELG expects the price of nickel, a key commodity for 
its business, to remain at the low level recorded at the 
end of 2015. This will result, on average, in a lower price 
in 2016 than in 2015, when the price of nickel was USD 
11,800 per day on average. Based on these assumptions, 
ELG expects revenue – adjusted for business acquisi-
tions and disposals and currency translation effects – to 
decrease slightly. By contrast, ELG’s operating profit is 
expected to increase and be positive again. This fore-
casted improvement in earnings as compared to 2015 is 
expected to result from the absence of one-offs as well 

as to the absence of losses in value of inventory items in 
particular. This effect results from a continuous drop in 
prices for commodities and significantly weighed down 
ELG’s operating profit in 2015. As development on the 
commodity markets is very volatile, ELG’s revenue and 
operating profit may also deviate significantly from this 
forecast, however.

Adjusted for business acquisitions and disposals and for 
currency translation effects, the TAKKT division expects 
revenue to increase in the single-digit percentage range. 
In addition to a stable economic environment in the US 
and Europe, TAKKT primarily expects its sound business 
development to continue in the high-growth Ameri-
can business models. Operating profit is expected to 
increase moderately. In 2016, the systematic implemen-
tation of the growth initiatives launched as part of the 
DYNAMIC programme will continue. Among other things, 
the various sales and marketing channels will be better 
coordinated with each other in order to further improve 
the sales approach. Moreover, TAKKT intends to begin 
developing and implementing its digital agenda. The 
purpose of the digital agenda is to identify additional 
untapped potential to digitalise the business model and 
the business opportunities arising from that. 

Result from the Metro investment expected to remain 
at same level as previous year
The forecast for the financial investment in the 
METRO GROUP is for slight organic revenue growth – 
like-for-like; adjusted for business acquisitions and dis-
posals and currency translation effects. This growth will 
be driven by the Metro Cash & Carry and Media-Saturn 
sales lines. The METRO GROUP will continue its strong 
focus on efficient structures and strict cost control. A 
slight increase in operating profit before one-off factors 
and adjusted for currency translation effects is therefore 
expected for 2016.

By contrast, Haniel’s investment result from the Metro 
investment is expected to be at the same level as in 
the previous year. The lower level of debt is likely to 
result in an improvement in net financial income at 
the METRO GROUP. However, a comparable amount of 
positive one-off income, such as from the sale of Metro 
Cash & Carry Vietnam and Galeria Kaufhof in 2015, is 
not expected in 2016. 



Significant increase in operating profit at Haniel Group
Overall, Haniel’s Management Board expects the Group’s 
revenue, adjusted for business acquisitions and disposals 
and currency translation effects, to be at the same level 
in financial year 2016 as in the previous year. This fore-
cast assumes that a decrease in revenue at ELG can be 
offset by higher revenue at all other divisions. Operating 
profit is expected to experience a significant increase, 
driven by higher operating profit at every division. 

Both profit before taxes and profit after taxes are also 
expected to increase sharply. This development is also 
reflected in the value-oriented KPIs return on capital 
employed and Haniel value added. Haniel’s Management 
Board expects the 2016 return to be higher than in 2015 
and the costs of capital to be virtually the same. This 
will result in a slight increase in Haniel value added. This 
assumption also results in a slight increase in return on 
capital employed. Haniel cash flow will also increase 
slightly as compared to 2015 thanks to the positive 
trend.

For the existing business, Haniel’s Management Board 
plans capital expenditure for property, plant and equip-
ment and intangible assets to be up slightly year on 
year. Besides replacement investments this increase 
will be especially driven by the further modernisation 
of the IT systems of CWS-boco and TAKKT. At the level 
of the Haniel Holding Company – as well as at the divi-
sions – the focus will continue to remain on acquisition 
activities. This will have a material influence on the vol-
ume of capital expenditure, as it had in 2015.

Haniel’s Management Board is confident that the 
expected revenue and earnings trend for the Haniel 
Group will deviate positively from the presented devel-
opment with the acquisition of new divisions or supple-
mentary acquisitions by the existing divisions.

Group report of the Management Board / Report on expected developments
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Asset structure
EUR billion

Equity and liability structure
EUR billion

6.8 6.8

 24% Current assets
 76% Non-current assets

 16% Current liabilities
 23% Non-current liabilities
 61% Equity



78
80
81
82
83
84

86

86
98

122
127

Statement of financial position
Income statement
Statement of comprehensive income
Statement of changes in equity  
Statement of cash flows
Segment reporting

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
General basis of presentation
Notes to the statement of financial position
Notes to the income statement
Other notes



Consolidated financial statements

78

Haniel Group
Statement of financial position

ASSETS

EUR million Note 31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014

Property, plant and equipment 1 547 479

Intangible assets 2 1,389 1,041

Investments accounted for at equity 3 2,562 3,012

Financial assets 4 659 188

Other non-current assets  32 29

Deferred taxes 5 48 35

Non-current assets  5,237 4,784

    

Inventories 6 480 579

Trade receivables 7 401 407

Financial assets 8 231 397

Income tax assets 5 36 48

Cash and cash equivalents 9 342 111

Other current assets 10 118 91

Assets held for sale 11 2 29

Current assets 1,610 1,662

Total assets 6,847 6,446
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EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

EUR million Note 31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014

Equity of shareholders of Franz Haniel & Cie. GmbH  3,943 3,790

Non-controlling interests  226 183

Equity 12 4,169 3,973

    

Financial liabilities 13 1,037 1,076

Pension provisions 14 323 335

Other non-current provisions 15 81 110

Other non-current liabilities  17 2

Deferred taxes 5 115 51

Non-current liabilities  1,573 1,574

    

Financial liabilities 13 643 392

Current provisions 15 95 103

Trade payables and similar liabilities 16 137 151

Income tax liabilities 5 22 18

Other current liabilities 17 208 226

Liabilities held for sale 11 0 9

Current liabilities  1,105 899

Total equity and liabilities  6,847 6,446
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Haniel Group
Income statement

EUR million Note 2015 2014

Revenue 18 3,808 3,944

Changes in inventories and own work capitalised  8 -1

Gross revenue  3,816 3,943

Cost of materials  2,414 2,617

Gross profit  1,402 1,326

Other operating income 19 28 33

Total operating income  1,430 1,359

Personnel expenses 20 612 561

Other operating expenses 21 453 419

  365 379

Depreciation and amortisation  172 162

Impairment of goodwill  0 0

Operating profit  193 217

    

Result from investments accounted for at equity  57 14

Other investment result  0 0

Finance costs 22 89 209

Other net financial income 23 13 9

Net financial income  -19 -186

    

Profit before taxes  174 31

Income tax expenses 24 54 59

Profit after taxes from continuing operations  120 -28

Profit after taxes from discontinued operations 25 0 714

Profit after taxes  120 686

of which attributable to non-controlling interests  41 44

of which attributable to shareholders of Franz Haniel & Cie. GmbH  79 642
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Haniel Group
Statement of comprehensive income

EUR million Note 2015 2014

Profit after taxes  120 686

    

Remeasurements of defined benefit plans recognised in other comprehensive income  25 -81

Deferred taxes on remeasurements of defined benefit plans recognised in other comprehensive 
income  -8 24

Remeasurements of defined benefit plans  17 -57

Pro-rata other comprehensive income not to be reclassified to profit or loss from investments 
accounted for at equity  45 -100

Total other comprehensive income not to be reclassified to profit or loss  62 -157

    

Income and expenses recognised in equity from remeasurement of derivative financial 
instruments  0 -7

Reversals recognised in profit or loss  4 22

Deferred taxes on remeasurement of derivative financial instruments  -1 -4

Remeasurement of derivative financial instruments  3 11

Income and expenses recognised in equity from remeasurement of financial assets available for 
sale  -2 1

Reversals recognised in profit or loss  0 -1

Deferred taxes on remeasurement of financial assets available for sale  1 0

Remeasurement of financial assets available for sale  -1 0

Income and expenses recognised in equity from foreign currency translation  37 37

Reversals recognised in profit or loss  2 130

Currency translation effects  39 167

Income and expenses recognised in equity from changes recognised directly in equity of invest-
ments accounted for at equity  -5 -107

Reversals recognised in profit or loss  34 0

Other comprehensive income from investments accounted for at equity  29 -107

Total other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit or loss and reversals recognised 
in profit or loss  70 71

    

Total other comprehensive income  132 -86

of which attributable to non-controlling interests  14 9

of which attributable to shareholders of Franz Haniel & Cie. GmbH  118 -95

    

Comprehensive income 12 252 600

of which attributable to non-controlling interests  55 53

of which from discontinued operations  0 14

of which from continuing operations  55 39

of which attributable to shareholders of Franz Haniel & Cie. GmbH  197 547

of which from discontinued operations  0 841

of which from continuing operations  197 -294
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Haniel Group
Statement of changes in equity

CHANGES IN 2015

EUR million Subscribed 
capital

Capital  
reserve

Accumulated 
other com-
prehensive 

income

Retained 
earnings

Treasury 
shares

Equity of 
shareholders 

of Franz Haniel 
 & Cie. GmbH

Non- 
controlling 

interests

Equity

As at 1 Jan. 2015 1,000 678 -590 2,709 -7 3,790 183 3,973

Dividends    -40  -40 -12 -52

Changes in 
the scope of 
consolidation   40 -40  0  0

Changes in 
shares in com-
panies already 
consolidated     0 0

Capital measures      0  0

Changes in  
treasury shares     -4 -4  -4

Comprehensive 
income   118 79  197 55 252

As at 31 Dec. 2015 1,000 678 -432 2,708 -11 3,943 226 4,169

CHANGES IN 2014

EUR million Subscribed 
capital

Capital  
reserve

Accumulated 
other com-
prehensive 

income

Retained 
earnings

Treasury 
shares

Equity of 
shareholders 

of Franz Haniel 
 & Cie. GmbH

Non- 
controlling 

interests

Equity

As at 1 Jan. 2014 1,000 678 -572 2,174 -5 3,275 1,281 4,556

Dividends    -30  -30 -11 -41

Changes in 
the scope of 
consolidation   77 -77  0 -1,140 -1,140

Changes in 
shares in com-
panies already 
consolidated     0  0

Capital measures      0  0

Changes in  
treasury shares     -2 -2  -2

Comprehensive 
income   -95 642  547 53 600

As at 31 Dec. 2014 1,000 678 -590 2,709 -7 3,790 183 3,973

For further explanatory comments concerning equity, see note 12.
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Haniel Group
Statement of cash flows

The cash flow from operating activities includes dividends received in the amount of EUR 88 million (previous year: 
EUR 1 million), interest income of EUR 20 million (previous year: EUR 9 million) and interest payments of EUR 85 mil-
lion (previous year: EUR 223 million). EUR 53 million was paid in income taxes (previous year: EUR 61 million).

EUR million Note 2015 2014

Profit after taxes  120 686

Depreciation and amortisation, impairment losses and reversals on non-current assets  172 162

Change in pension provisions and other non-current provisions  -27 -6

Income/expenses from changes in deferred taxes  1 13

Non-cash income/expenses and dividends of investments accounted for at equity  31 -14

Gains/losses from the disposal of non-current assets and consolidated companies and from  
remeasurement for changes in shares  -6 -696

Other non-cash income/expenses and other payments  38 30

Haniel cash flow  329 175

    

Change in inventories, receivables and similar assets  195 -212

Change in current non-interest-bearing liabilities, current provisions and similar liabilities  -73 -98

Cash flow from operating activities  451 -135

    

Proceeds from the disposal of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and other assets  749 41

Payments for investments in property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and other assets  -720 -766

Proceeds from the disposal of consolidated companies and other business units  16 1,508

Payments for acquisitions of consolidated companies and other business units  -338 -4

Cash flow from investing activities  -293 779

    

Proceeds from contributions to equity  0 0

Payments to shareholders  -56 -43

Payments from changes in shares in companies already consolidated  0 0

Proceeds from issuance of financial liabilities  1,122 654

Repayments of financial liabilities  -994 -1,704

Cash flow from financing activities  72 -1,093

    

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period  111 22

Cash and cash equivalents classified as assets held for sale at the beginning of the period  0 536

Increase/decrease in cash and cash equivalents  230 -449

Non-cash increase/decrease in cash and cash equivalents  1 2

Cash and cash equivalents classified as assets held for sale at the end of the period  0 0

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 30 342 111



Haniel Group
Segment reporting

2015 BY DIVISION

EUR million Bekaert 
Textiles

CWS-boco ELG TAKKT Metro  
investment

Holding 
and other 

companies

Consoli-
dation

Con-
tinuing 

operations

Discon-
tinued 

operations

Segment revenue from external 
customers 139 779 1,827 1,063    3,808  

Segment revenue from transactions 
with other segments    1   -1 0  

Revenue 139 779 1,827 1,064 0 0 -1 3,808 0

Depreciation and amortisation of 
segment assets 10 113 18 28  2  171  

Operating profit 16 75 -6 129 0 -21 0 193 0

Result from investments accounted 
for at equity     57   57  

Finance costs 2 11 20 9  59 -12 89  

Other net financial income   2   23 -12 13  

Profit before taxes 13 64 -23 120 57 -4 -53 174 0

Material non-cash income (+) and 
expenses (-) other than deprecia-
tion and amortisation -1 -22 -19 -16 57 -11  -12  

Total assets 428 716 760 1,042 2,562 2,580 -1,241 6,847 0

of which carrying amount of 
investments accounted for at 
equity     2,562   2,562  

of which goodwill 119 277 96 620    1,112  

Financial liabilities 46 161 321 247 0 1,168 -263 1,680 0

Recognised investments in 
non-current segment assets 327 132 10 70 0 891 -326 1,104 0

Average number of employees 
(headcount) 1,466 7,563 1,282 2,403 0 216  12,930 0

See note 31 for a description of the segments.

2015 BY REGION

EUR million Germany France United 
Kingdom

USA Nether-
lands

Other 
countries

Total

Continuing operations        

Segment revenue from external customers, by location of 
company 958 209 278 1,117 475 771 3,808

Non-current intangible assets and property, plant and 
equipment 860 9 102 544 23 398 1,936

Discontinued operations        

Segment revenue from external customers, by location of 
company       0

Non-current intangible assets and property, plant and 
equipment       0
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2014 BY DIVISION

EUR million Bekaert 
Textiles

CWS-boco ELG TAKKT Metro  
investment

Holding 
and other 

companies

Consoli-
dation

Con- 
tinuing 

operations

Discon-
tinued 

operations

Segment revenue from external 
customers  751 2,213 980    3,944 1,851

Segment revenue from transactions 
with other segments    1   -1 0  

Revenue 0 751 2,213 981 0 0 -1 3,944 1,851

Depreciation and amortisation of 
segment assets  109 16 26  2  153  

Operating profit 0 71 59 111 0 1,179 -1,203 217 41

Result from investments accounted 
for at equity     14   14  

Finance costs  25 22 11  163 -12 209 12

Other net financial income  1 2   24 -18 9 -1

Profit before taxes 0 47 40 99 14 1,075 -1,244 31 29

Material non-cash income (+) and 
expenses (-) other than deprecia-
tion and amortisation  -33 -14 -19 14 -18 -4 -74 -6

Total assets 0 676 978 960 3,012 1,638 -818 6,446 0

of which carrying amount of 
investments accounted for at 
equity     3,012   3,012  

of which goodwill  271 91 554    916  

Financial liabilities 0 158 497 222 0 744 -153 1,468 0

Recognised investments in 
non-current segment assets 0 117 17 14 0 408 -205 351 6

Average number of employees 
(headcount) 0 7,529 1,267 2,528 0 220  11,544 0

2014 BY REGION

EUR million Germany France United 
Kingdom

USA Nether-
lands

Other 
countries

Total

Continuing operations        

Segment revenue from external customers, by location of 
company 1,006 259 299 1,090 601 689 3,944

Non-current intangible assets and property, plant and 
equipment 896 9 29 350 19 217 1,520

Discontinued operations        

Segment revenue from external customers, by location of 
company 379 549 404   519 1,851

Non-current intangible assets and property, plant and 
equipment       0
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Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
A. General basis of presentation

Accounting principles 
The consolidated financial statements of Franz Haniel & Cie. GmbH, Duisburg, for the year ended 31 December 2015 
have been prepared in accordance with the mandatory International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) in effect 
on the reporting date and adopted by the Commission of the European Union, and in accordance with the supplemen-
tary requirements applicable under section 315a (1) HGB (Handelsgesetzbuch – German Commercial Code). These 
consolidated financial statements were prepared by the Management Board on 4 March 2016. They were approved by 
the Supervisory Board at their meeting on 8 April 2016.

The reporting currency is the euro; figures are shown in EUR million. In rare cases, this can give rise to rounding 
differences. For enhanced transparency of presentation, certain items in the statement of financial position and the 
income statement have been combined. These are explained in the notes. In accordance with IAS 1, the statement of 
financial position has been classified into non-current and current items. The income statement has been prepared 
using the nature of expense method.

New accounting standards and interpretations
The following standards and interpretations that were revised or newly-issued by the IASB (International Accounting 
Standards Board) or the IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRS IC), as adopted by the Commission of the European 
Union, were applicable for the first time beginning with the 2015 financial year:

IFRIC 21 (2013): “Levies”

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle (2013)

The first-time application of the new or revised standards in the financial year did not give rise to any effects on the 
presentation of the Haniel Group’s net assets, financial position, and results of operations.

Revised presentation
Since the beginning of the financial year, derivative financial assets are no longer presented under financial assets 
but rather under other current assets. Figures for the previous year have been adjusted accordingly.

Consolidated financial statements / Notes
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IFRS 9 (2014): “Financial Instruments”

IFRS 14 (2014): “Regulatory Deferral Accounts”

IFRS 15 (2014): “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”

IFRS 16 (2015): “Leases”

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 (2014): “Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception”

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 (2014): “Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture”

Amendments to IFRS 11 (2014): “Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations”

Amendments to IAS 1 (2014): “Disclosure Initiative”

Amendments to IAS 7 (2016): “Disclosure Initiative”

Amendments to IAS 12 (2016): “Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses”

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 (2014): “Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation”

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41 (2014): “Agriculture: Bearer Plants”

Amendments to IAS 19 (2013): “Defined Benefit Plans – Employee Contributions”

Amendments to IAS 27 (2014): “Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements”

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle (2013)

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle (2014)
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The option of early application of standards already issued was not exercised. Currently there are also no plans to ap-
ply any of the standards issued by the IASB early. Based on our current estimates, early application of the standards 
already adopted by the Commission of the European Union would have had no material effects on the presentation 
of the net assets, financial position, and results of operations in the 2015 financial year. The effects from IFRS 9 on 
the accounting treatment of financial instruments, from IFRS 15 on revenue recognition, and from IFRS 16 on lease 
accounting as of the date of their first-time mandatory application are being analysed in Group-wide projects. The 
overlap between the provisions of the various standards is also being examined in greater detail.

Consolidation principles
Subsidiaries directly or indirectly controlled by Franz Haniel & Cie. GmbH in accordance with IFRS 10 are fully consolidated 
in the consolidated financial statements. Control exists if Haniel has power over another entity, is exposed to variable 
returns from its involvement, such as interest or profit sharing, and can use its power to affect these returns.

Joint ventures as defined by IFRS 11 and associates as defined by IAS 28 are accounted for using the equity method. In the 
case of joint ventures, the Haniel Group exercises joint control with partners and has an interest in the net assets and/or 
profits of the joint venture. Associates are companies on which significant influence is exercised. This is normally assumed 
to be the case with an equity investment of between 20 and 50 per cent. To the extent the Haniel Group has an interest in 
a joint operation as a joint operator, the joint operation’s assets and liabilities as well as income and expenses that relate 
to Haniel’s interest are recognised in Haniel’s consolidated financial statements.

The reporting date for the separate financial statements of the consolidated subsidiaries is identical with the date for the 
consolidated financial statements, namely 31 December 2015. The separate financial statements of the domestic and 
foreign subsidiaries consolidated are prepared in accordance with uniform accounting policies.

The IASB and the IFRS IC have issued new and amended rules whose application is not mandatory for the Haniel 
Group until financial year 2016 or later. For these standards to be applicable, the required endorsement by the Com-
mission of the European Union is still pending in some cases. The relevant Standards and Interpretations are:



Acquisitions are accounted for using the acquisition method on the basis of the fair values as at the date control was 
obtained (IFRS 3). The portion of the consideration that was transferred in expectation of future positive cash flows 
from the acquisition and that cannot be allocated to identified or identifiable assets as part of their remeasurement 
to fair value is reported as goodwill under intangible assets. The full goodwill method was not applied. Non-con-
trolling interests are therefore measured at the proportionate fair value of the identifiable net assets.

In accordance with IFRS 3, goodwill is not amortised. Depending on the outcome of annual or – if there are triggering 
events – interim impairment tests, goodwill is written down if necessary to the lower recoverable amount, which is 
equal to the higher of the value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal. Any goodwill impairment loss is recog-
nised in profit or loss.

Transactions that change the ownership interest in a subsidiary without resulting in a loss of control are accounted 
for as equity transactions. Transactions that result in a loss of control are recognised in profit or loss as a gain or loss 
on disposal. If shares continue to be held after the loss of control, the remaining equity interest is measured at fair 
value. Any difference between the existing carrying amount of those shares and their fair value is included in the gain 
or loss on disposal.

Intra-Group profits and losses, sales, income and expenses as well as receivables and payables between compa-
nies included in the consolidated financial statements are eliminated. Intercompany profits and losses contained 
in non-current assets and inventories from intra-Group transactions are adjusted to the extent that they are not of 
minor significance.

Scope of consolidation
Aside from Franz Haniel & Cie. GmbH, 169 domestic and foreign companies were included in full in the consolidated 
financial statements as at 31 December 2014. In the financial year, the number of subsidiaries changed as follows:
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Accordingly, in addition to Franz Haniel & Cie. GmbH, a total of 190 subsidiaries are included in the consolidated finan-
cial statements as at 31 December 2015. Of that figure, 20 companies belong to the Bekaert Textiles division, 38 to 
CWS-boco, 49 to ELG and 74 to TAKKT. 9 subsidiaries are allocated to the Holding and other companies segment.

In this connection, one asset leasing company is included in Haniel’s consolidated financial statements as a subsid-
iary because, although Haniel does not hold the majority of the voting rights, based on the contractual provisions 
it does direct activities that are significant for the amount of the returns and therefore exercises control within the 
meaning of IFRS 10.

Additions due to acquisition of shares or obtaining control 30

Additions due to new company formation 5

Disposals due to sale of shares or loss of control 6

Disposals due to mergers or liquidation 8
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2015 2014

EUR Average 
exchange rate

Closing rate Average 
exchange rate

Closing rate

UK pound sterling (GBP) 0.7255 0.7340 0.8058 0.7789

Swiss franc (CHF) 1.0669 1.0835 1.2145 1.2024

US dollar (USD) 1.1087 1.0887 1.3262 1.2141

Accounting policies
The consolidated financial statements are generally prepared based on historical cost. A material exception to that are 
the (derivative) financial instruments measured at fair value.

Property, plant and equipment (tangible assets) are recognised at cost less depreciation and, if applicable, impair-
ment losses. If the reasons for an impairment loss no longer exist, appropriate reversals are recognised, provided that 
the resulting carrying amount does not exceed the depreciated cost of the asset. The cost of internally generated 
property, plant and equipment includes direct costs as well as directly attributable overheads. Allocable borrowing 
costs are recognised in the cost of qualifying assets.

In addition, the Haniel Group leases real estate from two asset leasing companies. The corresponding agreements are 
accounted for as finance leases pursuant to IAS 17. In these arrangements and based on the contractual provisions, 
the Group has neither a legal interest in the companies nor can it direct activities that are significant for the returns. 
As at the reporting date, the lease liabilities to these two unconsolidated leasing companies presented in financial 
liabilities totalled EUR 17 million (previous year: EUR 18 million).

Aside from the fully consolidated subsidiaries, 3 (previous year: 3) associates are accounted for in Haniel’s consol-
idated financial statements using the equity method. As in the previous year, no joint ventures are included in the 
consolidated financial statements.

Foreign currency translation
Business transactions in foreign currency are translated into the functional currency in the separate financial 
statements by applying the spot rate prevailing at the time of the transaction. Gains and losses arising from the 
settlement of such transactions and from the translation of foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities as at the 
reporting date are recognised in profit or loss.

Franz Haniel & Cie. GmbH’s reporting currency is the euro. The foreign currency amounts indicated in the finan-
cial statements of companies outside the euro zone that are included in the consolidated financial statements are 
translated using the concept of functional currency in accordance with IAS 21. Given that the subsidiaries operate as 
financially, economically and organisationally independent entities, their respective local currency is the functional 
currency. The assets and liabilities of companies outside the euro zone are translated at the closing rate, while their 
income statement items are translated at average annual exchange rates. Goodwill resulting from the acquisition 
of foreign companies is assigned to the acquired company and translated at the closing rate. All resulting exchange 
differences are recognised in other comprehensive income. The exchange rates that are most relevant for Haniel’s 
consolidated financial statements are:
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If, in the context of lease transactions, the Haniel Group, as a lessee, bears all material risks and rewards and is 
thus regarded as the beneficial owner, the requirements for finance leases under IAS 17 are met. In these cases, the 
relevant assets are capitalised at the lower of their fair value or the present value of the minimum lease payments, 
and depreciated on a straightline basis over the shorter of their useful life or the term of the lease. The present value 
of the payment obligations resulting from the future lease instalments is recognised under current and non-current 
financial liabilities. Call options exist at the end of the basic term of the lease, in line with general market terms, for 
the majority of buildings leased under finance lease agreements.

In addition to the finance leases, the Haniel Group has entered into lease agreements under which the lessor remains 
the beneficial owner of the leased assets (operating lease). Lease payments are recognised in profit or loss. The lease 
agreements contain common rental and preemption provisions for the respective items leased.

Purchased intangible assets are recognised at cost less amortisation and, if applicable, impairment losses. With the 
exception of goodwill, brand names and works of art with an indefinite life, all useful lives are definite. An indefinite 
useful life is attributable to the Company’s intention to continue using the relevant assets. Intangible assets with 
finite useful lives are generally amortised over their contractual or estimated useful lives using the straight-line 
method. This period is between 2 and 20 years. Internally generated intangible assets from which the Group is likely 
to benefit in future, and which can be measured reliably, are stated at their cost of production. The cost of production 
includes all costs directly attributable to the development process as well as appropriate portions of the attributa-
ble overheads. Attributable borrowing costs for qualifying assets are included. Research and development costs are 
treated as current expenses if the requirements for capitalisation of development costs under IAS 38 are not met.

Buildings 5 to 50 years

Technical equipment and machinery 2 to 20 years

Operating and office equipment 2 to 20 years

Property, plant and equipment, with the exception of land, are depreciated over their estimated useful lives using the 
straight-line method. Depreciation is based on the following useful lives:
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In accordance with IAS 36, the carrying amount of goodwill is tested for impairment annually and upon the occurrence 
of triggering events, on the basis of cash-generating units or groups of units. The Haniel Group performs the regular 
impairment tests during the fourth quarter of each year. As at the reporting date, there were a total of 22 cash-gener-
ating units within the Haniel Group (previous year: 21). The increase resulted from the acquisition of Bekaert Textiles. 
In the context of the impairment tests, the carrying amounts of the individual or groups of cash-generating units are 
compared with their recoverable amount, which is equivalent to the higher of the value in use and the fair value less 
costs of disposal, determined in a second step if necessary. The fair value is the best estimate of the amount that an 
independent third party would pay for the (groups of) cash-generating units on the reporting date. Any disposal costs 
that would be incurred according to best estimate are deducted.

The value in use is measured based on detailed plans of the future cash flows, on the basis of the cash flows before 
interest and taxes, less maintenance and replacement investments and a perpetual annuity for the years after the 
detailed planning period. The detailed plans are generally based on five-year financial plans adopted by the responsible 
management and are used for internal purposes as well. The underlying sales trend and the operating profit margin 
constitute key planning assumptions. The detailed plans are formulated according to past developments and pro-
jected market trends. The perpetual annuity is calculated based on expected average market growth, while factoring 
in expected future company growth. The cash flows thus determined are discounted at a rate reflecting the weighted 
average cost of capital before taxes (WACC), assigned individually for each cash-generating unit or group of cash-gen-
erating units, to determine the value in use of the cash-generating unit. The average cost of capital is determined 
using market inputs as the weighted average of the costs of equity and debt. The cost of equity used reflects the 
risk-equivalent return expected from equity investors with respect to the cash-generating units. The calculation also 
factors in parameters specific to the business model and country-specific risk premiums that are derived based on ex-
ternal country ratings. The cost of debt used represents the long-term financing terms of companies with comparable 
creditworthiness.

If the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount of the individual cash-generating unit or group of cash-gen-
erating units, an impairment loss with respect to goodwill is recognised in profit or loss and, if applicable, as well as to 
other assets of the unit.



In addition to goodwill, the Haniel Group also has EUR 95 million (previous year: EUR 52 million) in other intangible 
assets with indefinite useful lives. These relate predominantly to brand names acquired through business combina-
tions. They are subject to impairment testing at the level of the cash-generating units. 

As in the previous year, no impairment of goodwill was recognised pursuant to IAS 36 as a result of the regular impair-
ment tests during the financial year based on the calculated values in use.

The evidence for recoverability at all cash-generating units is based on the value in use. The values in use as deter-
mined in the course of the regular impairment tests were checked for plausibility using scenarios relating to key 
assumptions. No hypothetical need for an impairment loss resulted from these analyses, whether due to a 0.5 per-
centage points increase in the weighted average cost of capital before taxes, as deemed feasible by the manage-
ment, or due to a 0.25 percentage points decrease in the growth rates after the detailed planning period. The same 
applies to a 5 per cent across-the-board reduction in cash flows before interest and taxes in the perpetual annuity.

Associates and joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method defined in IAS 28 and IFRS 11, respectively. 
Based on the acquisition cost of the shares in associates and joint ventures at the date of acquisition, the carrying 
amount of the investments is increased or decreased by the Haniel Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or 
losses of the investment and other equity changes in the investment. Goodwill included in the carrying amount and 
determined in accordance with the full consolidation principles is not amortised. An impairment test is conducted if 
there is objective evidence, as defined in IAS 39, of a possible impairment of the total carrying amount of the invest-
ment.

Alongside loans, the financial assets primarily include investments and securities. Loans are initially recognised at 
fair value plus transaction costs and subsequently measured at amortised cost by applying the effective interest rate 
method. If there is objective evidence within the meaning of IAS 39 that assets are impaired, they are written down to 
the lower present value of the expected cash flows, based on the original effective interest rate.

Weighted average 
cost of capital 

before taxes

Expected future 
company growth 

(perpetual 
annuity)

Goodwill as at  
31 Dec. 2015

% % EUR million

Bekaert Textiles 8.5 to 10.9 2.0 119

CWS-boco 7.0 to 9.5 1.5 277

of which CWS-boco Germany 8.8 1.5 207

ELG 11.4 to 12.6 0.0 to 4.5 96

TAKKT 8.0 to 9.3 1.0 to 2.0 620

of which Specialties Group 9.2 2.0 233

of which Packaging Solutions Group 8.0 2.0 153

The table below summarises the parameters applied to determine the values in use in the context of the regular 
impairment tests for each segment as well as for cash-generating units with significant goodwill:
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With regard to investments and securities, a distinction is made in accordance with IAS 39 between those that are 
available for sale, those held at fair value through profit or loss, and those that are held to maturity. The classification 
is determined at the date of acquisition and reviewed as at each reporting date. In addition to non-listed investments, 
investment funds, and listed bonds that are not necessarily intended to be held to maturity are in particular classified 
as available for sale. Regular way sales and purchases of financial assets of all categories are recognised as at the 
settlement date.

Available for sale financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs and subsequently shown 
at their respective fair values on the reporting date (see note 27 for the determination of fair values). The resulting 
unrealised gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income, taking deferred taxes into account. If 
no active market is available and a fair value cannot be reliably measured, the assets are shown at cost. If there is a 
material indication that assets may be impaired, they are written down through profit or loss. If the reasons for the 
impairment no longer exist, appropriate reversals of impairment losses are recognised. In the case of equity instru-
ments, these reversals are recognised in other comprehensive income; in the case of debt instruments, they are rec-
ognised in profit or loss, provided that the conditions of IAS 39 are fulfilled. If these assets are sold, the cumulative 
gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reversed to profit or loss.

Financial assets classified as at fair value through profit or loss are recognised using their fair value as at each report-
ing date. Any transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss upon posting. Fluctuations in fair value are recognised 
directly in the income statement.

Financial assets classified as held to maturity are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs and sub-
sequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. If there is objective evidence that 
assets are impaired, they are written down to the lower present value of the expected cash flows, based on the origi-
nal effective interest rate.

Financial assets and liabilities are presented at net in the statement of financial position if there is a legal right to 
offset at the present time. In addition, there must be an intention to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and 
settle the related liability simultaneously. Otherwise, the financial asset and liability are presented at gross in the 
statement of financial position.

Inventories are stated at cost in general. In addition to the direct material and production costs, production-related 
portions of the required material and production overheads, as well as depreciation of property, plant and equipment 
attributable to production, and amortisation of intangible assets are included. Borrowing costs are not taken into 
account. If acquisition or production costs exceed the net realisable value at the end of the financial year, inventories 
are written down accordingly. Depending on the specific circumstances of each division, different inventory cost for-
mulas are applied. Normally, the costs of inventories are assigned by using a weighted average or a first-in, first-out 
(FIFO) cost formula. In addition, the standard cost method is also applied.
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Trade receivables and other current assets are, in the case of loans and receivables, initially recognised at fair value 
plus transaction costs and subsequently measured at amortised cost. Valuation allowances are determined to take 
into account existing risks.

Tax assets and tax liabilities are recognised at the amount expected to be reimbursed from or paid to the tax 
authorities.

Derivative financial instruments, such as forward contracts, options and swaps, are generally used for hedging pur-
poses to minimise exchange rate, interest rate and other market price risks arising from the operating business and/
or from the associated financing requirements. Under IAS 39, all derivative financial instruments must be recognised 
at their fair values, irrespective of the purpose or intention for which they were concluded. Changes in the fair values 
of derivative financial instruments to which hedge accounting applies are reported either in the income statement 
(fair value hedge) or, in the case of a cash flow hedge, in other comprehensive income, taking deferred taxes into 
account.

Derivatives used to hedge items in the statement of financial position are referred to as fair value hedges. The gains 
and losses from the fair value measurement of the derivatives and the underlying hedged items are recognised in profit 
or loss. Derivatives used to hedge against future cash flow risks from existing or planned transactions are referred to 
as cash flow hedges. The changes in fair values of the derivatives attributable to the effective portion of the hedge are 
initially reported in other comprehensive income. A transfer to the income statement is made at the time the hedged 
item impacts profit or loss. The changes in the fair values of the derivatives attributable to the ineffective portion of 
the hedge are immediately recognised in the income statement. In cases where hedge accounting is not applied, the 
changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments are immediately recognised in profit or loss.

Non-current assets and groups of assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amounts are mainly derived 
from their potential sale and not from their ongoing use. This condition is deemed to be fulfilled if, among other 
things, the sale is highly probable, the asset or the group of assets is available for immediate sale and the sale is 
expected to be completed within one year starting from the time of the classification.

Non-current assets and groups of assets classified as held for sale are no longer depreciated as from the reclassifi-
cation date but measured at the lower of the carrying amount and the fair value less costs to sell. These fair values 
are normally determined based on concluded purchase contracts or purchase price offers that are already sufficiently 
specific. Assets and groups of assets and their respective liabilities (disposal groups) held for sale are shown sepa-
rately from other assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position, each as a separate current item, as from 
the reclassification date. The previous year’s figures in the statement of financial position are not adjusted to reflect 
reclassifications. If the disposal group comprises a material business segment or operation, the profit or loss after 
taxes from discontinued operations is reported separately in the income statement. The previous year’s income state-
ment is adjusted accordingly. The profit after taxes from discontinued operations comprises the operation’s current 
earnings, the result of the measurement described above, and the gain or loss on disposal. In the statement of cash 
flows, the incoming and outgoing payments of the discontinued operations are presented together with the corre-
sponding payments of the continuing operations.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences between the values in the tax balance 
sheets of the individual companies and the carrying amounts in the consolidated statement of financial position – 
with the exception of goodwill that is not deductible for tax purposes – as well as for tax loss carryforwards. Deferred 
tax assets are recognised only if their realisation is ensured with reasonable certainty. Deferred taxes are determined 
on the basis of the tax rates that will be in effect in future under current legislation. Deferred taxes are offset in 
accordance with IAS 12 if there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities 
and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to taxes levied by the same tax authority for the same taxable entity.

In accordance with IAS 19, provisions for pensions and similar obligations are determined using the actuarial pro-
jected unit credit method. In addition to biometric calculation principles, this method primarily takes into account the 
current long-term capital market interest rate as well as assumptions about future increases in salaries and pensions. 
Remeasurements are recognised directly in other comprehensive income in their full amount. These amounts are not 
reclassified to profit or loss. Remeasurements comprise actuarial gains and losses as well as the difference between 
the actual return on plan assets and the expected return recognised in net interest expense. In addition, effects from 
an asset ceiling may be included in the remeasurement. The net interest expense presented in the finance costs 
includes the expense from compounding the present value of defined benefit obligations and the expected return on 
plan assets. 

With the exception of provisions for personnel calculated in accordance with IAS 19 or IFRS 2, all other provisions 
are recognised on the basis of IAS 37 if there is a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past business 
transactions or events. The outflow of resources embodying economic benefits required to settle the obligation must 
be probable, and it must be possible to estimate the amount reliably. Provisions with a maturity of more than one 
year are discounted at market interest rates that are in line with the risk and the period until settlement.

Financial liabilities, with the exception of derivative financial instruments and financial liabilities held for trading, 
are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the 
effective interest rate method. Liabilities under finance leases are recognised in the amount of the present value of 
the future lease payments, taking into account the interest rate that was used as the basis at the time the lease was 
signed, as well as the repayments on principal made in the meantime.

Portions of assets and liabilities originally recognised as non-current with a remaining maturity of less than one year 
are generally reported under current items in the statement of financial position.

Revenue comprises revenues from the sale of products and services less discounts, rebates, and if necessary, 
deferred income from customer loyalty programmes. Revenue is realised at the time ownership and risks are trans-
ferred to the customer. Provisions are established to account for customers’ return rights. If amounts are collected as 
an agent for third parties, such amounts are not revenue because they do not represent an inflow of economic bene-
fits. Only the compensation for brokering the business is accounted for as revenue in such transactions.

Other operating income is recognised if the economic benefits are probable and the amount can be reliably deter-
mined.
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Dividends are recognised when a legal right to receive payment is established. Interest income and interest expenses 
not requiring capitalisation pursuant to IAS 23 are recognised in the proper period using the effective interest 
method.

In accordance with IAS 20, government grants are recognised at fair value only if there is reasonable assurance that 
the company will comply with the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received. Grants received 
as compensation for expenses are recognised as income in the same period in which such expenses are incurred. 
Grants received for the acquisition or production of assets are deferred as a general rule.

Advertising costs are expensed as soon as there is a right to access the advertising material or services were received 
in connection with the advertising activities.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the basis of certain assumptions and estimates which have 
an effect on the amount and presentation of the reported assets, liabilities, income, expenses and contingent liabili-
ties. The assumptions and estimates primarily concern the items set forth below.

Goodwill arises in the course of business combinations. All identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are 
measured at fair value upon first-time consolidation. The recognised fair values represent key estimates. If intangible 
assets are identified, the fair value is determined by recognised valuation methods depending on the type of asset. 
These valuations are closely related to the management’s assumptions concerning the future development of the 
assets and the applied discount rates. Similar assumptions are necessary in the accounting and valuation of invest-
ments accounted for at equity.

In addition to the determination of fair values of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired, the valu-
ation of contingent consideration for business combinations is based on estimates and assumptions made by the 
management regarding the future development of the acquired entity. If the actual development of the entity in the 
future deviates from the expected development, this may affect the amount of contingent consideration and the 
profit after taxes.

Impairment tests of goodwill, other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and investments are based on for-
ward-looking assumptions. Paying due regard to past developments and assumptions concerning the future devel-
opment of markets, the test is generally performed on the basis of a five-year planning period. The key assumptions 
when assessing impairment are estimated growth rates after the detailed planning period, weighted average cost of 
capital and tax rates. Further key planning assumptions relate to the future sales trend and the operating profit mar-
gin. The premises above and the underlying calculation model can significantly influence the individual values and 
ultimately the amount of a possible impairment.

In the case of trade receivables, valuation allowances on doubtful debts rely to a large extent on estimates and 
assessments made on the basis of the relevant customer’s creditworthiness, the current economic developments and 
the analysis of historical losses on bad debts on a portfolio basis. Actual cash inflows may deviate from the carrying 
amounts recognised in respect of the receivables.
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The key assumptions and estimates for the measurement of provisions, especially those for pensions, real estate, lit-
igations, pending losses, those related to business combinations and disposals and restructuring measures, concern 
the probability of the provisions being used, the amount of the obligation and, in the case of non-current provisions, 
the interest rates applied. In addition, pension obligations under defined benefit plans require actuarial assumptions 
regarding salary growth and pension growth, life expectancies and employee turnover. The actual development, and 
hence actual payments due in the future, may deviate from the expected development and the recognised provisions.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured on the basis of assumptions and estimates made by management. In 
addition to the interpretation of the tax regulations applicable to the taxable entity concerned, the key factor in the 
calculation of deferred tax assets in respect of temporary differences and tax loss carryforwards is an assessment of 
the likelihood that adequate taxable income will be generated in future or that appropriate tax strategies for utilising 
tax loss carryforwards will be implemented.

All assumptions and estimates are based on the circumstances prevailing on the reporting date. Future events and 
changes in general circumstances often give rise to differences between the actual amounts and the estimates. This 
also applies in particular to obligations whose existence, amount and timing of occurrence are uncertain. In case 
of differences, the assumptions and, if necessary, the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities affected are 
adjusted accordingly.

At the time the consolidated financial statements were prepared, there was no indication of any material changes 
affecting the underlying assumptions and estimates.



B.  Notes to the statement of  
financial position
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1 Property, plant and equipment

EUR million Land, buildings  
and similar assets

Technical 
equipment and 

machinery

Operating and 
office equipment

Pre payments 
and assets under 

construction

Total

Cost      

As at 1 Jan. 2015 461 317 404 7 1,189

Foreign exchange rate adjustments 13 12 4  29 

Additions to scope of consolidation 36 31 2 1 70 

Additions 3 16 108 6 133 

Reclassifications 2 3 2 -7 0 

Disposals 4 15 95  114 

As at 31 Dec. 2015 511 364 425 7 1,307 

      

Accumulated depreciation      

As at 1 Jan. 2015 218 222 270 0 710 

Foreign exchange rate adjustments 5 9 3  17 

Additions     0 

Depreciation 17 24 102  143 

Impairments 1    1 

Reversals of impairment losses     0 

Reclassifications     0 

Disposals 3 14 94  111 

As at 31 Dec. 2015 238 241 281 0 760 

      

Net carrying amounts      

As at 31 Dec. 2015 273 123 144 7 547 

As at 1 Jan. 2015 243 95 134 7 479 

Property, plant and equipment includes assets totalling EUR 33 million (previous year: EUR 35 million) recognised 
based on finance leases. Of this amount, EUR 31 million (previous year: EUR 33 million) relates to land, buildings and 
similar assets and EUR 2 million (previous year: EUR 2 million) to operating and office equipment. As in the previous 
year, no non-cash investments were made in property, plant and equipment (finance leases).

The additions to the scope of consolidation during the financial year result primarily from the acquisition of Bekaert 
Textiles. Business combinations in the financial year are explained under note 29. As in the previous year, additions 
and disposals during the financial year relate primarily to textiles and hand towel dispensers to be rented out by the 
CWS-boco division.

The impairments in the financial year amounting to EUR 1 million are recognised in connection with the optimisation 
of locations in the CWS-boco division. The EUR 8 million in impairments in the previous year essentially related to 
write-downs of real estate no longer required for operations in the Holding and other companies segment. The recov-
erable amount of assets written down was EUR 10 million; this amount was calculated using the discounted cash flow 
method (DCF method) as the fair value less costs of disposal (Level 2).
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EUR million Land, buildings  
and similar assets

Technical 
equipment and 

machinery

Operating and 
office equipment

Pre payments 
and assets under 

construction

Total

Cost      

As at 1 Jan. 2014 470 307 396 5 1,178

Foreign exchange rate adjustments 8 6 2  16

Additions to scope of consolidation     0

Additions 12 22 98 6 138

Reclassifications 1 1 2 -4 0

Disposals 30 19 94  143

As at 31 Dec. 2014 461 317 404 7 1,189

      

Accumulated depreciation      

As at 1 Jan. 2014 215 215 266 0 696

Foreign exchange rate adjustments 4 4 2  10

Additions     0

Depreciation 17 20 95  132

Impairments 6 2   8

Reversals of impairment losses  1   1

Reclassifications     0

Disposals 24 18 93  135

As at 31 Dec. 2014 218 222 270 0 710

      

Net carrying amounts      

As at 31 Dec. 2014 243 95 134 7 479

As at 1 Jan. 2014 255 92 130 5 482

As in the previous year, legally and economically owned property, plant and equipment are not subject to any restric-
tions on title. Property, plant and equipment of EUR 3 million (previous year: EUR 0 million) are pledged as security for 
own liabilities. Purchase commitments for property, plant and equipment amounted to EUR 1 million (previous year: 
EUR 3 million).



2 Intangible assets

EUR million Goodwill Licences and
similar rights

Other intangible
assets

Prepayments Total

Cost      

As at 1 Jan. 2015 956 289 113 10 1,368

Foreign exchange rate adjustments 35 8 8  51

Additions to scope of consolidation  73 80  153

Additions 162 8 4 11 185

Reclassifications  6  -6 0

Disposals  3 1  4

As at 31 Dec. 2015 1,153 381 204 15 1,753

      

Accumulated depreciation      

As at 1 Jan. 2015 40 237 47 3 327

Foreign exchange rate adjustments 1 7 5  13

Additions     0

Depreciation  21 7  28

Impairments     0

Reversals of impairment losses     0

Reclassifications     0

Disposals  3 1  4

As at 31 Dec. 2015 41 262 58 3 364

      

Net carrying amounts      

As at 31 Dec. 2015 1,112 119 146 12 1,389

As at 1 Jan. 2015 916 52 66 7 1,041
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In the financial year the additions to the scope of consolidation to licences and similar rights, and to other intangible 
assets as well as the additions to goodwill result primarily from the acquisition of Bekaert Textiles. Business combina-
tions in the financial year are explained under note 29.

As in the previous year, the additions to licences and similar rights and prepayments result essentially from software. Of 
the disposals during the previous year, EUR 24 million reported under cost and EUR 21 million reported under accumu-
lated depreciation resulted from the reclassification of assets within the TAKKT division as held for sale.



EUR million Goodwill Licences and
similar rights

Other intangible
assets

Prepayments Total

Cost      

As at 1 Jan. 2014 926 301 108 6 1,341

Foreign exchange rate adjustments 32 7 7 1 47

Additions to scope of consolidation     0

Additions  4 1 5 10

Reclassifications  2  -2 0

Disposals 2 25 3  30

As at 31 Dec. 2014 956 289 113 10 1,368

      

Accumulated depreciation      

As at 1 Jan. 2014 39 239 42 2 322

Foreign exchange rate adjustments 1 6 3  10

Additions     0

Depreciation  17 4  21

Impairments    1 1

Reversals of impairment losses     0

Reclassifications     0

Disposals  25 2  27

As at 31 Dec. 2014 40 237 47 3 327

      

Net carrying amounts      

As at 31 Dec. 2014 916 52 66 7 1,041

As at 1 Jan. 2014 887 62 66 4 1,019

Consolidated financial statements / Notes

101

Other intangible assets include assets with indefinite useful lives totalling EUR 95 million (previous year: EUR 52 mil-
lion). These relate predominantly to brand names acquired through business combinations.

As in the previous year, legally and economically owned intangible assets are not subject to any restrictions on title. 
As in the previous year, no intangible assets have been pledged as security for own liabilities.

As at 31 December 2015, there was a purchase commitment for intangible assets in the amount of EUR 3 million (pre-
vious year: EUR 1 million).



Consolidated financial statements / Notes

102

3 Investments accounted for at equity

EUR million 2015 2014

As at 1 Jan. 3,012 3,215

Additions   

Changes in equity interest recognised in profit or loss 57 14

Profit distribution -88  

Changes in equity interest recognised in other comprehensive income 74 -207

Impairments  

Reclassification as assets held for sale   

Disposals and transfers -493 -10

As at 31 Dec. 2,562 3,012

Investments accounted for at equity mainly comprise the investment of EUR 2,562 million in METRO AG by Franz 
Haniel & Cie. GmbH (previous year: EUR 3,012 million). METRO AG, domiciled in Düsseldorf, is the holding company of 
the METRO GROUP, an international merchandiser. The METRO GROUP’s independent sales lines operate self-service 
wholesale (METRO Cash & Carry), retail electronics (Media-Saturn) and self-service hypermarket (Real) businesses in 
Europe and Asia.

On 7 May 2015, Haniel sold 16.25 million ordinary shares in METRO AG to institutional investors. This reduced Haniel’s 
interest in the voting rights of METRO AG from 30.01 per cent to 25.00 per cent. At the same time, an exchangeable 
bond linked to METRO AG’s ordinary shares with a nominal volume of EUR 500 million and a 5-year term was issued; 
therefore, a further reduction in the ownership interest is possible in the future.

The impairment test on the investment in METRO AG is performed as a general rule by applying the same model and 
relevant parameters that are used to test the impairment of goodwill. The impairment test, based on planning of 
future cash flows, a weighted average cost of capital before taxes of 10.4 per cent (previous year: 9.8 per cent) and a 
growth rate of 0.5 per cent – as in the previous year – for the years after the detailed planning period did not indicate 
a need to adjust the carrying amount of the investment accounted for at equity in the financial year.

The Metro investment contributed earnings totalling EUR 57 million (previous year: EUR 14 million).

Due to the nature of its industry, METRO AG has had a financial year of 1 October through 30 September instead of 
the calendar year since 2013. However, the METRO GROUP is included in Haniel’s consolidated financial statements 
based on annual reports and published quarterly statements using results from 1 January through 31 December. 
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EUR million 2015 2014

Revenue 58,991 59,536

Profit after taxes 2 -58

Profit after taxes from discontinued operations 850 185

Other comprehensive income 155 -652

Comprehensive income 1,007 -525

   

Dividends received from METRO AG 88  

EUR million 31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014

Non-current assets 13,153 14,918

Current assets 17,104 16,713

Non-current liabilities 6,827 7,420

Current liabilities 17,716 19,150

Equity 5,714 5,061

Equity attributable to shareholders of METRO AG 5,699 5,032

   

Haniel’s share of equity of METRO AG 1,413 1,498

Remaining adjustments from purchase price allocation 1,999 2,535

Impairments on investment accounted for at equity 850 1,021

Carrying amount of the Metro investment 2,562 3,012 

Material financial information on the IFRS consolidated financial statements of METRO AG as well as a reconciliation 
to the carrying amount of the Metro investment reported in Haniel’s consolidated financial statements are presented 
below.

The profit after taxes from discontinued operations from the consolidated financial statements of METRO AG pre-
sented in the above table includes the current results of the Galeria Kaufhof sales line, which was sold on 30 Septem-
ber 2015, as well as the related gain on disposal.

In addition, METRO AG has contingent liabilities from suretyships, rent guarantees and other warranty contracts in 
the amount of EUR 71 million (previous year: EUR 58 million).

The stock market value of Haniel’s 24.79 per cent interest (previous year: 29.76 per cent) in the ordinary and preferred 
shares of METRO AG as at the reporting date amounted to EUR 2,395 million (previous year: EUR 2,462 million), val-
ued at a share price of EUR 29.56 per ordinary share (previous year: EUR 25.31 per share).
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4 Financial assets

EUR million Financial assets
available for sale

Other securities Loans Total

Cost     

As at 1 Jan. 2015 168 5 16 189 

Foreign exchange rate adjustments    0 

Additions to scope of consolidation    0 

Additions 563   563 

Changes in fair value -15   -15 

Reclassifications    0 

Disposals 74  3 77 

As at 31 Dec. 2015 642 5 13 660 

     

Accumulated depreciation     

As at 1 Jan. 2015 1 0 0 1 

Foreign exchange rate adjustments    0 

Impairments    0 

Reversals of impairment losses    0 

Reclassifications    0 

Disposals    0 

As at 31 Dec. 2015 1 0 0 1 

     

Net carrying amounts     

As at 31 Dec. 2015 641 5 13 659 

As at 1 Jan. 2015 167 5 16 188 

As in the previous year, the additions to financial assets available for sale in the financial year resulted from acquisi-
tions of bonds in the Holding and other companies segment. The disposals in both years concern the sale of corre-
sponding bonds.
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EUR million Financial assets
available for sale

Other securities Loans Total

Cost     

As at 1 Jan. 2014 6 0 7 13 

Foreign exchange rate adjustments   2 2 

Additions to scope of consolidation   7 7 

Additions 191 5  196 

Changes in fair value -3   -3 

Reclassifications    0 

Disposals 26   26 

As at 31 Dec. 2014 168 5 16 189 

     

Accumulated depreciation     

As at 1 Jan. 2014 0 0 0 0 

Foreign exchange rate adjustments    0 

Impairments 1   1 

Reversals of impairment losses    0 

Reclassifications    0 

Disposals    0 

As at 31 Dec. 2014 1 0 0 1 

     

Net carrying amounts     

As at 31 Dec. 2014 167 5 16 188 

As at 1 Jan. 2014 6 0 7 13 

The additions under other securities in the previous year concerned the acquisition of a promissory loan note in the 
Holding and other companies segment. In the previous year, the additions to the scope of consolidation for loans 
included a non-current receivable from finance leases in the Holding and other companies segment.
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5 Current and deferred taxes

The income tax assets totalling EUR 36 million (previous year: EUR 48 million) concern in particular withholding tax 
receivables in connection with dividends received. The income tax liabilities of EUR 22 million (previous year: EUR 
18 million) essentially contain the income taxes to be paid for the financial year.

Deferred taxes are calculated using the respective local tax rates. Changes in tax rates that were enacted up until 
the reporting date have already been taken into account. The income tax rates applied in the relevant countries var-
ied between 10.0 per cent and 39.0 per cent (previous year: 10.0 per cent and 39.0 per cent).

The following deferred tax assets and liabilities exist for temporary differences in the individual items of the state-
ment of financial position, and for tax loss carryforwards:

Deferred tax assets include EUR 23 million (previous year: EUR 11 million) for companies that were making losses in 
the financial year or the previous year. These items are recognised, since future taxable profits are expected for these 
companies.

Trade tax loss carryforwards of EUR 941 million (previous year: EUR 877 million) and unused corporate tax and similar 
foreign loss carryforwards of EUR 599 million (previous year: EUR 515 million) exist in the Haniel Group, for which no 
deferred tax assets were recognised in the statement of financial position, given that the realisation of the deferred 
tax assets is not deemed to be sufficiently certain from today’s point of view. Of these tax loss carryforwards, EUR 
59 million (previous year: EUR 52 million) expire within five years and an additional EUR 16 million (previous year: EUR 
22 million) within 15 years.

In accordance with IAS 12, no deferred tax liabilities are recognised for retained earnings of subsidiaries and invest-
ments accounted for at equity because the company can control the reversal effect and therefore it is probable that 
the temporary differences will not be reversed in the foreseeable future. Therefore no deferred tax liabilities are 
recognised for temporary differences from subsidiaries and investments accounted for at equity in the amount of EUR 
133 million (previous year: EUR 59 million).

31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014

EUR million Deferred
tax assets

Deferred tax
liabilities

Deferred
tax assets

Deferred tax
liabilities

Property, plant and equipment 12 48 11 38

Intangible assets 7 151 7 87

Miscellaneous non-current assets 1 8 2 8

Current assets 27 11 21 17

Non-current liabilities 16 1 15 1

Non-current provisions 66  67 1

Current provisions 9 2 9 1

Other current liabilities 5 17 8 10

Derivative financial instruments 7 4 8 3

Tax loss carryforwards 25  2  

Less offsetting 127 127 115 115

48 115 35 51
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The inventories include EUR 82 million (previous year: EUR 142 million) that were written down to the net realisable 
value. Write-downs in the amount of EUR 18 million (previous year: EUR 9 million) were made during the financial year. 
Reversals of write-downs totalled EUR 2 million (previous year: EUR 2 million). This was due primarily to the disposal 
of previously impaired items of inventory. 

As in the previous year, other than industry-standard restrictions on title, no inventories were pledged as collateral 
for own liabilities. 

7 Trade receivables 

The Bekaert Textiles, CWS-boco and ELG divisions maintain programs for the continual sale of trade receivables to 
third parties. In accordance with IAS 39, as a rule these transfers qualify for derecognition of the receivables in ques-
tion. Nevertheless, the divisions continue to handle the servicing of the receivables sold. In some cases, the division 
in question also retains a portion of the credit risk, the late payment risk or exchange rate risk from the receivables 
it sold. Out of EUR 24 million in receivables sold (previous year: EUR 29 million), the CWS-boco division recognised at 
the reporting date an asset of EUR 7 million (previous year: EUR 5 million) as a continuing involvement. A correspond-
ing liability was also recognised in the same amount. The maximum exposure to loss from the sale of receivables as 
at the reporting date is EUR 7 million (previous year: EUR 7 million).

As in the previous year, no trade receivables are pledged as collateral for own liabilities at the reporting date. 

The table below illustrates the changes in valuation allowances for trade receivables:

6 Inventories

EUR million 31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014

Raw materials and production supplies 35 11

Work and services in progress 5 1

Finished goods and merchandise 435 565

Prepayments 5 2

480 579

EUR million 2015 2014

As at 1 Jan. 12 15

Additions 1 1

Utilisations   

Reversals 2 4

Foreign currency, changes in the scope of consolidation and other changes 3  

As at 31 Dec. 14 12
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The valuation allowances contain individual and portfolio-based allowances. The additions to valuation allowances 
are reported under other operating expenses. Once a bad debt is confirmed, the valuation allowance is utilised. 
Subsequent cash inflows in respect of written-off receivables are recognised in profit or loss. Reversals of valuation 
allowances are reported under other operating income.

As at the reporting date, the trade receivables that are past due, but not impaired, are structured as follows:

With regard to the receivables that are past due, but not impaired, there is no indication that the debtors will not dis-
charge their payment obligations. The same applies for receivables which are neither past due nor impaired.

The available for sale financial instruments at the reporting date are Haniel’s short-term financial investments in 
investment funds. The line item other securities and fixed-term deposits contains commercial paper.

Bank balances comprise short-term deposits with an original maturity of up to three months.

EUR million 31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014

Carrying amount of past due, but not impaired receivables 58 46

of which past due for   

< 3 months 47 42

3 to 6 months 6 4

> 6 to 12 months 4  

> 12 months 1  

8 Financial assets

EUR million 31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014

Financial assets available for sale 212 160

Other securities and fixed-term deposits 19 237

231 397

9 Cash and cash equivalents

EUR million 31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014

Bank balances 123 111

Cash on hand and cheques   

Money market funds 219  

342 111
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The derivative financial instruments serve to hedge interest rate, exchange rate and other price risks and are 
described in detail under note 27. No other current assets (previous year: EUR 1 million) are pledged as collateral for 
own liabilities.

11 Assets and liabilities held for sale 

In the previous year, the assets and liabilities of the Plant Equipment Group in the TAKKT division, and real estate no 
longer needed for operations in the Holding and other companies segment were presented as held for sale as at the 
reporting date. The disposal of the Plant Equipment Group was completed in the financial year. Purchase agreements 
for real estate were also entered into during the financial year, although they were not yet fully settled as at the 
reporting date. The final tranche was settled on 29 February 2016.

The table below shows the main groups of assets and liabilities classified as held for sale as at the reporting date:

10 Other current assets

EUR million 31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014

Receivables from investments 1 8

Derivative financial instruments 8 11

Value added tax receivables and other tax assets 20 13

Prepaid expenses 14 14

Bonuses and discount claims against suppliers 16 13

Miscellaneous current assets 59 32

118 91

EUR million 31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014

Assets   

Property, plant and equipment 2 6

Intangible assets  3

Inventories  9

Trade receivables  8

Cash and cash equivalents   

Other assets  3

 2 29 

Liabilities   

Financial liabilities  1

Trade payables  4

Other current liabilities  4

 0 9 



12 Equity

As at 31 December 2015, the subscribed capital of Franz Haniel & Cie. GmbH remained unchanged at EUR 1,000 mil-
lion. All shares are fully paid-in and held either directly or indirectly by the Haniel family.

Changes in equity are shown in the statement of changes in equity on page 82. The changes in the scope of con-
solidation during the financial year presented there relate to the reduction in Haniel’s interest in METRO AG. In the 
previous year, the changes in the scope of consolidation related to the disposal of the Celesio division.

Treasury shares with a par value of EUR 1 million (previous year: EUR 1 million) were acquired during the financial year. 
The non-controlling interests in the equity of consolidated subsidiaries relate primarily to TAKKT AG, which is dom-
iciled in Stuttgart. As at the reporting date, Haniel held a 50.25 per cent interest in TAKKT AG, the holding company 
of the TAKKT division. The tables below contain the financial information on the TAKKT division recognised in Haniel’s 
consolidated financial statements.
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EUR million 31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014

Non-current assets 813 741

Current assets 229 219

Non-current liabilities 300 225

Current liabilities 176 255

Equity 566 480

of which attributable to non-controlling interests 216 174

EUR million 2015 2014

Revenue 1,064 981

Operating profit 129 111

Profit after taxes 81 66

of which attributable to non-controlling interests 40 33

Other comprehensive income 27 9

Comprehensive income 108 75

of which attributable to non-controlling interests 54 38

   

Cash flow from operating activities 87 101

Cash flow from investing activities -90 -13

Cash flow from financing activities 2 -90

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 10 10
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The accumulated other comprehensive income of the Haniel Group changed as follows:

EUR million As at  
1 Jan. 2015

Changes in 
the scope of 

consolidation

Changes in 
shares in com-
panies already 

consolidated

Other com-
prehensive 

income

Currency 
translation 

effects

As at  
31 Dec. 2015 

Remeasurements of defined benefit plans -167   25 -3 -145

Deferred taxes 47   -8 1 40

Other comprehensive income from investments 
accounted for at equity -230 40  45  -145

Other comprehensive income not to be  
reclassified to profit or loss -350 40 0 62 -2 -250

Derivative financial instruments -6   4  -2

Financial assets available for sale 0   -2  -2

Deferred taxes 2     2

Currency translation effects -7   39 2 34

Other comprehensive income from investments 
accounted for at equity -239   29  -210

Other comprehensive income to be reclassified  
to profit or loss -250 0 0 70 2 -178

Accumulated other comprehensive income -600 40 0 132 0 -428

of which attributable to non-controlling interests -10   14  4

of which attributable to shareholders of  
Franz Haniel & Cie. GmbH -590 40  118  -432
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In the previous year, the accumulated other comprehensive income presented contained a total amount of EUR 2 mil-
lion that was attributable to assets and liabilities held for sale. In the year under review, this amount was reclassified 
to profit or loss in full due to the disposal of the assets and liabilities.

Capital management
The aim of the Haniel Group’s capital management is, for one, to safeguard financial flexibility, provide scope for 
value-enhancing investments, and maintain sound ratios in the statement of financial position. The Group seeks to 
achieve investment-grade credit ratings. Another aim of capital management is to ensure that the capital employed 
in the Haniel Group is used to increase value. 

The Haniel Group’s net financial position, defined as net financial liabilities less the investment position of the Haniel 
Holding Company, can be broken down as follows:

EUR million As at  
1 Jan. 2014

Changes in 
the scope of 

consolidation

Changes in 
shares in com-
panies already 

consolidated

Other com-
prehensive 

income

Currency 
translation 

effects

As at  
31 Dec. 2014 

Remeasurements of defined benefit plans -288 201  -81 1 -167

Deferred taxes 72 -49  24  47

Other comprehensive income from investments 
accounted for at equity -131 1  -100  -230

Other comprehensive income not to be  
reclassified to profit or loss -347 153 0 -157 1 -350

Derivative financial instruments -23 2  15  -6

Financial assets available for sale 0     0

Deferred taxes 6   -4  2

Currency translation effects -318 145  167 -1 -7

Other comprehensive income from investments 
accounted for at equity -132   -107  -239

Other comprehensive income to be reclassified  
to profit or loss -467 147 0 71 -1 -250

Accumulated other comprehensive income -814 300 0 -86 0 -600

of which attributable to non-controlling interests -242 223  9  -10

of which attributable to shareholders of  
Franz Haniel & Cie. GmbH -572 77  -95  -590

The investment position of the Haniel Holding Company, which is available for the acquisition of new divisions, includes 
non-current and current financial assets and other assets of the Holding and other companies segment. 

EUR million 2015 2014

Financial liabilities, including held for sale 1,680 1,469

- Cash and cash equivalents, including held for sale 342 111

Net financial liabilities 1,338 1,358

Investment position Haniel Holding Company 893 584

Net financial position 445 774
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The core repayment period is the ratio of the operating profit plus depreciation and amortisation of the four divisions 
and the Holding and other companies segment to the net financial position. Since the Metro investment is accounted 
for at equity and thus not included in operating profit, EUR 600 million in net financial liabilities are deducted and 
allocated to the Metro investment for the purpose of calculating the core repayment period.

The Group manages the solidity of its balance sheet ratios by monitoring the equity ratio, the gearing, the interest 
cover ratio, and the core repayment period.

EUR million 2015 2014

Equity 4,169 3,973

/ Total assets 6,847 6,446

Equity ratio (in %) 60.9 61.6

   

Net financial position 445 774

 / Equity 4,169 3,973

Gearing 0.1 0.2

   

(Operating profit, including discontinued operations 193 258

+ Result from investments accounted for at equity, including discontinued operations 57 14

+ Other investment result, including discontinued operations) 1

 / (Finance costs, including discontinued operations 89 221

- Other net financial income, including discontinued operations) 13 8

Interest cover ratio 3.3 1.3

   

(Net financial position 445 774

- Net financial liabilities allocated to Metro investment) 600 600

/ (Operating profit, including discontinued operations 193 258

+ Depreciation and amortisation, including discontinued operations 172 162

+ Impairment of goodwill, including discontinued operations)

Core repayment period -0.4 0.4
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EUR million 2015 2014 2013

Operating profit 193 217  

+ Result from investments accounted for at equity 57 14  

+ Other investment result    

+ Other net financial income 13 9  

- Income tax expenses 54 59  

+ Profit after taxes from discontinued operations before finance costs  726  

Return 209 907  

    

Total assets 6,847 6,446 13,387

- Current provisions 95 103 122

- Trade payables and similar liabilities 137 151 125

- Income tax liabilities 22 18 12

- Other current liabilities 208 226 200

- Deferred tax liabilities 115 51 50

- Non-interest bearing liabilities held for sale  8 3,103

Capital employed 6,270 5,889 9,775

    

Average capital employed (current and previous year divided by two) 6,080 7,832  

x Weighted average cost of capital (in %) 8.1 8.1  

Cost of capital 492 634  

    

Return 209 907  

- Cost of capital 492 634  

Haniel value added (HVA) -283 273  

    

Return 209 907  

/ Average capital employed 6,080 7,832  

Return on capital employed (ROCE, in %) 3.4 11.6  

In order to manage the capital employed from yield perspectives, the Group uses the Haniel value added (HVA) and 
the return on capital employed (ROCE) as value-oriented performance indicators. They show whether the profits gen-
erated with the capital employed cover the cost of capital.

The weighted average cost of capital (WACC) reflects the expected return of equity and debt providers after taxes.

In addition, investment projects are assessed using uniform DCF methods; risk-appropriate minimum rates of return 
are specified for each division and each strategic business unit.
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13 Current and non-current financial liabilities

Financial liabilities comprise the interest-bearing obligations of the Haniel Group that existed as at the respective 
reporting dates. The different types and maturities of the current and non-current financial liabilities are shown in the 
table below:

31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014

EUR million Up to  
1 year

1 to  
5 years

More than  
5 years

Total Up to  
1 year

1 to  
5 years

More than  
5 years

Total 

Liabilities due to banks 81 152 77 310 194 289 49 532

Bonds, commercial paper and 
other securitised debt 477 614  1,091 102 531  633

Liabilities to shareholders 53 95  148 63 100  163

Lease liabilities 2 14 18 34 2 15 20 37

Other financial liabilities 30 39 28 97 31 35 37 103

 643 914 123 1,680 392 970 106 1,468

of which subordinated 81 126 27 234 92 127 35 254

31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014

EUR million Up to  
1 year

1 to  
5 years

More than  
5 years

Total Up to  
1 year

1 to  
5 years

More than  
5 years

Total 

Minimum lease payments 4 19 26 49 4 20 28 52 

Less interest portion 2 5 8 15 2 5 8 15 

Present value 2 14 18 34 2 15 20 37 

The maturities of the liabilities due to banks correspond to the respective financing commitments.

The increase in securitised debt as compared to the previous year resulted in particular from the issue of an exchange-
able bond linked to ordinary shares of METRO AG with a nominal volume of EUR 500 million and a term of five years. 
The right of the bondholders to exchange the bond for shares is reported separately from the actual bond under other 
current liabilities in the statement of financial position as a derivative financial instrument carried at fair value. The 
bond itself is reported under current financial liabilities in accordance with IAS 1.69(d).

As at the reporting date, the bonds, commercial paper and other securitised debt item comprises euro bonds issued 
by Franz Haniel & Cie. GmbH in the amount of EUR 465 million (previous year: EUR 479 million), the exchangeable bond 
linked to ordinary shares of METRO AG in the amount of EUR 469 million (previous year: EUR 0 million), and promissory 
loan notes issued by the divisions in the amount of EUR 157 million (previous year: EUR 154 million). 

Liabilities to shareholders relate to shareholders of Franz Haniel & Cie. GmbH.

Future finance lease payments and their present values are shown in the table below:
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14 Pension provisions

Pension provisions are recognised for obligations arising from current pensions as well as from commitments under 
old-age, disability and survivors’ pension plans. The benefits paid by the Group vary from country to country, depend-
ing on the respective legal, tax and economic circumstances. The Haniel Group’s company pension schemes comprise 
both defined contribution plans and defined benefit plans. Other than the payment of the contributions, no further 
obligations exist in respect of the defined contribution plans. The contributions of the continuing operations are 
shown under personnel expenses and amounted to EUR 24 million (previous year: EUR 23 million) for the statutory 
pension insurances and EUR 6 million (previous year: EUR 6 million) for other defined contribution plans.

The obligations from defined benefit plans consist primarily of benefit plans based on final salaries with adjustments 
to counter the effect of inflation. They are financed using external pension funds and through provisions. As part of 
their investment strategies, the funds invest in various investment classes to avoid risk concentration. In addition, the 
maturity profile of the plan assets is adjusted in line with the expected benefit payment dates. 

The defined benefit obligations are attributable in particular to Germany, the United Kingdom and Switzerland. The 
characteristics specific to the aforementioned countries are described in greater detail below. 

In Germany the defined benefit obligations are financed through provisions. The obligations are based either on 
shop agreements or individual contractual arrangements. The majority of the British defined benefit obligations are 
financed through external funds into which both the employees and the employer contribute. The investment strat-
egies and minimum allocations are determined by the trustees or boards of trustees in coordination with company 
representatives.

The defined benefit obligations in Switzerland are based on commitments for executives and other employees. They 
are financed through employee and employer contributions to pension funds. The contributions vary depending 
on salary and age. Pension increases are factored in depending on the return on plan assets. To cover the pension 
claims, the plans are subject to minimum funding requirements from which future additional contribution obligations 
may arise.

Financial liabilities include subordinated liabilities in the amount of EUR 234 million (previous year: EUR 254 million). 
The subordinated financial liabilities are subordinate to all other liabilities. The individual subordinated financial liabil-
ities are shown in the table below:

EUR million 31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014

Shareholder loans Haniel family 148 163

Loans of the Haniel Foundation 36 36

Haniel Zerobonds and Zinsbonds 11 19

Haniel Performance Bonds 28 26

Other financial liabilities 11 10

Total 234 254
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The defined benefit obligations are measured using the projected unit credit method. This measurement is based on 
the following specific parameters for each country:

The discount rate is determined using an interest rate curve approach for each currency area based on the yields of 
fixed interest corporate bonds that have an AA rating from at least one respected rating agency. In exceptional cases, 
if there is not a sufficiently liquid market for such corporate bonds in a currency area, the yields of corresponding gov-
ernment bonds are used instead. 

The mortality tables used for the corresponding countries are based on publicly accessible data. In Germany, the 
measurement is based on the biometric probabilities from the 2005G Heubeck mortality tables.

As in the previous year, the average duration of the defined benefit plans was 18 years.

Pension provisions are presented in the following items of the statement of financial position:

31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014

% Germany United
Kingdom

Switzerland Others Germany United
Kingdom

Switzerland Others

Discount rate 2.5 3.7 0.6 to 0.8 2.2 to 6.8 2.0 3.6 1.1 to 1.3 2.0 to 4.3

Salary growth rate 2.8 3.1 1.5 0.0 to 5.5 2.8 3.0 1.5 0.0 to 3.0

Pension growth rate 1.8 3.0 0.0 0.0 to 4.0 1.8 3.0 0.0 0.0 to 2.0

EUR million 31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014

Pension provisions 323 335

Other non-current assets 2 1

Net pension provisions 321 334
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The present value of defined benefit obligations developed as follows in the financial year:

The pension payments are expected to be EUR 13 million (previous year: EUR 13 million) in the next financial year, 
EUR 63 million in the following 2 to 5 financial years (previous year: EUR 55 million) and EUR 86 million in the next 6 to 
10 financial years (previous year: EUR 81 million).

The plan assets developed as follows:

Employer contributions to the plan assets are expected to be EUR 6 million in the coming financial year (previous 
year: EUR 5 million).

EUR million 2015 2014

Present value of defined benefit obligations as at 1 Jan. 471 356

Foreign exchange rate adjustments 12 5

Changes in the scope of consolidation and other changes 11  

Current service cost 17 12

Past service cost -1 -1

Gains and losses arising from settlements   

Interest cost 10 13

Actuarial gains and losses -31 99

of which arising from experience adjustments -5  

of which arising from changes in demographic assumptions   

of which arising from changes in financial assumptions -26 99

Employees’ contributions to plan assets 3 3

Less current pension payments 15 13

Less payments in respect of settlements 2 3

Reclassification as held for sale   

Present value of defined benefit obligations as at 31 Dec. 475 471

EUR million 2015 2014

Fair value of plan assets as at 1 Jan. 137 109

Foreign exchange rate adjustments 8 4

Changes in the scope of consolidation and other changes 8  

Return on plan assets 4 4

Gains and losses arising from settlements   

Remeasurements of plan assets -6 18

Employer’s contributions to plan assets 7 4

Employees’ contributions to plan assets 3 3

Less current pension payments out of plan assets 7 5

Less payments in respect of settlements   

Reclassification as held for sale   

Fair value of plan assets as at 31 Dec. 154 137
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The table below shows the plan asset portfolio structure as at the reporting date:

The plan assets do not contain any own financial instruments of the Haniel Group or any assets used by the Haniel Group.

The table below presents the development of the net pension provisions. It corresponds generally to the difference 
between the changes to the present value of defined benefit obligations and the fair value of the plan assets.

The pension expenses for the financial year are presented in the income statement in personnel expenses in the 
amount of EUR 16 million (previous year: EUR 11 million), in finance costs in the amount of EUR 6 million (previous 
year: EUR 9 million), and, in the previous year, in the profit after taxes of discontinued operations.

EUR million 2015 2014

Net pension provisions as at 1 Jan. 334 247

Foreign exchange rate adjustments 4 1

Changes in the scope of consolidation and other changes 3  

Current service cost 17 12

Past service cost -1 -1

Gains and losses arising from settlements   

Interest cost from compounding the defined benefit obligation 10 13

Return on plan assets 4 4

Actuarial gains and losses in respect of the defined benefit obligation -31 99

of which arising from experience adjustments -5  

of which arising from changes in demographic assumptions   

of which arising from changes in financial assumptions -26 99

Remeasurements of plan assets -6 18

Employer’s contributions to plan assets 7 4

Less current pension payments 8 8

Less payments in respect of settlements 2 3

Reclassification as held for sale   

Net pension provisions as at 31 Dec. 321 334

2015 2014

EUR million with  
active market

without  
active market

with  
active market

without  
active market

Cash and cash equivalents 3    

Equity instruments 12  15  

Debt instruments 29  29  

Real estate 1  1  

Derivatives     

Investment funds 5    

Asset-backed securities     

Structured debt     

Insurance contracts  104  92

Others     

Fair value of plan assets as at 31 Dec. 50 104 45 92
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The table below presents how the present value of defined benefit obligations as at the reporting date would have 
changed given variations in isolated significant actuarial parameters.

The non-current provisions for personnel comprise obligations from performance cash plans, anniversaries and par-
tial retirement schemes. Current provisions for personnel include bonuses, obligations under social plans and termi-
nation benefits.

Provisions for removal usually result from the construction and redesign of land and buildings (improvements and 
reconstruction) whose removal will be necessary in future because of contractual, constructive or legal obligations. 
The present value of expected expenses is immediately recognised as a liability and initially corresponds to an appro-
priate increase in the acquisition cost of the relevant tangible asset. Present value adjustments resulting during the 
term from changes in the expected settlement amount or from changes in interest rates are generally recognised 
against the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

EUR million 2015 2014

0.5 percentage points increase in the discount rate -39 -40

0.5 percentage points decrease in the discount rate 47 46

0.5 percentage points increase in the salary growth rate 9 8

0.5 percentage points decrease in the salary growth rate -7 -6

0.5 percentage points increase in the pension growth rate 19 18

0.5 percentage points decrease in the pension growth rate -17 -16

One year increase in life expectancy 13 13

One year decrease in life expectancy -12 -12

15 Other non-current and current provisions

EUR million As at 1 Jan. 
2015

Foreign 
exchange 

rate adjust-
ments

Changes in 
the scope 

of consoli-
dation

Reclassi- 
fication

Interest 
effect

Additions Reversals Utilisations As at  
31 Dec. 

2015 

Provisions for personnel 17  2 -1  5 -1 -3 19 

Provisions for removal 12     -3 -1 -1 7 

Miscellaneous non-current 
provisions 81 3  -19  7 -15 -2 55 

Other non-current provisions 110 3 2 -20 0 9 -17 -6 81 

Provisions for personnel 44 1  1  41 -5 -38 44 

Provisions for litigation 3      -2  1 

Provisions for warranties 2     1  -1 2 

Provisions for restructuring 8     2 -1 -4 5 

Miscellaneous current provisions 46 1 2 19  3 -6 -22 43 

Current provisions 103 2 2 20 0 47 -14 -65 95 
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Current provisions for restructuring include all estimated costs for the restructuring of certain companies and/or 
business units on the basis of a restructuring plan adopted by the responsible management. The majority of provi-
sions for restructuring as at the end of the year relate to the CWS-boco division.

In the financial year miscellaneous non-current and current provisions primarily contain provisions relating to busi-
ness combinations and disposals in the amount of EUR 30 million (previous year: EUR 34 million) and provisions 
amounting to EUR 39 million (previous year: EUR 70 million) for damages in connection with sand-lime bricks that 
were produced in former Haniel building materials plants using lime substitutes, and which are being settled by 
Haniel on a goodwill basis. These provisions are measured based on the expected rehabilitation costs of the con-
cerned properties.

The other non-current provisions are expected to be utilised as follows:

The accrued expenses include in particular periodic expenses for interest, holiday leave not yet taken, rebates, 
bonuses and invoices in transit. Derivative financial instruments are described in detail under note 27. In the previous 
year, other current liabilities included in particular liabilities from business combinations totalling EUR 61 million, 
which were paid during the financial year.

31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014

EUR million Up to  
2 years

2 to  
5 years

More than  
5 years

Total Up to  
2 years

2 to  
5 years

More than  
5 years

Total 

Provisions for personnel 8 8 3 19 8 6 3 17 

Provisions for removal 1  6 7 1  11 12 

Miscellaneous non-current 
provisions 24 12 19 55 23 39 19 81 

33 20 28 81 32 45 33 110 

16 Trade payables and similar liabilities

EUR million 31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014

Trade payables 131 146

Prepayments received on account of orders 6 5

137 151

17 Other current liabilities

EUR million 31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014

Liabilities for other taxes 27 17

Liabilities for payroll and social security 14 11

Accrued expenses 96 100

Derivative financial instruments 52 19

Miscellaneous current liabilities 19 79

208 226
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C.  Notes to the income statement

18 Revenue

EUR million 2015 2014

Trade sales 3,105 3,271

Service sales 703 673

3,808 3,944

19 Other operating income

EUR million 2015 2014

Income from disposals of non-current assets 7 1

Reversals of valuation allowances on doubtful receivables 2 4

Rental and similar income 3 3

Miscellaneous operating income 16 25

 28 33

A breakdown of revenue by division and region is provided in the segment reporting on pages 84 and 85.

Among other things, the miscellaneous operating income includes subsidies for advertising expenses received and 
similar income in the amount of EUR 2 million (previous year: EUR 2 million), as well as reversals of impairment losses 
on property, plant and equipment in the amount of EUR 0 million (previous year: EUR 1 million). As in the previous 
year, no reversals of impairment losses were recorded in relation to intangible assets. As in the previous year, no con-
tingent rental income was recognised in the financial year.

The table below presents the minimum incoming payments for operating leases in the coming years. 

EUR 9 million in minimum lease payments are expected in the coming years from the lease of a real estate under a 
financial lease (previous year: EUR 10 million). The unearned finance income amounted to EUR 2 million (previous 
year: EUR 3 million). The present value of outstanding minimum lease payments thus amounted to EUR 7 million as at 
the reporting date (previous year: EUR 7 million).

2015 2014

EUR million Up to  
1 year

1 to  
5 years

More than  
5 years

Total Up to  
1 year

1 to  
5 years

More than  
5 years

Total

Operating leases 1 2 2 5 1 1  2
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20 Personnel expenses

EUR million 2015 2014

Wages and salaries 498 462

Social security 92 83

Expenses for pensions and other benefits 28 21

Reversals of provisions for personnel expenses -6 -5

 612 561

21 Other operating expenses

EUR million 2015 2014

Valuation allowances on and write-offs of receivables 5 6

Losses from disposals of non-current assets 1 1

Reversals of provisions -25 -24

Other operating taxes 7 6

Rental and operating lease expenses 60 57

Repairs and maintenance 40 34

Sales freight 11 11

Legal and consulting costs 22 18

IT services 18 20

Personnel leasing 13 12

Energy costs 46 45

Advertising costs and similar expenses 89 82

Travel and training costs 17 14

Miscellaneous operating, administrative and sales expenses 149 137

453 419

A breakdown of employees by division is contained in the segment reporting on pages 84 and 85.

The table below presents the minimum outgoing payments for operating leases in the coming years. 

The minimum outgoing payments are offset by minimum incoming lease payments from subletting arrangements 
amounting to EUR 1 million (previous year: EUR 0 million).

Miscellaneous operating, administrative and sales expenses comprise numerous operating expenses, including com-
munication costs, insurance premiums, auditing expenses and restructuring costs. Research and development costs 
in the amount of EUR 1 million (previous year: EUR 0 million) are also recognised under miscellaneous operating, 
administrative and sales expenses.

2015 2014

EUR million Up to  
1 year

1 to  
5 years

More than  
5 years

Total Up to  
1 year

1 to  
5 years

More than  
5 years

Total

Operating leases 48 92 57 197 46 97 57 200
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22 Finance costs

EUR million 2015 2014

Interest and similar expenses 81 195

Interest expenses for provisions 6 12

Interest expenses under finance leases 2 2

 89 209

23 Other net financial income

EUR million 2015 2014

Interest and similar income 9 8

Miscellaneous financial income 4 1

 13 9

24 Income tax expenses

EUR million 2015 2014

Current taxes 53 47

Deferred taxes 1 12

 54 59

The interest and similar expenses in the previous year included expenses from bond redemptions above the principal 
amount in the Holding and other companies segment as well as from the early termination of cash flow hedges as a 
result of the elimination of hedged items. 

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments recognised in profit or loss amounted to EUR 7 million in 
the financial year (previous year: EUR -7 million) and are included in miscellaneous financial income.

The net exchange differences amounted to EUR -4 million in the financial year (previous year: EUR 8 million). They are 
recognised in the miscellaneous financial income in the amount of EUR -3 million (previous year: EUR 8 million), and in 
the other operating expenses in the amount of EUR -1 million (previous year: EUR 0 million).

The current taxes include prior-period tax income totalling EUR 2 million (previous year: no prior-period tax expenses 
or income). 

Deferred tax assets on tax loss carryforwards in the amount of EUR 13 million were recognised in the financial year 
(previous year: reversals of EUR 3 million). EUR 0 million in write-downs on deferred tax assets (previous year: EUR 
2 million) were offset by EUR 2 million in reversals of write-downs (previous year: EUR 2 million).
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The table below shows a reconciliation between the reported and the expected tax expense:

The expected effective income tax rate comprises corporate income tax, the solidarity surcharge and trade tax as 
pertinent for German corporations.

EUR million 2015 2014

Profit before taxes 174 31

Expected effective income tax rate 30.7% 30.7%

Expected tax expense 53 10

Deviation due to varying foreign tax rates -2 -2

Tax portion for tax-exempt income -1 -1

Tax portion for non-deductible expenses 22 60

Non-recognition, write-downs and utilisation of tax loss carryforwards 9 13

Result from investments accounted for at equity -17 -4

Effect of non-tax-deductible goodwill impairments   

Prior-period taxes 2 -11

Other tax effects -12 -6

Reported tax expense 54 59

Reported income tax rate 31.0% 190.3%



25 Profit after taxes from discontinued operations

In the previous year, the profit after taxes from discontinued operations according to the income statement included 
the income and expenses of the Celesio division, which was sold in February 2014, and consisted of the following: 

The discontinuation of depreciation/amortisation and the offsetting effect from the discontinuation of the equity 
method for the pertinent associates between the date the Celesio division was classified as a discontinued operation 
and the disposal date resulted in an improvement in profit after taxes by a total of EUR 9 million in the previous year.
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EUR million 2015 2014

Revenue  1,851

Cost of materials  1,653

Gross profit  198

Depreciation and amortisation   

Operating profit  41

Result from investments accounted for at equity   

Other investment result  1

Finance costs  12

Other net financial income  -1

Profit before taxes  29

Income tax expenses  11

Profit after taxes 0 18

   

Revaluation and disposal gains/losses before taxes  696

Income taxes on revaluation and disposal gains/losses   

Revaluation and disposal gains/losses after taxes 0 696

   

Profit after taxes from discontinued operations according to income statement 0 714
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D.  Other notes 

26 Financial risk management

In the context of its operating activities, the Haniel Group is exposed to financial risks. These primarily include liquid-
ity risks, default risks, risks resulting from changes in interest and exchange rates, and price fluctuations in the stock 
or commodity markets. The purpose of financial risk management is to reduce the extent of these financial risks.

The Management Board lays down the basic guidelines for financial risk management and determines the general 
procedures to be followed for hedging financial risks. The holding companies of the divisions have their own treasury 
departments, which identify, analyse and assess the financial risks before initiating preventive or mitigating meas-
ures. The central treasury department advises the subsidiaries and, in addition to its own hedging transactions, 
enters into hedges on their behalf as well. All hedges relate to an underlying hedged item. No derivative financial 
instruments are used for speculative purposes.

For financing purposes, the Haniel Group uses a variety of financing instruments in keeping with industry and com-
mercial practice and subject to customary contractual provisions. No special financial risks arise from this practice. 
The contractual conditions governing the euro bonds issued in February 2012 by Franz Haniel & Cie. GmbH with an 
issue volume of EUR 400 million provide for an interest rate increase of 125 basis points if Haniel’s rating falls below 
BB or Ba2.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk of being unable to guarantee the Haniel Group’s solvency at all times. Liquidity risk is man-
aged by financial planning measures taken by the divisions’ holding companies to ensure that the necessary re-
sources are available to fund the operating business and investments. The financing requirement is determined 
according to the financial plans of the subsidiaries and the Haniel Holding Company. In order to cover the financing 
requirement, the Haniel Holding Company has at its disposal committed, unutilised credit facilities as well as a 
commercial paper programme and a Debt Issuance Programme. The liquidity risk is also managed within the divi-
sions, which also have their own unutilised bilateral short- and long-term credit facilities. The Haniel Group seeks as 
a general rule to maintain an appropriate reserve of available credit facilities.
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Default risk
The default or credit risk is the risk of the Haniel Group’s contractual partners not fulfilling their obligations. The 
Haniel Group is exposed to a default risk both in its operating business and in connection with financial instruments. 

In view of the Haniel Group’s diverse activities and the large number of existing customer relationships, entailing as 
a rule minor individual receivables, a concentration of default risks generally does not arise from trade receivables. 
From the Group’s perspective, the default risk is not significant. In the ELG division, however, due to its industry there 
are some significant individual trade receivables vis-à-vis major customers that are hedged with default insurance 
policies. 
 
The investment of cash in selected financial products is governed by directives in the Haniel Group. Depending on the 
assessment of the counterparty’s creditworthiness, corresponding limits are prescribed and monitored in order to 
avoid a concentration of default risks. Based on internal and external ratings, the default risks with respect to current 
and non-current financial assets, derivative financial instruments with positive fair values, as well as cash and cash 
equivalents may be summarised as follows. 

In addition to the carrying amounts of the (derivative) financial instruments with positive fair values recognised in the 
statement of financial position, the maximum default risk of the Haniel Group also includes the nominal volume of 
the financial guarantee contracts issued. As at the reporting date the nominal volume of financial guarantee con-
tracts totalled EUR 17 million (previous year: EUR 21 million). 

EUR million 31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014

Low credit risk 1,075 612

Medium credit risk 165 95

Total 1,240 707
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Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk of profit or loss being negatively affected by fluctuating market interest rates. The interest 
rate risk is limited with derivative financial instruments, chiefly interest rate swaps. Decisions on the use of deriva-
tive financial instruments are made on the basis of the planned indebtedness, investment position and interest rate 
expectations. The interest rate hedging strategy is reviewed and new targets are defined at regular intervals. The 
Haniel Group generally seeks to maintain an appropriate hedged interest rate position.

The following interest rate sensitivity analysis illustrates the hypothetical effects on profit before taxes, other com-
prehensive income and equity, had the prevailing market interest rates changed on the reporting date. It is based on 
the assumptions that the figures as at the reporting date are representative for the whole year, and that the sup-
posed change in market interest rates could have occurred on the reporting date. Tax effects are disregarded.

31 Dec. 2015 + 100 basis points - 100 basis points

EUR million Profit before 
taxes

Other  
comprehensive 

income

Equity Profit before 
taxes

Other  
comprehensive 

income

Equity

Euro market interest rates  -9 -9  9 9

USD market interest rates 3 1 4 -3 -1 -4

GBP market interest rates  1 1  -1 -1

31 Dec. 2014 + 100 basis points - 100 basis points

EUR million Profit before 
taxes

Other  
comprehensive 

income

Equity Profit before 
taxes

Other  
comprehensive 

income

Equity

Euro market interest rates   0   0

USD market interest rates 2 1 3 -2 -1 -3

GBP market interest rates -1 1 0 1 -1 0



Exchange rate risk
Exchange rate risks arise from investments and financing measures undertaken in foreign currencies, and from the 
operating business in connection with buying and selling merchandise and services in currencies other than the func-
tional currency. The resulting risk exposure is determined continually and hedged primarily by entering into forward 
currency contracts and currency swaps. The majority of exchange rate risks originate from changes in the USD-EUR 
and GBP-EUR rates.

Micro-hedges are the principal instruments used to hedge exchange rate risks. These entail the direct hedging of an 
underlying transaction with a currency derivative. Currency derivatives are also used to hedge forecast transactions 
in foreign currencies. In this case, the currency derivative (or a combination of several derivatives) that best reflects 
the probability of occurrence and timing of the forecast transaction is selected.

An exchange rate sensitivity analysis illustrates the theoretical effects on profit before taxes, other comprehensive 
income and equity from changes in the exchange rates of the currencies that are significant for the Haniel Group. 
The exchange rate sensitivity analysis is based on the non-derivative and derivative financial instruments held by the 
Group companies in non-functional currencies on the reporting date. It assumes that the exchange rates change by 
an indicated percentage rate on the reporting date. Movements over time, actual observed changes in other market 
parameters and tax effects are disregarded. 

The medium- and long-term borrowing is predominantly done by the Franz Haniel & Cie. GmbH, the holding compa-
nies of the divisions and the financing companies located in Germany and the Netherlands. Depending on the bor-
rowing requirements of the individual Group companies, these companies can also obtain loans in currencies other 
than the euro for disbursement within the Group. Since these loans are not taken out in the companies’ functional 
currency, IFRS 7.40 requires that they be taken into account when measuring the exchange rate risk, even though 
such a risk does not exist from the perspective of the Group as a whole.
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31 Dec. 2015 +10% -10%

EUR million Profit before 
taxes

Other compre-
hensive income

Equity Profit before 
taxes

Other compre-
hensive income

Equity

USD-EUR exchange rate 21  21 -21  -21

GBP-EUR exchange rate 8  8 -8  -8

31 Dec. 2014 +10% -10%

EUR million Profit before 
taxes

Other compre-
hensive income

Equity Profit before 
taxes

Other compre-
hensive income

Equity

USD-EUR exchange rate 36 36 -36 -36

GBP-EUR exchange rate 7 7 -7 -7



Consolidated financial statements / Notes

131

Share price risk
Share price risks in Haniel’s consolidated financial statements result from the exchangeable bond linked to ordinary 
shares of METRO AG issued in May 2015. Fluctuations in the quoted share price of METRO AG have a direct impact on 
the measurement of the obligation to deliver. A hypothetical 10 per cent increase (decrease) in METRO AG’s quoted 
share price as at 31 December 2015 would lead to a decrease (increase) in the profit before taxes of EUR 12 million 
(EUR 11 million). Compensating changes in value from the Metro shares held are not included in the aforementioned 
sensitivity analysis due to their treatment as an investment accounted for at equity in accordance with IFRS 7.3(a).

Other price risks
These price risks concern the risks arising from fluctuating commodity prices, especially the price of nickel. The ELG 
division continually determines the risk exposures resulting from the purchase and sale of products and hedges these 
with respect to nickel primarily through the use of derivative financial instruments (nickel futures).

The sensitivities are measured, taking into account the effect on profit or loss of value changes in the (derivative) 
financial instruments, disregarding the compensating value changes in the hedged items.

A hypothetical increase (decrease) in the nickel price by USD 1,682 per tonne (previous year: USD 1,774 per ton) 
(financial year: 19 per cent; previous year: 12 per cent of the spot nickel price as at the reporting date) would have 
reduced (raised) profit before taxes by EUR 14 (14) million (previous year: EUR 18 (18) million). The assumed change in 
the nickel price corresponds to the initial margin established by the London Metal Exchange (LME). This is the amount 
that must be deposited as margin when entering into a contract.

Hedge accounting
The Haniel Group enters into hedging transactions for the purpose of hedging both the fair values of certain assets or 
liabilities and future cash flows. This also includes currency hedges of planned sales and purchases of merchandise 
and services, and of investments and divestments.

In accordance with IAS 39, all derivatives entered into by the Haniel Group are initially recognised in the statement 
of financial position at cost, corresponding to fair value, and are subsequently measured at their fair value as at the 
reporting date. When accounting for hedges, the hedge accounting rules are sometimes applied. Under the hedge 
accounting rules, a derivative is classified either as a hedging instrument in a cash flow hedge if it is used to hedge 
future cash flows, as a hedging instrument in a fair value hedge if it is used to hedge the fair values of certain assets 
and liabilities, or as a hedging instrument in a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation if it is used to hedge 
an investment recognised in a foreign currency.

Currency derivatives used to hedge existing items of the statement of financial position are usually not subjected to 
formal hedge accounting. The changes in the fair values of these derivatives, which, from an economic point of view, 
represent effective hedges in the context of the Group strategy, are recognised in profit or loss. Those changes are 
generally matched by opposite changes in the fair values of the hedged items.
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Cash flow hedges – interest rate hedging
The Haniel Group obtains financing largely by way of long-term and short-term bilateral credit facilities, bonds and 
promissory loan notes. The bilateral credit facilities are generally utilised on a revolving basis with a short-term fixed-
rate period. By entering into derivative financial instrument transactions, the Group hedges against rising market 
interest rates and thus against future increases in interest expenses. At the reporting date, the Group has hedged 
interest payments amounting to EUR 0 million, USD 2 million and GBP 1 million. These hedges originate from float-
ing-rate liabilities with a nominal volume of EUR 25 million, USD 70 million and GBP 15 million. In the previous year, 
the Group had hedged interest payments amounting to EUR 1 million, USD 1 million and GBP 1 million. These hedges 
originated from floating-rate liabilities with a nominal volume of EUR 25 million, USD 30 million and GBP 15 million.

Cash flow hedges – currency hedging
The Haniel Group enters into forward exchange contracts to hedge euro-denominated payments. The designated 
hedged items are highly probable payments denominated in various foreign currencies.

The designated underlying transactions as at 31 December 2015 amount to EUR 28 million. They will mature in the 
amount of EUR 12 million in Q1 2016, in the amount of EUR 10 million in Q2 2016, and in the amount of EUR 6 million in 
Q3 2016. 

The designated underlying transactions as at 31 December 2014 amounted to EUR 27 million. They matured in the 
amount of EUR 12 million in Q1 2015, in the amount of EUR 10 million in Q2 2015, and in the amount of EUR 5 million in 
Q3 2015.

In connection with cash flow hedges, EUR 0 million (previous year: losses of EUR 7 million) were recognised in 
other comprehensive income for the financial year. Losses in the amount of EUR 4 million (previous year: losses of 
EUR 19 million) were transferred from other comprehensive income to finance costs. Of these amounts, EUR 1 million 
were recognised in finance costs in the financial year (previous year: EUR 16 million) because previously existing 
hedges were revoked upon the disposal of the hedged items. In the previous year, an additional loss of EUR 3 million 
was recognised in profit after taxes from discontinued operations.

As in the previous year, there were no significant ineffective portions of cash flow hedges.

Fair value hedge
As in the previous year, fair value hedge accounting was not applied in the financial year.

Hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation
Non-derivative financial liabilities denominated in foreign currency are used to hedge the net investment in a foreign 
operation. As in the previous year, there were no significant ineffective portions of the net investment hedges.
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27 Additional disclosures on financial instruments

In compliance with the hedging strategy pursued by the Haniel Group, the total derivative financial instruments posi-
tion is composed as follows:

31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014

EUR million Fair value of which 
cash flow hedges

Fair value of which 
cash flow hedges

Assets     

Interest rate instruments     

Currency instruments 3  1  

Other derivative financial instruments 5  10  

 8 0 11 0

Liabilities     

Interest rate instruments 11 7 13 9

Currency instruments 5  5  

Other derivative financial instruments 36  1  

 52 7 19 9

The other derivative financial instruments are nickel derivatives held by the ELG division and the obligation from the 
exchangeable bond to deliver ordinary shares of METRO AG.
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The table below shows the contractually agreed, undiscounted payments of interest and principal over time of 
the non-derivative financial liabilities, derivative liabilities and financial guarantee contracts existing as at 31 De-
cember 2015:

The repayments of principal are classified by the earliest period in which the creditors may demand repayment.

For the financial guarantee contracts, the disclosure is made not on the basis of the estimated probable amount, but 
in the amount of the agreed maximum guarantee at the earliest possible date.

For purposes of the cash flow analysis, in accordance with IFRS 7.B11A the exchangeable bond linked to ordinary 
shares of METRO AG is considered to be a single financial instrument and is presented in total in the line bonds, com-
mercial paper and other securitised debt. The obligation to deliver ordinary shares of METRO AG is not separated. 

EUR million Cash flows 
2016

Cash flows 
2017

Cash flows 
from 2018  

to 2020

Cash flows 
from 2021  

to 2025

Cash flows 
from 2026 

onwards

Non-derivative financial liabilities and financial  
guarantee contracts      

Liabilities due to banks -84 -60 -101 -77  

Bonds, commercial paper and other securitised debt -539 -343 -314   

Liabilities to shareholders -60 -71 -33   

Lease liabilities -4 -4 -15 -14 -12

Other financial liabilities -39 -12 -34 -31 -1

Liabilities from business combinations   -19   

Trade payables -131     

Financial guarantee contracts -1 -1 -2 -5 -8

 -858 -491 -518 -127 -21

Derivative liabilities      

Hedge accounting      

Derivatives (net settled) -2 -2 -5   

Derivatives (gross settled) inflows 15     

Derivatives (gross settled) outflows -15     

 -2 -2 -5 0 0

Without hedge accounting      

Derivatives (net settled) -2 -2 -2   

Derivatives (gross settled) inflows 194 20    

Derivatives (gross settled) outflows -197 -22    

 -5 -4 -2 0 0

 -7 -6 -7 0 0
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The contractually agreed, undiscounted payments of interest and principal over time of the non-derivative finan-
cial liabilities and derivative liabilities and financial guarantee contracts that existed as at 31 December 2014 were 
as follows:

EUR million Cash flows 
2015

Cash flows 
2016

Cash flows 
from 2017  

to 2019

Cash flows 
from 2020  

to 2024

Cash flows 
from 2025 

onwards

Non-derivative financial liabilities and financial  
guarantee contracts      

Liabilities due to banks -199 -108 -194 -49  

Bonds, commercial paper and other securitised debt -131 -35 -517   

Liabilities to shareholders -68 -48 -66   

Lease liabilities -4 -4 -16 -15 -13

Other financial liabilities -39 -12 -34 -41 -2

Liabilities from business combinations -61     

Trade payables -146     

Financial guarantee contracts -4 -1 -2 -5 -9

 -652 -208 -829 -110 -24

Derivative liabilities      

Hedge accounting      

Derivatives (net settled) -3 -3 -5 -1  

Derivatives (gross settled) inflows 19     

Derivatives (gross settled) outflows -19     

 -3 -3 -5 -1 0

Without hedge accounting      

Derivatives (net settled) -1 -1 -3 -1  

Derivatives (gross settled) inflows 385 1 18   

Derivatives (gross settled) outflows -390 -1 -18   

 -6 -1 -3 -1 0

 -9 -4 -8 -2 0
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ASSETS

EUR million Carrying 
amounts  

as at  
31 Dec. 2015

Financial 
assets held  
for trading

Loans and 
receivables

Financial 
assets  

available  
for sale

No IAS 39 
category

Outside the 
scope of  

IFRS 7 

Financial assets available for sale 641   641   

Other securities 5  5    

Loans 13  6  7  

Non-current financial assets 659 0 11 641 7 0

Trade receivables 401 0 401 0 0 0

Financial assets available for sale 212   212   

Other securities and fixed-term deposits 19  19    

Current financial assets 231 0 19 212 0 0

Cash and cash equivalents 342 0 123 219 0 0

Receivables from investments 1  1    

Derivative financial instruments 8 8     

Value added tax receivables and other tax assets 20     20

Prepaid expenses 14     14

Bonuses and discount claims against suppliers 16  16    

Miscellaneous current assets 59  59    

Other current assets 118 8 76 0 0 34

Assets held for sale 2 0 0 0 0 2

IAS 39 categorisation of financial instruments
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EUR million Carrying 
amounts  

as at  
31 Dec. 2014

Financial 
assets held  
for trading

Loans and 
receivables

Financial 
assets  

available  
for sale

No IAS 39 
category

Outside the 
scope of  

IFRS 7 

Financial assets available for sale 167   167   

Other securities 5  5    

Loans 16  9  7  

Non-current financial assets 188 0 14 167 7 0

Trade receivables 407 0 407 0 0 0

Financial assets available for sale 160   160   

Other securities and fixed-term deposits 237  237    

Current financial assets 397 0 237 160 0 0

Cash and cash equivalents 111 0 111 0 0 0

Receivables from investments 8  8    

Derivative financial instruments 11 11     

Value added tax receivables and other tax assets 13     13

Prepaid expenses 14     14

Bonuses and discount claims against suppliers 13  13    

Miscellaneous current assets 32  32    

Other current assets 91 11 53 0 0 27

Assets held for sale 29 0 8 0 0 21
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LIABILITIES

EUR million Carrying 
amounts  

as at  
31 Dec. 2015

Financial  
liabilities held 

for trading 

Other  
financial 
liabilities

No IAS 39 
category

Outside the 
scope of  

IFRS 7 

Liabilities due to banks 229  229   

Bonds, commercial paper and other securitised debt 614  614   

Liabilities to shareholders 95  95   

Lease liabilities 32   32  

Other financial liabilities 67  67   

Non-current financial liabilities 1,037 0 1,005 32 0

Other non-current liabilities 17 0 3 12 2

Liabilities due to banks 81  81   

Bonds, commercial paper and other securitised debt 477  477   

Liabilities to shareholders 53  53   

Lease liabilities 2   2  

Other financial liabilities 30  30   

Current financial liabilities 643 0 641 2 0

Trade payables and similar liabilities 137 0 131 0 6

Liabilities for other taxes 27    27

Liabilities for payroll and social security 14    14

Accrued expenses 96  28  68

Derivative financial instruments 52 45  7  

Miscellaneous current liabilities 19  17  2

Other current liabilities 208 45 45 7 111

Liabilities held for sale 0 0 0 0 0

IAS 39 categorisation of financial instruments
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EUR million Carrying 
amounts  

as at  
31 Dec. 2014

Financial  
liabilities held 

for trading 

Other  
financial 
liabilities

No IAS 39 
category

Outside the 
scope of  

IFRS 7 

Liabilities due to banks 338  338   

Bonds, commercial paper and other securitised debt 531  531   

Liabilities to shareholders 100  100   

Lease liabilities 35   35  

Other financial liabilities 72  72   

Non-current financial liabilities 1,076 0 1,041 35 0

Other non-current liabilities 2 0 0 0 2

Liabilities due to banks 194  194   

Bonds, commercial paper and other securitised debt 102  102   

Liabilities to shareholders 63  63   

Lease liabilities 2   2  

Other financial liabilities 31  31   

Current financial liabilities 392 0 390 2 0

Trade payables and similar liabilities 151 0 146 0 5

Liabilities for other taxes 17    17

Liabilities for payroll and social security 11    11

Accrued expenses 100  30  70

Derivative financial instruments 19 10  9  

Miscellaneous current liabilities 79  78  1

Other current liabilities 226 10 108 9 99

Liabilities held for sale 9 0 5 0 4
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Fair value measurement
The table below shows the assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the statement of financial position as at 
31 December 2015, classified by the following input levels:

Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for the identical asset or liability
Level 2:  Quoted prices in active markets for similar assets and liabilities or other valuation techniques for which all 

significant inputs are based on observable market data
Level 3: Valuation techniques for which significant inputs are not based on observable market data

If assets and liabilities recurrently measured at fair value must be reclassified between the various levels because, for 
example, an asset is no longer traded in an active market or is traded for the first time, the reclassification is made at 
the end of the reporting period. No such transfers between Levels 1 and 2 took place either during the financial year 
or the previous year.

EUR million Total
31 Dec. 2015

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Not measured 
at fair value

Assets      

      

Recurring fair value measurement      

Non-current financial assets      

Financial assets available for sale 641 617 20  4

Current financial assets      

Financial assets available for sale 212 212    

Cash and cash equivalents      

Money market funds 219 219    

Other current assets      

Derivative financial instruments 8  8   

      

Non-recurring fair value measurement      

Assets held for sale 2  2   

      

Liabilities      

      

Recurring fair value measurement      

Other non-current liabilities      

Contingent consideration from business combinations 12   12  

Other current liabilities      

Derivative financial instruments 52  52   

      

Non-recurring fair value measurement      

Liabilities held for sale 0     
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The table below shows the assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the statement of financial position as at 
31 December 2014:

The financial assets available for sale category includes securities and investments in the amount of EUR 4 million 
(previous year: EUR 5 million) that are recognised at amortised cost. These were primarily investments in non-listed 
companies. It is not possible to reliably measure the fair value of these investments for lack of an active market.

EUR million Total
31 Dec. 2014

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Not measured 
at fair value

Assets      

      

Recurring fair value measurement      

Non-current financial assets      

Financial assets available for sale 167 142 20  5

Current financial assets      

Financial assets available for sale 160 150 10   

Cash and cash equivalents      

Money market funds 0     

Other current assets      

Derivative financial instruments 11  11   

      

Non-recurring fair value measurement      

Assets held for sale 29  6  23

      

Liabilities      

      

Recurring fair value measurement      

Other non-current liabilities      

Contingent consideration from business combinations 0     

Other current liabilities      

Derivative financial instruments 19  19   

      

Non-recurring fair value measurement      

Liabilities held for sale 9    9
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The fair value of financial instruments traded in an active market (Level 1) is based on the quoted prices as at the 
reporting date. The fair values of assets and liabilities recurrently measured at fair value within Level 2 and Level 3 
are determined using the DCF method. Expected future cash flows from the financial instruments are discounted 
using market interest rates with matching maturities. The Haniel Group takes into account the creditworthiness of 
the respective borrower by determining Credit Value Adjustments (CVA) or Debt Value Adjustments (DVA) based on 
a premium/discount method. If available, the CVA or DVA is determined using observable market prices for credit 
derivatives.

The table below shows the fair values of the financial instruments as at 31 December 2015 that are not recognised at 
fair value in the statement of financial position:

Carrying 
amounts

Fair value

EUR million Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets     

Non-current financial assets     

Other securities 5  5  

Loans 13  15  

     

Liabilities     

Financial liabilities     

Liabilities due to banks 310  311  

Bonds, commercial paper and other securitised debt 1,091 503 655  

Liabilities to shareholders 148  155  

Lease liabilities 34  45  

Other financial liabilities 97  102  

Other non-current liabilities     

Purchase price liabilities (not contingent) 3  3  
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The table below shows the fair values of the financial instruments as at 31 December 2014 that were not recognised 
at fair value in the statement of financial position:

The fair value of financial instruments traded in an active market (Level 1) is based on the quoted prices as at the 
reporting date. The fair values for Levels 2 and 3 are measured analogously to the method for assets and liabilities 
recurrently measured at fair value using the DCF method.

Offsetting financial assets and liabilities
The tables below provide an overview of the financial assets and liabilities that are offset in the statement of finan-
cial position. It also presents the extent to which there are netting agreements with contractual partners that do 
not result in a net presentation in the statement of financial position because not all conditions of IAS 32 for a net 
presentation are met. Global netting arrangements in the Haniel Group relate to derivative financial instruments, 
for which, in the event of default, the master agreements with the financial institutions stipulate offsetting mutual 
receivables and liabilities existing at that date. 

Carrying 
amounts

Fair value

EUR million Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets     

Non-current financial assets     

Other securities 5  5  

Loans 16  18  

     

Liabilities     

Financial liabilities     

Liabilities due to banks 532  534  

Bonds, commercial paper and other securitised debt 633 543 158  

Liabilities to shareholders 163  172  

Lease liabilities 37  47  

Other financial liabilities 103  108  

Other non-current liabilities     

Purchase price liabilities (not contingent) 0    
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Concerning assets, the following items in the statement of financial position are affected:

The cash and cash equivalents presented on a net basis in the statement of financial position relate to a cash pooling 
arrangement between the Bekaert Textiles division and an external bank.

Master netting agreements

EUR million Financial assets 
(gross amounts)

Financial  
liabilities set off  

in the statement 
of financial 

position (gross 
amounts)

Financial assets 
presented in  

the statement  
of financial posi-

tion as at  
31 Dec. 2015  

(net amounts)

Financial  
liabilities not  
set off in the 

statement  
of financial  

position

Received  
collateral

Net amounts as 
at 31 Dec. 2015 

Cash and cash equivalents       

with netting agreement 44 42 2   2

without netting agreement 340  340   340

 384 42 342 0 0 342

Derivative financial  
instruments       

with netting agreement 8  8 2  6

without netting agreement   0   0

 8 0 8 2 0 6

Master netting agreements

EUR million Financial assets 
(gross amounts)

Financial  
liabilities set off  

in the statement 
of financial 

position (gross 
amounts)

Financial assets 
presented in  

the statement  
of financial posi-

tion as at  
31 Dec. 2014  

(net amounts)

Financial  
liabilities not  
set off in the 

statement  
of financial  

position

Received 
collateral

Net amounts as  
at 31 Dec. 2014

Cash and cash equivalents       

with netting agreement   0   0

without netting agreement 111  111   111

 111 0 111 0 0 111

Derivative financial  
instruments       

with netting agreement 11  11 2  9

without netting agreement   0   0

 11 0 11 2 0 9
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Concerning liabilities, the following items in the statement of financial position are affected:

Master netting agreements

EUR million Financial  
liabilities 

(gross amounts)

Financial  
assets set off  

in the statement 
of financial 

position (gross 
amounts)

Financial  
liabilities  

presented in  
the statement  

of financial  
position as at  

31 Dec. 2015  
(net amounts)

Financial assets 
not set off in the 

statement of 
financial position

Pledged 
collateral

Net amounts as 
at 31 Dec. 2015 

Derivative financial  
instruments       

with netting agreement 8  8 2  6

without netting agreement 44  44   44

 52 0 52 2 0 50

Master netting agreements

EUR million Financial  
liabilities 

(gross amounts)

Financial  
assets set off  

in the statement 
of financial 

position (gross 
amounts)

Financial  
liabilities  

presented in  
the statement  

of financial  
position as at  
31 Dec. 2014  

(net amounts)

Financial assets 
not set off in the 

statement of 
financial position

Pledged 
collateral

Net amounts as  
at 31 Dec. 2014

Derivative financial  
instruments       

with netting agreement 4  4 2  2

without netting agreement 15  15   15

 19 0 19 2 0 17



The net gain or loss on financial assets and liabilities held for trading purposes includes gains and losses from fair 
value changes, as well as interest income and expenses arising from these financial instruments. The net gain or 
loss on financial assets available for sale includes in particular income and expenses from bonds and investment 
funds in the Holding and other companies segment recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss from loans and 
receivables consists primarily of interest income and impairments and reversals of impairments on these financial 
instruments. The net gain or loss from other financial liabilities consists primarily of interest expenses and exchange 
differences arising from the measurement of non-operating liabilities denominated in foreign currencies. 

Changes in the fair value of financial assets available for sale in the amount of EUR -2 million (previous year: EUR 
1 million) were recognised in other comprehensive income during the financial year. Amounts arising from fair value 
changes totalling EUR 0 million were transferred from other comprehensive income to the other net financial income 
(previous year: EUR 1 million).

Interest and similar expenses include EUR 75 million from financial liabilities not measured at fair value during the fi-
nancial year (previous year: EUR 170 million). Interest and similar income include interest income from financial assets 
not measured at fair value through profit or loss amounting to EUR 9 million in the financial year (previous year: EUR 
8 million).

28 Contingent liabilities 

The Haniel Group’s contingent liabilities amounted to a total of EUR 536 million (previous year: EUR 517 million). In 
addition to financial guarantee contracts within the meaning of IAS 39 in the amount of EUR 17 million (previous year: 
EUR 21 million), they contain other guarantees in the amount of EUR 511 million (previous year: EUR 496 million) and 
tax- related contingent liabilities in the amount of EUR 8 million (previous year: EUR 0 million). As in the previous year the 
other guarantees concern the Holding and other companies segment and are related to disposals of companies. Certain 
provisions were also recognised in connection with these matters. These are recognised under the relevant item. 

As in the previous year, no contingent receivables exist as at the reporting date.
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Net gains or losses from IAS 39 categories
The net gains or losses recognised in the income statement for continuing operations from the IAS 39 categories 
consist of the following:

EUR million 2015 2014

Financial assets and liabilities held for trading 72 -23

Financial assets available for sale 3 2

Financial assets held to maturity   

Loans and receivables -1 1

Other financial liabilities -77 -162

 -3 -182



29 Business combinations and disposals of consolidated companies

In addition to the new Bekaert Textiles division, Haniel acquired control over 4 further companies or groups of com-
panies in the CWS-boco and TAKKT divisions during the financial year. In total, 29 individual firms were acquired. 
A 100 per cent interest was acquired in each of these companies. 

Of the companies or groups of companies acquired, the acquisition of the Bekaert Textiles group as at 8 June 2015 
classifies as material from the Haniel Group’s perspective. The acquisition of the world’s leading specialist for mat-
tress textiles, with its registered office in Waregem, Belgium, serves to enrich Haniel’s portfolio. 

The total assets and liabilities acquired through business combinations in the financial year are comprised as follows:

The gross contractual amount of the acquired trade receivables is EUR 29 million. Taking into account the expecta-
tion that EUR 3 million in receivables will not be recoverable, the fair value of the acquired trade receivables amounts 
to EUR 26 million. 
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Fair values

EUR million Bekaert Textiles Other 
acquisitions

Total

Assets    

Property, plant and equipment 70  70

Intangible assets 136 17 153

Deferred taxes 10  10

Inventories 46 4 50

Trade receivables 25 1 26

Cash and cash equivalents 24 8 32

Other assets 10  10

 321 30 351

Liabilities    

Financial liabilities 88  88

Pension provisions 3  3

Deferred taxes 47 2 49

Trade payables and similar liabilities 20 3 23

Income tax liabilities 4 1 5

Other liabilities 11 3 14

 173 9 182
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The consideration transferred for the business combinations and the resulting goodwill are presented in the table below:

The reported goodwill essentially represents the future prospects accompanying the business combinations and the 
expertise of the workforce acquired. EUR 17 million of the recognised goodwill is tax deductible.

The transaction costs incurred in the context of the business combinations totalled EUR 2 million and are included in 
other operating expenses. EUR 1 million of that amount relates to the Bekaert Textiles acquisition.

In some instances, contingent consideration was agreed as part of the business combinations. At the respective 
acquisition dates, this contingent consideration was recognised as a liability with a fair value totalling EUR 12 million. 
The future development of the contingent consideration depends on the realisation of certain revenue and earnings 
targets by the acquired companies or groups of companies.

The companies or groups of companies acquired contributed EUR 170 million to revenue and EUR 12 million to profit 
after taxes during the financial year. Of those amounts, EUR 139 million and EUR 12 million, respectively, were attrib-
utable to Bekaert Textiles. If each of the entities had been acquired with effect from the beginning of the financial 
year, they would have contributed EUR 286 million to revenue and EUR 17 million to profit after taxes. Bekaert Textiles 
would have contributed EUR 237 million to revenue and EUR 17 million to profit after taxes.

EUR million Bekaert Textiles Other 
acquisitions

Total

Consideration paid 242 43 285

Contingent consideration  12 12

Other non-cash consideration  2 2

Cash and cash equivalents acquired 24 8 32

Consideration transferred 266 65 331

    

Net assets acquired 148 21 169

    

Goodwill 118 44 162
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Contingent consideration recognised as a liability from business combinations developed as follows in the financial year:

The fair value of the contingent consideration is determined on the basis of revenue and earnings targets, taking into 
account long-term business planning. There were no material changes in this figure during the financial year. The pos-
sible payments, translated at closing rates, for the contingent consideration as at the reporting date range between 
EUR 0 million and EUR 20 million. The measurement of contingent consideration at fair value resulted in the recogni-
tion of EUR 1 million in unrealised losses as interest expenses during the financial year. The value of the consideration 
is determined on a regular basis by qualified employees of the relevant units and discussed with the responsible 
decision maker.

Business combinations after the reporting date, but prior to authorisation of the consolidated financial statements 
for issue
With effect from 29 February 2016, the Bekaert Textiles division acquired all shares in the DesleeClama Group, which 
is domiciled in Zonnebeke, Belgium. DesleeClama is a leading and established company for the development and 
manufacturing of mattress textiles. The purchase price amounted to EUR 92 million. No company shares will be 
issued to settle the consideration transferred. In financial year 2015, DesleeClama generated more than EUR 100 mil-
lion in revenue. Given the short amount of time between the acquisition date and the preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements, no conclusive information was available as to the future inclusion of the company in the consol-
idated financial statements.

EUR million

As at 1 Jan. 0

Additions 12

Settlements 1

Foreign exchange rate adjustments  

Interest effect 1

Revaluations  

As at 31 Dec. 12



Business disposals
During the financial year, 6 companies of the TAKKT division were disposed of and deconsolidated. These companies 
are part of the Plant Equipment Group, which were reported as held for sale as at 31 December 2014 and sold to 
Global Industrial with effect from 30 January 2015. The assets and liabilities disposed of are comprised as follows:

The consideration received for the disposal was EUR 23 million. Taking into account the cash and cash equivalents of 
EUR 1 million in the disposed units, and the paid transaction costs of EUR 4 million and other non-cash components 
of EUR 2 million for the financial year, the total cash amount for the disposal was EUR 16 million. Taking into account 
EUR 3 million in transaction costs incurred during the financial year and the other comprehensive income of EUR 
-3 million to be reclassified to profit or loss, the net result from the disposal amounts to EUR 3 million in total, and is 
included in other operating income.

30 Notes to the statement of cash flows 

The statement of cash flows shows the changes in the Haniel Group’s cash and cash equivalents in the course of the 
financial year resulting from cash inflows and outflows. The statement of cash flows is divided into cash flow from op-
erating, investing and financing activities. The cash and cash equivalents reported at the reporting date are the total 
of bank balances with an original maturity of less than three months, cash on hand and cheques, and money market 
funds, and are identical to the cash and cash equivalents reported in the statement of financial position.

The cash flow from operating activities is determined indirectly on the basis of the profit after taxes and essentially 
contains sales-related payments, dividends from investments accounted for at equity, interest paid and received as 
well as tax payments. Haniel’s internal cash earnings indicator used for management purposes, Haniel cash flow, is 
shown as a separate line item. Haniel cash flow is the profit after taxes, adjusted for all material non-cash income 
and expenses, and non-recurring, non-operating income and expenses, plus other cash components. Haniel cash flow 
consequently corresponds to the cash flow from operating activities excluding changes in current net assets.
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EUR million Carrying 
amounts

Assets  

Property, plant and equipment  

Intangible assets 4

Inventories 10

Trade receivables 8

Cash and cash equivalents 1

Other assets 1

 24

Liabilities  

Financial liabilities 3

Trade payables 3

Other current liabilities 4

 10



The cash flow from investing activities includes payments for purchases and disposals of individual assets as well as 
for consolidated companies and other business units. In the financial year the proceeds from the disposal of property, 
plant and equipment, intangible assets and other assets include proceeds from the disposal of 16.25 million ordinary 
shares in METRO AG. In addition to payments for business combinations conducted in the financial year, the pay-
ments for acquisitions of consolidated companies and other business units include a EUR 53 million payment to settle 
a purchase price liability relating to a previous business combination in the TAKKT division. 

The cash flow from financing activities comprises payments in connection with shareholder transactions as well as 
financial liabilities. The shareholder transactions essentially include payments to shareholders and payments from 
changes in shares in companies already consolidated. The payments to shareholders comprise dividend payments 
to the shareholders of Franz Haniel & Cie. GmbH in the amount of EUR 40 million (previous year: EUR 30 million) and 
payments for the purchase of treasury shares in the amount of EUR 4 million (previous year: EUR 2 million).

The cash flow from financing activities also includes the cash changes in financial liabilities. In this regard, the cor-
responding inflows include the total proceeds from the issuance of the exchangeable bond linked to ordinary shares 
of METRO AG, net of the cash transaction costs, as well as the proceeds from the issuance of promissory loan notes 
in the ELG division. In the previous year, payments for the repayment of financial liabilities included in particular 
amounts for the repurchase of euro bonds and commercial paper in the Holding and other companies segment as 
well as the repayment of bank loans and promissory loan notes. 

The statement of cash flows contains the following cash flows which are attributable to discontinued operations:
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EUR million 2015 2014

Cash flow from operating activities 0 -69

Cash flow from investing activities 0 -5

Cash flow from financing activities 0 11

31 Notes to segment reporting 

In the segment reporting, the reportable segments are the four divisions, the investment in METRO AG accounted for 
at equity and the Holding and other companies segment. The breakdown of the segments reflects the Group struc-
ture. It is defined using the management approach, taking internal monitoring and reporting, as well as the organisa-
tional structure, into account.

In segment reporting, the Celesio division that was sold in February 2014 is presented as a discontinued operation 
in its entirety. Pursuant to IFRS 5, the result from the sale of the Celesio division by the Franz Haniel & Cie. GmbH is 
presented in the income statement in profit after taxes from discontinued operations.

The same accounting standards are used for segment reporting and for the consolidated financial statements. In the 
reported segment assets, goodwill is allocated to the relevant division. Transactions between the divisions take place 
on an arm’s length basis. The financial liabilities encompass the non-current and current financial liabilities contained 
in the statement of financial position. The sum of this amount and the other liabilities recognised in the statement 
of financial position is the Group’s total liabilities. Recognised investments in non-current segment assets include 
additions to property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, investments accounted for at equity and non-current 
financial assets.
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The Bekaert Textiles division, which was acquired during the financial year, is the world’s leading specialist for the 
development and manufacturing of woven and knitted mattress textiles.

CWS-boco ranks among the leading international full-service providers of washroom hygiene products, dust control 
mats, workwear and textile services.

ELG is a global leader in the trading, processing and recycling of raw materials for the stainless steel industry as well 
as high performance materials such as superalloys, titanium and carbon fibres.

TAKKT bundles a portfolio of B2B direct marketing specialists for business equipment in Europe and North America in 
a single company.

The Metro investment concerns the investment in METRO AG accounted for at equity, which is described in greater 
detail under note 3. METRO GROUP is among the premier international merchandisers.

The Holding and other companies segment essentially comprises the Franz Haniel & Cie. GmbH and its financing com-
panies, excluding the Metro investment.

32 Related-party disclosures

The significant related entities of the Haniel Group are associates including their subsidiaries. The previous year dis-
closures in this section also contain the values of the Celesio division up to the disposal date.

Revenue attributable to business with associates in the financial year totalled EUR 10 million (previous year: EUR 
12 million). Expenses in connection with transactions with associates amounted to EUR 1 million (previous year: EUR 
1 million). As at the reporting date, trade receivables from and payables to associates amounted to EUR 2 million and 
EUR 0 million, respectively (previous year: EUR 3 million and EUR 0 million, respectively). All business relations with 
associates are governed by contracts and conducted at prices and conditions that would equally have been agreed 
with third parties.

Related persons of the Haniel Group are key management personnel. This includes the members of the Supervisory 
Board of Franz Haniel & Cie. GmbH and the members of the top-tier executive group. The top-tier executive group 
comprises the members of the Management Board of the Haniel Holding Company as well as the Management Board 
members or Managing Directors of the holding companies of the divisions.

As in the previous year, a portion of the item liabilities to shareholders, reported under note 13, is attributable to 
members of the Supervisory Board of Franz Haniel & Cie. GmbH. Up to and including 2012, Franz Haniel & Cie. GmbH 
had annually offered the executives of the Haniel Group the opportunity to subscribe to registered debt securities 
(Haniel Performance Bonds). The bonds bear interest corresponding to the return on total capital of the Haniel Group 
before taxes, plus a subordination premium of 3 percentage points. The original maturities ranged from 5 to 10 years. 
Since the financial year, the TAKKT division offers its executives analogous registered debt securities with a five-year 
maturity, the interest on which is based on the performance of the division (TAKKT Performance Bonds). As at the 
reporting date, a liability in the total amount of EUR 4 million (previous year: EUR 5 million) from the registered debt 
securities subscribed to by members of the top-tier executive group is recognised.
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The companies of the Haniel Group have not otherwise entered into reportable transactions with key management 
personnel. This also applies to close relatives of this group of persons.

In some cases, key management personnel are members of executive or supervisory bodies of other companies with 
which the Haniel Group engages in regular business relations. All transactions with these companies are conducted 
at arm’s length.

In the current financial year, the members of the top-tier executive group received compensation amounting to EUR 
15 million (previous year: EUR 16 million). Of this total, an amount of EUR 10 million (previous year: EUR 12 million) 
was attributable to short-term employee benefits, EUR 2 million (previous year: EUR 2 million) to post-employment 
benefits, and EUR 0 million (previous year: EUR 1 million) to termination benefits. Additionally, these persons were 
granted share-based payments of EUR 3 million (previous year: EUR 1 million) and other long-term benefits of EUR 
0 million (previous year: EUR 0 million). The two latter compensation components are described in greater detail in 
the following section. As at the reporting date, the present value of defined benefit obligations of members of the 
top-tier executive group amounted to EUR 12 million (previous year: EUR 14 million). The total remuneration of the 
members of the Supervisory Board of Franz Haniel & Cie. GmbH is presented under note 33. In addition, employee rep-
resentatives to the Supervisory Board who work for the Haniel Group received salaries from their employment, which 
are in line with the market.

Compensation serving as long-term incentive
For members of the top-tier executive group, the performance compensation comprises performance cash plans as a 
variable component. These plans are oriented on the value growth of Haniel or of the respective divisions and there-
fore on the sustainability of the Haniel Group’s success.

The performance cash plans granted during the financial year have a term of four years. The actual payment from 
these plans is limited in amount and is made in cash depending on target achievement and the fulfilment of stipu-
lated requirements at the end of the term.

Target attainment in the Bekaert Textiles, CWS-boco and ELG divisions is essentially measured on the development 
of value-oriented performance indicators. These performance cash plans are therefore presented as other long-term 
benefits. 

In contrast, target attainment in the performance cash plans for the Management Board of TAKKT AG and Franz 
Haniel & Cie. GmbH is based primarily on the development of the share price or market value in the period under con-
sideration. Accordingly, the performance cash plans are classified as cash-settled share-based payments as defined 
in IFRS 2. The future payment amount is measured at the fair value of the liability taking into account the contrac-
tual terms and conditions. At TAKKT AG, a binomial option pricing model is used to determine the share price-based 
component. Material measurement assumptions here concern the risk-free interest rate and the applied volatilities 
based on historical observable data. The liability is remeasured at each reporting date and at the date of settlement. 
Any changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss. The performance cash plans for the Management Board of 
the disposed-of Celesio division were also classified as cash-settled share-based payments as defined in IFRS 2. The 
total expense from all cash-settled share-based payments is EUR 3 million (previous year: EUR 1 million). The liability 
recognised in this respect amounted to EUR 9 million as at the reporting date (previous year: EUR 7 million). 
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33 Disclosures required under national legislation 

Compensation paid to the company’s executive bodies in accordance with section 314 (1) no. 6 of the German 
Commercial Code
With reference to section 286 (4) of the German Commercial Code, the total remuneration of the Management Board 
of Franz Haniel & Cie. GmbH in the financial year is not disclosed. The total remuneration of the Supervisory Board 
was EUR 0.8 million (previous year: EUR 0.6 million); that of the Advisory Board was EUR 0.2 million (previous year: 
EUR 0.2 million). The remuneration of former members of these bodies and of their survivors was EUR 2.2 million (pre-
vious year: EUR 2.1 million). Pension provisions amounting to EUR 26.3 million (previous year: EUR 24.8 million) were 
recognised for the former members of the above bodies and their survivors. 

Declaration in accordance with section 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), issued by the listed com-
panies included in the consolidated financial statements in accordance with section 314 (1) no. 8 of the German 
Commercial Code
The following listed companies are included in the consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2015: TAKKT 
AG (fully consolidated) and METRO AG (accounted for at equity). Each of these companies has issued the declaration 
prescribed by section 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act. These declarations have been made public on the 
companies’ individual websites (www.takkt.com; www.metrogroup.de).

Auditor’s fee in accordance with section 314 (1) no. 9 of the German Commercial Code
The total fee paid to the group auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers Aktiengesellschaft Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, 
Germany, by Franz Haniel & Cie. GmbH and its subsidiaries amounted to EUR 1.3 million in the financial year (previ-
ous year: EUR 0.9 million). This total fee comprises services in connection with auditing financial statements in the 
amount of EUR 1.1 million (previous year: EUR 0.8 million), tax consulting services in the amount of EUR 0.1 million 
(previous year: EUR 0.0 million) and other services in the amount of EUR 0.1 million (previous year: EUR 0.1 million).

Disclosure of shareholdings in accordance with section 313 (2) and (3) of the German Commercial Code
The full list of shareholdings of Franz Haniel & Cie. GmbH and the Haniel Group, which forms a part of these notes to 
the consolidated financial statements, is published in the Federal Gazette (Bundesanzeiger) and on the www.haniel.com 
website. The shareholdings of TAKKT AG and METRO AG as at 31 December 2015 are indicated in the individual compa-
nies’ annual reports and/or on their websites (www.takkt.com; www.metrogroup.de).

Number of employees in accordance with section 314 (1) no. 4 of the German Commercial Code
The number of employees in the Haniel Group, averaged from quarterly figures, was 12,930 (previous year: 11,544) 
based on a headcount, and 11,861 (previous year: 10,519) on a full-time basis. When calculating the average annual 
figures, the employees of the new Bekaert Textiles division were accounted for using the values as at the end of the 
last three quarters. A breakdown of employees by division is contained in the segment reporting on pages 84 and 85. 
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Exemption in accordance with sections 264 (3) and 264b of the German Commercial Code
The following companies are exempt from the obligation to publish their annual financial statements in accordance 
with section 264 (3) of the German Commercial Code:

- CWS-boco Deutschland GmbH, Hamburg
- CWS-boco International GmbH, Duisburg
- CWS-boco Supply Chain Management GmbH, Lauterbach
- CWS-boco Welker GmbH, Bremen
- CWS Complete Washroom Concepts GmbH, Duisburg
- Haniel Finance Deutschland GmbH, Duisburg
- Haniel Immobilien Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Duisburg
- STG Service to go GmbH, Duisburg
- Verwaltungsgesellschaft CWS-boco HealthCare mbH, Hamburg
- Zahn HiTex GmbH, Mühldorf am Inn

CWS-boco Healthcare GmbH & Co. KG, Warburg, is exempt from the obligation to publish its annual financial state-
ments in accordance with sections 264a and 264b of the German Commercial Code.

34 Events after the reporting date

With effect from 29 February 2016, the Bekaert Textiles division acquired the DesleeClama Group. For further infor-
mation please refer to note 29.

No further reportable events took place after the reporting date.

35 Profit appropriation proposal of Franz Haniel & Cie. GmbH

After deducting appropriate write-downs and recognising adequate valuation allowances and provisions, the net 
income for the financial year reported in the annual financial statements of Franz Haniel & Cie. GmbH, prepared in 
accordance with the German Commercial Code, amounts to EUR 872 million.

The Management Board proposes to pay out a dividend of EUR 50 million.

The shareholders will therefore receive a dividend of 5 per cent on the subscribed capital of EUR 1.0 billion. This repre-
sents an amount of EUR 2.50 per EUR 50 ordinary share.

Duisburg, 4 March 2016

The Management Board

FunckGemkow
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Responsibility statement

To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the applicable accounting principles, the consolidated financial 
statements give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and results of operations of the Group, and 
the Group report of the Management Board includes a fair view of the development and performance of the business 
and the position of the Group, together with a description of the principal opportunities and risks associated with the 
expected development of the Group.

Duisburg, 4 March 2016

The Management Board

FunckGemkow
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Auditors’ report

We have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared by Franz Haniel & Cie. GmbH, Duisburg, comprising 
the statement of financial position, income statement, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes 
in equity, statement of cash flows and notes, together with the Group report of the Management Board for the 
financial year from 1 January to 31 December 2015. The preparation of the consolidated financial statements and the 
Group report of the Management Board in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as 
adopted by the EU, and the additional requirements of German commercial law in accordance with section 315a (1) 
HGB (Handelsgesetzbuch – German Commercial Code), are the responsibility of the Company’s Management Board. 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements and on the Group report of the 
Management Board based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with section 317 HGB and German 
generally accepted standards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer 
(IDW – Institute of Public Auditors in Germany). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit such 
that misstatements materially affecting the presentation of the assets, liabilities, financial position, and profit or loss 
in the consolidated financial statements in conformity with the applicable financial reporting framework and in the 
management report are detected with reasonable assurance. Knowledge of the business activities and the economic 
and legal environment of the Group and expectations as to possible misstatements are taken into account in the 
determination of audit procedures. The effectiveness of the accounting-related internal control system and the evi-
dence supporting the disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and the Group report of the Management 
Board are examined primarily on a test basis within the framework of the audit. The audit includes assessing the an-
nual financial statements of those entities included in consolidation, the determination of the entities to be included 
in consolidation, the accounting and consolidation principles used and significant estimates made by the Company’s 
Management Board, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements and the 
Group report of the Management Board. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Our audit has not led to any reservations.

In our opinion based on the findings of our audit the consolidated financial statements comply with the IFRSs as 
adopted by the EU, the additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to section 315a (1) HGB and 
give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and results of operations of the Group in accordance 
with these requirements. The Group report of the Management Board is consistent with the consolidated financial 
statements and as a whole provides a suitable view of the Group’s position and suitably presents the opportunities 
and risks of future development.

Essen, 4 March 2016

PricewaterhouseCoopers Aktiengesellschaft
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Wienands
Wirtschaftsprüfer
(German Public Auditor)

Granderath
Wirtschaftsprüfer  
(German Public Auditor)
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Glossary

B
B2B – Business-to-Business The sale of goods or ser-
vices to other companies or corporate customers.

C
Capital employed Difference between total assets and 
the non-interest-bearing capital provided.

Cash flow Balance of cash receipts and cash payments 
in a reporting period. A measure of a company’s financial 
and earning power. For example, operating cash flow 
indicates how much of the recognised net profit for 
the period is reflected in cash inflows from operating 
activities. This cash flow can be used to finance capital 
expenditures, repay liabilities or pay dividends.

Commercial paper Special instruments (money mar-
ket paper), usually discount bonds, issued in order to 
finance short-term credit needs. As a rule, the issuer 
requires an excellent  rating in order to place and deal 
in papers of this kind.

Compliance A key element of  Corporate Governance. 
It denotes the observance of relevant laws and internal 
guidelines. 

Consolidation In the consolidated financial statements, 
the Group, comprising several legally independent 
companies, is depicted as if it were a single business. 
Consolidation consists of bookkeeping techniques that 
eliminate all intra-Group transactions. It eliminates the 
double counting of intra-Group transactions when con-
solidated financial statements are being prepared from 
the data contained in the annual financial statements of 
the individual Group companies.

Core repayment period A capital management indicator 
within the Haniel Group. It is determined by dividing the 

 net financial position, reduced by the debt allocated 
to the Metro investment, by the  operating profit 
before depreciation, amortisation and impairments.

Corporate Governance Rules, statutes, directives and 
recommendations pertaining to how a company is man-
aged and controlled. The principles of Corporate Gov-
ernance at Haniel are described in greater detail in the 
Corporate Governance report on pages 27 and 28.

COSO – Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission A joint initiative of private sector 
organisations in the USA dedicated to the development 
of frameworks and guidance on the establishment and 
structuring of internal control systems (  ICS).

Cost of capital Product of the  weighted average cost 
of capital and the average  capital employed.

Current net assets essentially comprise trade receiva-
bles and inventories less trade payables. This is an indi-
cator used to determine the capital needed to finance 
operating activities. 

D
DCF – Discounted Cash Flow A method by which future 
cash flows from an asset are discounted to determine 
the net present value of that asset. The Haniel Group 
uses DCF calculations to assess the profitability of 
investment projects and business acquisitions and to 
determine the  fair value of non-listed financial instru-
ments.

Debt Issuance Programme An annually renewed pro-
spectus listed by a European stock market for the issue 
of medium-term bonds at any time.
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Equity method A method for measuring investments 
in companies over whose business and financial policy 
Haniel can exert a significant influence or over which it 
has joint control (investments accounted for at equity). 
Under the equity method, the carrying amount of the 
investment is determined by the change in the investor’s 
proportionate interest in the investment’s equity. Thus, 
the carrying amount is increased or decreased by the 
investor’s share in the investment’s profit or loss for 
the period. Distributions received from the investment 
reduce the carrying amount of the investment.

Equity ratio A capital management indicator within the 
Haniel Group which is calculated by dividing recognised 
equity by total assets.

Exchangeable bond An interest-bearing corporate bond 
that carries a right to exchange the bond for a specified 
number of shares in another company. Because of this 
option, exchangeable bonds have a lower interest rate 
than normal bonds of the same maturity.

F
Fair value A measurement approach based on market 
prices in accordance with  IFRS.

Family-equity company A holding company owned by a 
family which combines the professionalism of a private 
equity investor with the values of a family-owned com-
pany.

Financial liabilities The total non-current and current 
financial liabilities presented in the consolidated state-
ment of financial position.

Free cash flow indicates the cash flows from operating 
activities that were not used for capital expenditures. At 
Haniel, the free cash flow is the balance of the cash flow 
from operating activities and the cash flow from invest-
ing activities.

Deferred taxes Differences between the requirements 
under tax law and the accounting and measurement 
regulations in accordance with  IFRS give rise to 
variances in the amounts recognised for assets and 
liabilities. Consequently, the tax burden anticipated on 
the basis of the profit before taxes reported in the con-
solidated financial statements differs from the actual 
amount payable. To allow a corresponding tax expense 
to be posted in the income statement, the effects of 
these deviations are counterbalanced by deferrals.

Derivative (derivative financial instrument) A contract 
that is dependent on another asset (underlying asset). 
The  fair value of a derivative can therefore be derived 
from market values of traditional underlying assets, 
such as stocks and commodities, or from market prices, 
such as interest rates or exchange rates. Derivatives 
exist in a range of different forms, such as  options, 

 futures, interest rate caps and  swaps. In the con-
text of Haniel’s financial management, derivatives are 
used to hedge risk.

Divisions Various business activities in the Haniel port-
folio.

E
Early risk identification system Systematic reporting 
measures designed to detect adverse, risk-entailing 
developments in good time with the help of financial 
and non-financial company-specific indicators and fac-
tors. The early risk identification system forms part of 

 risk management.

E-Commerce The marketing and sale of products and 
services via the Internet. 
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Full consolidation Procedure for including subsidiar-
ies in the consolidated financial statements if they are 
under the parent company’s control on the basis of a 
voting right majority or other means of influence. The 
subsidiary’s individual assets and liabilities are included 
in full in the consolidated statement of financial posi-
tion.

Future A listed  derivative in which two parties agree 
to trade a certain quantity of a reference asset, such as 
a foreign currency, at a future date at a predetermined 
price.

G
Gearing A capital management indicator within the 
Haniel Group which is calculated by dividing the  net 
financial position by the recognised equity.

Goodwill An intangible asset that corresponds to the 
amount by which the purchase price for a business com-
bination exceeds the total  fair value of the assets and 
liabilities acquired (net assets). Essentially, it represents 
the favourable future prospects accompanying the 
acquisition of the combined business and the expertise 
of the assembled workforce.

Goodwill impairment If  goodwill is recognised in the 
course of an acquisition, its carrying amount must be 
tested at least once a year for indication of impairment. 
If the anticipated future  cash flows from sales and 
other income and expenses associated with the takeover 
are lower than the carrying amount of goodwill at the 
time of the impairment test, the goodwill must be writ-
ten down accordingly.

H
Haniel cash flow An internal indicator at the Haniel 
Group that comprises the profit after taxes, adjusted 
for all material non-cash income and expenditure, and 
non-recurring, non-operating income and expenses, plus 
other cash components. In detail, the profit after taxes 
is adjusted for non-cash depreciation, amortisation, 
impairment losses and reversals on non-current assets, 
the change in pension provisions and other non-current 
provisions, the income and expenses from changes in 
deferred taxes, the non-cash income and expenses and 
dividends from  investments accounted for at equity, 
and the gains and losses from the disposal of non-cur-
rent assets and consolidated companies and from 
remeasurement for changes in ownership interests and 
other non-cash income and expenses.

Haniel value added (HVA) Value-oriented performance 
indicator used by the Haniel Group, calculated by sub-
tracting  cost of capital from the  return.

Hedging A strategy for managing interest, foreign 
exchange rate, share price or other market price risks by 
means of  derivatives, which limit the risks associated 
with the underlying transactions.

HGB – Handelsgesetzbuch (German Commercial Code) 
Legal basis for the annual financial statements (sepa-
rate financial statements) of all companies registered 
in Germany. This is relevant to German corporations in 
connection with profit distribution.

I
IAS – International Accounting Standard(s) Financial 
reporting standard(s) within the  IFRS international 
regulatory framework.

IASB – International Accounting Standards Board An 
independent, international body which approves and 
continuously develops the  International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS).
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ICS – Internal control system Systematic control meas-
ures for monitoring whether existing rules for reducing 
risks are being observed. This is intended to ensure the 
functionality and cost-effectiveness of business pro-
cesses and to counteract impairments of assets. It cov-
ers all material business processes, including account-
ing. The purpose of the accounting-related ICS is to 
ensure that financial reporting is reliable and that the 
risk of misstatements in the external and internal Group 
Reports is minimised. 

IFRS – International Financial Reporting Standard(s) 
An international regulatory framework of accounting 
standards and interpretations which are developed 
by the  IASB (International Accounting Standards 
Board) and ratified by the European Commission. These 
accounting standards are intended to ensure the inter-
nationally comparable preparation of accounts.  Pub-
licly traded companies registered in the EU are required 
to prepare their consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with the provisions of IFRS.

IFRS IC – International Financial Reporting Standards 
Interpretations Committee An independent, interna-
tional body which issues interpretations and guidance 
on issues not specifically covered by the  IFRS.

Interest cover ratio A capital management indicator 
within the Haniel Group that is derived as a quotient 
from certain items of the income statement. The sum 
of the  operating profit,  result from investments 
accounted for at equity and other investment result is 
divided by the sum of the finance costs and other net 
financial income. This indicator states how many times 
the interest to be paid to lenders and financial investors 
is covered by earnings from the operating business and 
investments.

Investment position of the Haniel Holding Company 
Non-current and current financial assets and other 
assets held by the Haniel Holding Company, excluding 
cash and cash equivalents, which are available for the 
acquisition of new divisions.

M
Market value gearing Relationship between  net 
financial liabilities at the Haniel Holding Company and 
the market value of Haniel’s investment portfolio. 

Multi-channel Combination and integration of a vari-
ety of channels to approach customers and to market 
offered products and services.

N
Net financial liabilities Difference between  financial 
liabilities and cash and cash equivalents recognised in 
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Net financial position Difference between the  net 
financial liabilities and the  investment position of the 
Haniel Holding Company.

Nickel pig iron A substitute product used particularly 
in China to produce stainless steel. Nickel pig iron is 
produced from lower-quality nickel ore which comes pri-
marily from Indonesia and the Philippines.

Non-controlling interests Interests in the equity of sub-
sidiaries of the Haniel Group held by third parties.

O
Operating profit This measure of earnings shows the 
profit contribution made in the period by the operating 
business, that is to say from the purchase and sale of 
goods and the provision of services, after deducting 
the associated expenses. The amount recognised in the 
income statement is the result before the profit/loss 
from investments and discontinued operations, interest 
and income tax expense.
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Option Agreement between two parties granting one 
party the right to receive or sell a certain quantity of an 
underlying asset, such as a foreign currency, at an pre-
determined price at a later date.

P
Plan assets Comprise assets that are held by a fund 
invested for the long term for satisfying payments to 
employees as well as qualified insurance contracts.

Publicly traded companies Enterprises that have issued 
securities, e.g. shares or bonds, which are publicly listed 
and traded (on a stock exchange).

Purchase price allocation Allocation of the purchase 
price in a business combination to the individual assets 
and liabilities acquired. The acquired assets and liabili-
ties are measured at  fair value. If the total purchase 
price exceeds the net assets acquired, this gives rise to 

 goodwill. 

R
Rating A credit score given to companies or financial 
instruments by agencies, such as Standard & Poor’s, 
Moody’s, or Scope or banks.

Recognised investments include the acquisition of 
non-current assets such as buildings, machinery or 
software. Specifically, the acquisition of assets reported 
under property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, 
investments accounted for at equity or non-current 
financial assets. 

Result from investments accounted for at equity 
Includes the portion of the net profit for the period 
attributable to Haniel which is generated by companies 
measured in the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with the  equity method.

Return  Operating profit of continuing and discontin-
ued operations plus profit/loss from investments and 
other net financial income less income tax expenses.

Return on capital employed (ROCE) Value-oriented 
performance indicator used within the Haniel Group that 
is determined by dividing the  return by the average 

 capital employed.

Risk management Systematic procedures for identify-
ing and assessing potential risks for the Group, and for 
deciding on, implementing and monitoring measures to 
avoid risks and/or reduce their possible negative impact.

S
Scope of consolidation The companies included in the 
consolidated financial statements.

Statement of cash flows The statement of cash flows is 
used to determine and depict cash inflows and outflows. 
It shows the cash that is generated and expended in a 
period (  cash flow).

Strategic business unit (SBU) The organisational level 
below division. The strategic business units can be 
structured according to various criteria, e.g. regions or 
product groups. The strategic business units are fre-
quently depicted in internal controlling and planning 
processes for analysis purposes, in order to illuminate 
trends in the  divisions.

Superalloys At the ELG division, these are high-alloy, 
nickel-containing scrap and titanium scrap processed by 
ELG for its customers.

Sustainability The model of sustainable development 
pursues the objective of engaging in business activity to 
create not only economic value, but also ecological and 
social benefits, without undermining the development 
opportunities of future generations (Corporate Respon-
sibility – CR).



Swap An agreement between two parties to exchange 
commodity or cash flows in the future. In an interest 
rate swap, interest payments are exchanged for an 
agreed principal amount on the basis of different inter-
est rates. Thus, floating interest rates can be exchanged 
with fixed interest rates, for example.

U
United Nations Global Compact (UN Global Compact) 
Initiative of the United Nations under which companies 
undertake to align their business activities and strate-
gies with ten universally accepted principles relating to 
human rights, labour standards, environmental protec-
tion and the fight against corruption.

W
Web-focused brands sell their products and services 
primarily via the Internet.

Weighted average cost of capital (WACC) represents 
the return demanded by providers of capital in relation 
to the  capital employed in the company. It is defined 
as the weighted average cost of equity and debt; the 
cost of the equity component corresponds to the return 
expectations of shareholders, taking into account busi-
ness model-specific risks. The cost of the debt compo-
nent reflects the company’s financing conditions.
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Franz Haniel & Cie. GmbH
Franz-Haniel-Platz 1
47119 Duisburg
Germany
Telephone +49 203 806 - 0
info@haniel.de
www.haniel.com

Bekaert Textiles Holding BVBA
Deerlijkseweg 22
8790 Waregem
Belgium
Telephone +32 56 62 41 11
info@bekaerttextiles.com
www.bekaerttextiles.com

CWS-boco International GmbH
Franz-Haniel-Platz 6 – 8
47119 Duisburg
Germany
Telephone +49 203 9871658000 
info@cws-boco.com
www.cws-boco.com

ELG Haniel GmbH
Kremerskamp 16
47138 Duisburg
Germany
Telephone +49 203 4501 - 0
info@elg.de
www.elg.de

TAKKT AG
Presselstrasse 12
70191 Stuttgart
Germany
Telephone +49 711 3465 - 80
service@takkt.de
www.takkt.com

METRO AG 
Metro-Strasse 1
40235 Düsseldorf
Germany
Telephone +49 211 6886 - 4252
presse@metro.de
www.metrogroup.de
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